
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB-2016-0004
	Ontario Energy Board

	VOLUME:

DATE:
BEFORE:
	1
May 5, 2016
Ken Quesnelle
Cathy Spoel

Paul Pastirik
	Presiding Member and Vice Chair
Member

Member


EB-2016-0004
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

Ontario Energy Board
Generic Proceeding on Natural Gas Expansion

in Communities that are not served.
Oral Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Thursday, May 5, 2016,

commencing at 9:31 a.m.

----------------------------------------
VOLUME 1
----------------------------------------
BEFORE:

KEN QUESNELLE


Presiding Member






and Vice Chair

CATHY SPOEL


Member

PAUL PASTIRIK


Member

MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel

KHALIL VIRANEY
Board Staff
THOMAS BRETT
Building Owners and Managers Association Toronto (BOMA)

LAURA BRAZIL
Canadian Propane Association

MIKE RICHMOND

MICHAEL BUONAGURO
Consumers Council of Canada (CCC)

JULIE GIRVAN

FRED CASS
Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.

JOEL DENOMY
(EGDI)

ROGER HIGGIN
Energy Probe Research Foundation*

BRADY YAUCH

KENT ELSON
Environmental Defence Canada Inc.

GORDON KAISER
EPCOR Utilities Inc.

KARIM KASSAM

DWAYNE QUINN
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)

IAN MONDROW
Industrial Gas Users' Association (IGUA)

ELISABETH DeMARCO
Anwaatin Inc., representing

CAREY FERGUSON
Aroland First Nation,
LARRY SAULT
Waaskiinaysay Ziibi, Animbiigoo

DON RICHARDSON
Zaagiigan Anishinaabek, Bingwi

JOHN CREIGHTON
Neyaashi Anishinaabek, Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishinaabek, Red Rock Indian Band, and Whitesand First Nation), and MoCreebec ("Anwaatin") and


Greenfields Specialty Alcohols

BILL ROSENFELD
Northeast Midstream LP

NICK MELCHIORRE
Northwestern Ontario Associated Chambers of Commerce (NOACC) Northwestern Ontario Municipal Association (NOMA), and Common Voice Northwest
JAY SHEPHERD
Ontario Geothermal Association

MARTIN LUYMES
(OGA)

JOANNA VINCE
Ontario Sustainable Energy Association (OSEA)

RICHARD KING
Parkland Fuels Corporation

SANDER DUNCANSON

MARK RUBENSTEIN
School Energy Coalition (SEC)

JOHN VELLONE
South Bruce municipalities (Municipality of Kincardine, the Municipality of Arran-Elderslie, and the Township of Huron-Kinloss)
CHARLES KEIZER
Union Gas Limited

CHRIS RIPLEY

CRAWFORD SMITH

MICHAEL JANIGAN
Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition

1--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.


3Appearances


6ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1


Ian MacPherson, Steve McGill, Faheem Ahmad; Affirmed

7Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Cass:


14Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


37Cross-Examination by Mr.  Rubenstein:


61--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.


61--- On resuming at 11:24 a.m.


64ANWAATIN - PANEL 1


Larry Sault, Don Richardson; Affirmed
64Examination-in-Chief by Ms. DeMarco:


81Cross-Examination by Mr.  Elson:


92Cross-Examination by Mr.  Mondrow:


103Cross-Examination by Mr. Melchiorre:


106Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


118Cross-Examination by Ms. Brazil:


121Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


123--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:55 p.m.


123--- On resuming at 1:53 p.m.


123ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1 (resumed)


Ian MacPherson, Steve McGill, Faheem Ahmad; Previously Affirmed

124Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:


153Cross-Examination by Mr.  Vellone:


156Cross-Examination by Mr. Duncanson:


174--- Recess at 3:20 p.m.


174--- On resuming at 3:36 p.m.


176Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


210Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


237--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:10 p.m.




39EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  SEC compendium for Enbridge


64EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  SLIDE PRESENTATION


64EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  CURRICULUM VITAE OR BIOS OF BOTH FORMER CHIEF SAULT AND DR. RICHARDSON.


64EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  MAP SHOWING THE ANWAATIN FIRST NATIONS AND THE MOCREEBEC FIRST NATION IN RELATION TO THE TRANSCANADA PIPELINE.


124EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  COMPENDIUM


176EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  Duncanson's aid to cross-examination


176EXHIBIT no. K1.7:  Shepherd’s compendium


219EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  Globe & Mail article dated April 28, 2016





59UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THE INPUTS INTO THE FORECAST INCLUDED ANY IMPACTS OF CAP AND TRADE


112UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  To undertake the distance from the mainline and the distribution system for each of the communities


130UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  To undertake to provide the amount of contribution in aid of construction that would be required to bring all projects up to a PI of 1


151UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE THE TABLE AND ANY EDITORIAL COMMENTS.


171UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO CONFIRM THAT EVEN IF YOU WERE TO ASSUME 100 PERCENT CONVERSION, YOU STILL WOULD NOT ACHIEVE A PI OF 1.0 FOR ANY OF THE 39 PROJECTS.


181UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  TO SHOW THE CALCULATIONS THAT DEMONSTRATE IT IS BETTER FOR THE RATEPAYERS TO HAVE THIS SYSTEM EXPANSION CHARGE TREATED AS REVENUES RATHER THAN AS A, SORT OF A CONTRIBUTION IN AID OF CONSTRUCTION PAID OVER TIME.


195UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO FIND THE REPORT from ICF Consulting, IF THERE IS ONE.


199UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  TO SEE IF THEY HAVE THE FORECAST AND, IF SO, TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS IN EACH OF THESE CATEGORIES, THE FOUR CATEGORIES THAT ARE HERE IN SEC 10, FOR 2030, THE CURRENT FORECAST.


212UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE MATERIALS FROM THE PRESENTATION TO THE MINISTRY OF ENERGY.


231UNDERTAKING NO. J1.11:  To undertake to recalculate the SES to achieve a PI of 1.0 for the community expansion portfolio






Thursday, May 5, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.

As you are all aware, the Board determined what would be of assistance to it with respect to the request for additional information that was filed with us last Friday, and we provided that to all the parties this past Monday.  We also created a hearing schedule based on your indications of examinations of the filed evidence that you wished to conduct.

And this may been reported to you earlier.  I'm not sure if Mr. Vilarney (sic) had passed this along or not.  But the aggregate of time estimates was in excess of the days that we had set aside for the hearing.  So the schedule reflects, to the extent possible, the time allotments that are proportional to the original requests, but on a reduced basis.

Two observations in going through this scheduling exercise:  First, we recognize that the time estimates that were provided to the Board were done so prior to the Board determining what questions would be of assistance to it and which questions it wanted responded to.

And, second, we recognize that we've got a large group of parties and that it's just natural that some of the questions that will be asked and answered by those examining first will be common to those questions of those following.  So that should assist us as well.

So we're optimistic that, with the combination of these two factors, we should be able to get what we have to get done in the time allotted.  So I would just ask people to be conscious of their cross-examination.

The nature of the evidence we have in this hearing is such that, if there is probing for further information and clarity, obviously that is what this is all about, the examination of the evidence and testing it.  But I think, you know, keep in mind we've got -- we will have full opportunity for argument subsequent to the examination.  As I mentioned in the pre-hearing conference, we will have our typical two rounds, so everyone will have an opportunity to see everybody's argument and respond to it.
So let's not use the five days we have to drift into argument and debate.  So I think that would be helpful in keeping us on schedule.

But having said that, let's see how we make out today, and we will take a look at the schedule and see what we have to do to adjust on the fly.

We've got -- as the schedule indicates, we will be starting with Enbridge witnesses this morning.  We also have a limitation on availability from -- Ms. DeMarco, from your clients, so I will put this forward to you, Ms. DeMarco, if this makes sense.  Why don't we go with the Enbridge witness panel until the morning break, and then we will switch to your clients after the break irrespective of where we are, and that will allow your clients to finish up before lunch that way, and then you're free to, you know, spend the rest of the day as you see fit.  And then we will go back to Enbridge at that point.


Does that work for you, Ms. DeMarco?

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe that works fine for the clients, yes.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


Okay.  Mr. Millar, any other preliminary matters that anyone has brought to your attention or...

MR. MILLAR:  No, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  We will have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  With me is Joel Denomy from Enbridge.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Cass.

MR. GORDON KAISER:  Mr. Chairman, Gordon Kaiser for EPCOR Utilities.  With me is Karim Kassam, vice-president of EPCOR Utilities.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Kaiser.

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, panel.  My name is Tom Brett.  I'm here for BOMA.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Brett.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, panel members.  Ian Mondrow, counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association, acronym IGUA.  Thank you.

MS. VINCE:  Good morning.  Joanna Vince for the Ontario Sustainable Energy Association, or OSEA.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the Ontario Geothermal Association.  From time to time, Martin Luymes will assist me as well.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd, thank you.

MR. ELSON:  Kent Elson, counsel for Environmental Defence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Elson.

MR. KEIZER:  Good morning.  Charles Keizer, legal counsel for Union Gas Limited.  With me is Mr. Chris Ripley of Union Gas.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Michael Janigan on behalf of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. ROSENFELD:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Bill Rosenfeld on behalf of Northeast LNG.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for Consumers Council of Canada, and with me is Julie Girvan, consultant for Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro.


DR. HIGGIN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  It's Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.  Thank you.

MR. KING:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Richard King, counsel to Parkland Fuels.  With me to my right is my co-counsel, Mr. Sander Duncanson.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. King.

MS. DeMARCO:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Lisa DeMarco.  To my right is my co-counsel, Kerry Ferguson.  I am here on behalf of two parties.  The first is Anwaatin Inc., who is acting on behalf of a group of First Nations, and I'm going to put them in the record:  Aroland First Nation, Waaskiinaysay Ziibi, Animbiigoo Zaagiigan Anishinaabek, Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek, Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishinaabek, Red Rock Indian Band, and Whitesand First Nation.  And, also, we're here on behalf of MoCreebec.

With me is former Grand Chief Larry Sault and the managing principal of Shared Values Solutions, who is a consultant to Anwaatin, Dr. Don Richardson.

I am also here on behalf of GreenField Specialty Alcohols, and with me is Mr. John Creighton.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubenstein.


MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  John Vellone, counsel for the Municipalities of Kincardine, Arran-Elderslie, and Huron-Kinloss, collectively the Southern Bruce municipalities.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair and panel members.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the Federation of Rental Housing Providers of Ontario.

MS. BRAZIL:  Good morning, Laura Brazil and Mike Richmond on behalf of the Canadian Propane Association.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Okay.  I think we have everyone then --

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Millar --


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- Except for Mr. Millar.  Yes, sorry.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  I will sneak in here.  And to my right is Mr. Khalil Viraney.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, sorry, it's Charles Keizer here.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. KEIZER:  I also neglected to indicate that Mr. Crawford Smith will also appear from time to time on behalf of Union Gas.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.


We have one more?


MR. MELCHIORRE:  Nick Melchiorre, counsel for NOACC coalition, being NOMA, NOACC, and Common Voice Northwest.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.

Okay?  Okay.  With that, Mr. Cass, perhaps you could lead us off.

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.  We have three witnesses from Enbridge, as you can see.  Furthest from me is Ian MacPherson, next to him is Steve McGill, and then finally Faheem Ahmad.  Their CVs were submitted to the Board, I believe, and I think they're ready to be affirmed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1
Ian MacPherson,
Steve McGill,
Faheem Ahmad; Affirmed.


MR. PASTIRIK:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Cass.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Cass:


MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.


Mr. McGill, starting with you, could you please tell the Board to what extent communities have been interested in having Enbridge provide access to natural gas service?


MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  There's a large degree of interest.  We get many requests from individuals, groups of people, and municipal councillors to extend service to unserved areas on the periphery of our system.

MR. CASS:  And how does Enbridge typically respond to these sorts of enquiries?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, our customer connections department will undertake a high-level estimate of the market potential, the revenues, and the capital costs associated with a potential project, and then they will use that as input into an economic feasibility test that's subject to the requirements of the EBO 188 system expansion guideline.  And, if required, they will identify where a contribution in aid of construction is required and communicate that back to the party that initiated the request.

MR. CASS:  And in terms of the results of these inquiries, what has been Enbridge's recent experience?

MR. MCGILL:  In most cases, significant capital contributions are required, and the projects don't go forward.

MR. CASS:  What has Enbridge tried to do to make these
community expansion projects more viable?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, in 2014, the provincial government
indicated that they were going to bring forward a $200 million loan program and a $30 million grant program to support natural gas community expansion.  This was reaffirmed by Minister Duguid in his progress
report to the Premier on January 11, 2016.

In 2014 and 2015, we worked jointly with Union Gas in an effort to try and come up with an overall model or framework that could be applied to help make these projects more feasible.  We presented the main elements of this model to representatives of the Ministry of Energy, Ministry of Economic Development, Infrastructure and Employment, as well as OEB staff late in 2014.  There was also dialogue with the Ontario Federation of Agriculture, who is a big proponent of trying to get gas service out into these rural communities.


And following that, the Minister of Energy wrote to the chair of the OEB on February 17, 2015, requesting that the Board assess options that would help support community expansion.

Shortly after that, the Board issued a letter inviting
parties to bring proposals forward to the Board that might help that -- make that happen.  In that letter, the Board recognized that some flexibility may be required with respect to the EBO 188 feasibility guidelines and invited parties to address that in their proposals, such -- in terms of suggestions around how those guidelines might be changed or how certain exemptions could apply to help make community expansion more doable.

MR. CASS:  Now, you have mentioned the Board's letter of February the 18th, 2015.  What did Enbridge do to develop a proposal in response to that letter?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, what we did was we went back and we
reviewed the material we had with respect to communities that had been considered in the past.  We updated that information, and we worked alongside with Union Gas again, in trying to refine the proposal that we were working on jointly.

We had originally planned to file a Leave to Construct
Application in the first half of 2016 that would be asking for leave to construct facilities to serve Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon, and that would typically be under Section 90 of the OEB Act.  And then under Section 36 of the Act, we would have been looking for some rate-related changes in terms of being able to charge the system expansion surcharge that was part of the proposal, the TES,
or temporary expansion surcharge, in the case of Union, and the incremental tax equivalent that is part of our
proposal as well, the ITE.

So that's what our plan was.  It was to do something
something similar to what Union had done with, I guess, EB-
2015-0179.

MR. CASS:  Why did Enbridge come forward with a proposal that in some ways differs from Union's proposal?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, once we got into more of the detail of assessing how that proposal would apply with respect to the group of communities that we had under consideration, we found that, if we went that way, there would be very few communities that would have met the feasibility test that was embedded in Union's proposal, which was to attain a project PI of 0.4 or greater.  So that caused us to go back and reassess what we were looking at and try and land on a different approach that would help us meet the province's stated objective of extending the system to serve more communities.

MR. CASS:  At a conceptual level, how does Enbridge's
proposal differ from that of Union?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, at a high level, the proposals are
similar.  We're trying to achieve the objective of extending gas service to more communities while, at the same time, striking a reasonable balance between those benefits that would go to those new customers and the rate impacts that would be borne by our existing customers.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Mr. -- sorry?

MR. MCGILL:  And the other significant difference, I think, is that, in our proposal, we're grouping all of these communities into a single portfolio for the purposes of the feasibility test, which effectively treats them as one single project in terms of applying the guideline.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

Mr. Ahmad, could you summarize,
please, the elements of Enbridge's proposal?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, thanks.

Enbridge’s proposal is around four key areas.  So the first one is the system expansion surcharge, as Steve mentioned, that we are asking for a system expansion surcharge at the rate of 23 cents per cubic metre for all of these community expansion projects, and that will be in addition to the normal distribution charges.  And the period for the duration for this community expansion system expansion surcharge would be up to a maximum of 40 years, and we believe that this will provide a strong incentive for potential customers to convert to natural gas.

So the second element of our proposal is incremental tax equal, or ITE.  So this is a new form of contribution paid by municipalities that will benefit from community expansion projects, and the term for this rebate is -- we are proposing to be ten years from the project completion date.  And since community expansion -- the cost of community expansion projects were not included in company's incentive regulation application at that time, so with respect to IRM, so we are proposing a capital pass-through mechanism for community expansion projects.

And, lastly, we are asking, we are looking for some exemptions from EBO 108 guidelines.  So some of the exemptions are such as we are asking for a separate community expansion portfolio, which will be managed at a PI of 0.5 or greater.  And, at the same time, we are asking for an exempt -- individual project to be exempted from a minimum PI threshold.  So as long as we maintain our PI at a portfolio level of 0.5 or better, so any project
should get in.  And we are also -- for any projects which are already captured in community expansion portfolio, so we are proposing to exclude it from the PI calculations of company's rolling project portfolio and investment portfolio as it is required under EBO 188.

And Enbridge believes that it has landed on a framework that can be applied by other utilities to serve and to provide services to other communities which are currently not served.  And this mechanism, we believe, that will not unduly burden the existing ratepayers.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Macpherson, the issues set out by the Board in the Issues List for this proceeding have been addressed by Enbridge in its written evidence.  Does Enbridge have anything to add to what it has said about those issues?

MR. MACPHERSON:  No.  I think the company has made its
position clear with respect to the 12 issues as set out in the Procedural Order of the Board, in its written evidence already provided.

MR. CASS:  And, overall, how does Enbridge view the proposal that it has brought to the Board in this proceeding?

MR. MACPHERSON:  In terms of cost competitiveness, I believe the value of natural gas is clear.  That's why so many communities are coming to Enbridge and Union and other companies seeking to get these benefits for their citizens, but also the benefits they bring for economic growth in those communities.

Also with respect to the future impacts of any carbon regime that will be implemented, Enbridge has made it clear that it is taking steps to ensure the future elements of the natural gas distribution system in the province.

Enbridge believes that natural gas also can play an
important role in enhancing and helping the government meet its climate change objectives, one, through continuance of demand-side management programs, but also through the delivery of innovative programs such as grading the grass grid with renewable natural gas, conversion of transportation markets from diesel to compressed natural gas, and also other clean technologies, such as combined heat and power and district energy.

The company has also provided high-level analysis of 39 communities, which is intended to illustrate how the implementation of this program would impact customers, and based on currently available information we believe that the proposal we put forward is balanced and that, if adopted, it will allow the company to extend service to many communities in the province.

We also believe our proposal is consistent with the desires of the province and can serve as a framework for other utilities seeking to do the same and that the proposal will assist the Board in reaching a decision in this matter that balances the interests of these communities seeking service and the interests of existing ratepayers.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  That is the examination-in-chief of the panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

So on the schedule that was put out we had a pre-determined order, but I understand there was a request, Mr. Rubenstein?  Are you making a request to -- and perhaps at the -- if you could -- were you wanting to initiate the --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, that's a problem with --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If that's a problem I can --

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I am just wondering if the others -- had you had spoken to Mr. Janigan and Mr. Vellone?  So that arrangement has been taken care of?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  All right.  Mr. Millar?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  I think I have met most of you before.

Taking the Chair's instructions into account, I intend to do a high-level review of some of the issues in this case, and I am going to try not to get into the weeds if I don't have to.

So as we have just heard from you, I think you agreed that, broadly speaking, your application is similar to Union's; is that fair?

MR. MCGILL:  I think there are some similarities between the two proposals, but there are some significant differences as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  And we'll get -- you discussed some of those, and we will get into them a bit further, but I think you agreed in your examination-in-chief that there are similarities.

If I were to review those similarities, the sort of the pillars of this application or your evidence, what I see is there is the surcharge, and then there is the incremental tax equivalent, and then there is what I would call a subsidy through changes to EBO 188.  Those are what I see as the three pillars of the proposal.  Would that be fair?

MR. MCGILL:  I would look at those as common elements, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And then you also mentioned there is the capital pass-through thing.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But I see that as kind of an operationalizing thing as opposed to a fundamental element of --

MR. MCGILL:  They're proposals.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And what you forecast is, if this proposal is approved, I believe you said you would be able to serve approximately 16,000 additional homes and businesses in 39 communities within five years at a capital cost of $410 million; is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  That's pretty close.  The 16,000-some-odd customer capture would be anticipated to occur over ten years rather than five years.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, okay.  Thank you for that clarification.

MR. MCGILL:  And that is 16,000 out of a potential of a little over 20,000 across the 39 communities.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  Okay.  You prepared this proposal, as you stated, in response to both the Board's letter of February 18th and the Minister's letter of February 17th?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  As I indicated, that we had been working on a proposal jointly with Union prior to the issuance of those letters.  But the issue of those letters spurred us on, so to speak.

MR. MILLAR:  And you took guidance from those letters; is that fair?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  With respect to the Minister's letter -- I don't know if we have to pull it up -- we can if you would like to see it.  I'm sure you are familiar with it.  But is it fair to say that it provides very broad -- there it is on the screen there.  It is very high-level guidance.  Is that fair?

MR. MCGILL:  I will just take a quick look at it.

MR. MILLAR:  Just to let you know what I'm getting at, it doesn't specifically mention a surcharge, a tax equivalent, or changes to EBO 188.  It says, "Look for opportunities -- or examine opportunities to facilitate access to natural gas."

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, that's what it says.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you look at the Board's letter, it is a bit more specific.  I think we would agree.  You can find that -- that's actually at the end of your pre-filed evidence at Appendix A.

MR. MCGILL:  Right.  I have that here.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, there it is right there.  If you could flip to probably the second page or so.  The guidance is a bit more specific here.

If you look under the Board's approach, which you will see on the screen, it says at the bottom -- and this is with respect to some of the things you might look at:
"The Board may consider specific and supportable proposals that address --"


If you look to the third one:

"-- whether projects that have a portfolio PI less than 1.0 for individual projects within a portfolio that have a PI lower than 0.8 should be considered."

Do you see that?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  So the Board is certainly open to the idea of what I call a subsidy through changes to EBO 188, but the decision hasn't been made yet.  Is that fair?

MR. MCGILL:  I think that is a fair comment.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  The Board's letter also mentions some other ideas that you might look at.  It mentions flexibility with respect to ROE, depreciation periods, things like that?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, it does.

MR. MILLAR:  And the letter certainly doesn't say, you know, expand at any cost.  Is that fair?  In fact, it directs you to develop proposals that would minimize impacts on existing natural gas ratepayers?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I would like to look at your proposed changes to EBO 188.  And maybe, in that regard, I could ask you to turn to page 27 of your pre-filed evidence, Table 5 specifically.  If we could get that blown up a little bit, that would be helpful for my eyes, in any event.  Yes, thank you.

Okay.  So this Table 5, this is a list of the 39 projects that you hope to build out?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you look across the top, there is a column called "PI normal"?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it that that is the PI you would calculate under the current framework without a surcharge, without the tax equivalent.  Is that right?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Then the next column over is the PI proposed.  That is the PI you would achieve if you implement your proposal with the surcharge and the ITE and the -- it wouldn't be the changes to EBO 188, but the surcharge and the ITE?

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And we can see that that makes a big difference from any of these projects?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But even under your proposal, is it fair to say that the majority of these still have a PI of 0.4 or less?

MR. AHMAD:  There are many, yes --

MR. MILLAR:  You can look down the list.


MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  In terms of the normal PI, many of those are under 0.4, if not all of them, and there is still a significant number that are under 0.4 when our proposal is applied when the projects are considered individually.

MR. MILLAR:  Just so I understand what that means, let's imagine a project has a PI of 0.4.  Does that mean that for every -- you know, over time, for every dollar that that project costs, the customer receiving the service pays 40 cents?

MR. MCGILL:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  What does that mean?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, what the PI calculation is, is the 40-year net present value of the net revenues that would be incoming from the project divided by the capital cost of the project.  So I don't think it is a fair characterization to say that the customer served by the project would be picking up 40 percent of its costs.

MR. MILLAR:  What percentage of its costs would they be picking up?

MR. AHMAD:  So based on the PI in column 13 --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. AHMAD:  -- so profitability index is simply the ratio of the total operating cash inflows and outflows --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. AHMAD:  -- divided by the capital investment.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.

MR. AHMAD:  So...

MR. MILLAR:  You can correct me if I'm wrong.  What I took that to mean was, for every dollar this project costs, if the PI is 0.4 -- and I recognize it is a net present value calculation.

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So there may be some room around the margins about how you describe this, but essentially it means that the project recovers 40 percent of its costs.

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah.  That is correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Then the rest of the costs, the 60
Percent, that would be picked up by other ratepayers, by existing ratepayers.  Is that fair?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And what you have proposed, we heard you
describe, Mr. McGill, is kind of a separate portfolio for
expansion projects, and that would have a PI, an aggregate -- require an aggregate PI of 0.5?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And there wouldn't be a minimum?

MR. MCGILL:  For a specific project?

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. MCGILL:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Indeed, if you look through column 13, you have one as low as 0.15 and some others in
the 0.2, 0.3 range?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MCGILL:  But the concept is somewhat similar to what we have in EBO 188 today, where an individual project can be accepted with a PI of less than 1.0 down to 0.8, as long as we maintain a rolling portfolio with a PI of 1.0 or greater, and an investment portfolio of 1 or greater.

So what, in effect, you have is -- in today's world, you have a situation where sort of generations of projects can subsidize within each other, but not across the entire system.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  For the current system --

MR. MCGILL:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  -- 1 has to be the average?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  One of the differences between your proposal and Union's is you don't have the cut-off of 0.4?

MR. MCGILL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And for this particular project, I guess it's the fifth line, Mono Township, that is the one with 0.15.  I recognize that is the lowest.  But for that particular project, it will only recover 15 percent of its own costs?

MR. MCGILL:  Fifteen percent of the capital costs.

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If we could turn to page 15, there is a Table 1 here, and this is where some of the benefits to the new customers are described.  I think, Mr. McGill, you discussed this in your examination-in-chief.  You get a lot of requests for gas service to new communities, and I think perhaps this table shows us why.

If I read this correctly, depending on the fuel source you switch from, the annual energy savings from switching to natural gas can be quite significant?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And they range -- I guess for wood, wood seems to the outlier.  But otherwise, it is something -- you know, about $1,000 to $1,600, and the average is about $1,100.

MR. MCGILL:  That would be the -- that's the case with the surcharge included in the gas costs.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  So that actually includes them paying a surcharge.

MR. MCGILL:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  They would still have an average benefit of about 1,100 bucks a year?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, there are some conversion costs that you estimate on average would be about -- would take about three years to pay back; that's the final column?

MR. MCGILL:  That's the average, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But, overall, these customers will  receive a very significant benefit, if this proposal is approved and they get natural gas service?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, you review these benefits -- if we could flip to page 33, please, there is a table, Table 10 at the top.  This, I take it, is your attempt to calculate the combined benefits.  Maybe we could walk through it, just to make sure I understand.

What you have at the beginning is stage 1 benefits, which shows a negative benefit of about $123 million.  I take it that is the -- that's the result of the poor PI of most of these projects.

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So they bring in 123 million less dollars than they cost?

MR. AHMAD:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  And, as we discussed, that $123 million is paid for by existing ratepayers under your proposal?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if we look to stage 2, these are benefits that are positive.  Energy cost savings are about $384 million?

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then there are some conversion costs, which you’ve subtracted from that, but you still get a net present value benefit of $357 million?

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And this benefit would go directly to those 16,000 new customers.  Is that right?

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And by my math, which is often incorrect, but just a simple calculation of $357 million divided by 16,000 new customers, that is a benefit of over $22,000 for each individual new customer.  Is my math correct there?  Not just my math, but, conceptually, am I right?


MR. AHMAD:  Yeah.  Conceptually you're right, yeah.

MR. MCGILL:  That is over a 40-year period of time.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, 40?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  That is over a 40-year period of time.

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, 40.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  So then, at the bottom, you total everything up, what you call the combined benefit, and that is $234 million, which is simply, I take it, the 357 minus the 123?

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And, at paragraph 99, if you just look down a little bit further in your summary of this, you call that the public interest benefit.  Have I got that right?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The public here that is benefiting.  However, that is the 16,000 new customers; right?  Those are the people who get the benefits?

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And existing customers won't get any benefit.  In fact, they will pay $123 million.  Is that right?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So do those customers get any benefit, the existing customers?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think, in the context of EBO 134, that had a three-step test, and we've applied two of those tests here:  the discounted cash flow test, which gets you your stage 1 benefit, and then the stage 2 benefit that considers the savings associated with the expansion projects.  And then, in EBO 134, there was also a third-stage test, which was more a measure of societal benefits.

So if you took into account that, you would be putting roughly $234 million into the Ontario economy that people could use to invest in, you know, in their homes, their businesses and whatnot, that there would be an overall benefit beyond just the stage 2 benefits.

MR. MILLAR:  Did you actually quantify that in your
evidence?

MR. MCGILL:  No, we didn't.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there may be stage 3 benefits.  You said a number of two hundred and -- I forget the number.

MR. MCGILL:  That is the net of stage 1 and 2 benefits that is in our evidence right now.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  But that's where the quantification of benefits lies in your evidence.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I won't find it somewhere else?
If we could turn to page 36, and this is paragraph 110, the last paragraph in your pre-filed evidence.  I guess it is the last sentence:

"Enbridge is of the view that the proposal that it has put forward in this evidence meets the objective of enabling the further expansion of the province's natural gas distribution system to many currently unserved communities while striking a reasonable balance between the interests of the potential customers that now reside in these communities and the company's current customer base."


So when I review your evidence, you know, I see -- I clearly see the benefits to the new customers, but I am having some difficulty in seeing the benefits to existing customers.

You speak of a reasonable balance.  What is the balance that the existing customer -- what is the balance on their side of the see-saw?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, in our evidence, we indicate that, based on this portfolio of 39 community expansion projects, that the maximum impact on the existing customers is about $12 per month -- $12.11, I think, to be exact, is what we've calculated it per year, $1 per month, roughly.

When we consider that, that is what we consider to be a reasonable impact in terms of what they're paying today for service.

So that's what we're weighing against.  And that $12 a year, that ramps up over the nine years that these projects would be constructed.  It tops out at the $12.11 per year, and then it starts to decline thereafter once these projects start to contribute incrementally more revenue than their incremental cost of service or their impact on revenue requirement.

So that is why we believe that overall we have a reasonable proposal.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But the benefit you have just described is that it doesn't cost too much; that it is a dollar a month?

MR. MCGILL:  That's right.  It goes kind of back to what the Board said in EBO 134 and, I think, reaffirmed in 2012 was that this kind of subsidy would be appropriate as long as it doesn't give rise to an undue impact on existing customers.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, we can deal with that in argument.  I'm not sure the letter actually says there will be a subsidy at all, but I take your point, and we can deal with that in argument.

Let me move on to a slightly different area.  In your proposal, I think 19 of the 39 communities you proposed to serve would be served in fact by LNG?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And am I right that the cost of LNG in terms of delivered gas, typically that would be higher than your system supply gas costs?

MR. MCGILL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And your plan is to blend the LNG costs in with the rest of your gas supply portfolio?

MR. MCGILL:  We would recover the LNG premium from all customers.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the customers receiving LNG service would pay the same amount for their gas commodity as everyone else?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Would it be fair to consider that an additional subsidy?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  And I think there is an interrogatory response where we spoke to that, and the company's view is that transporting gas in liquid form via truck is basically a substitute for transporting gas in a gaseous state in a pipe.

So that that's why we are coming to conclude that there is an equality there.  We're talking about the cost of transporting the gas or conveying it from the existing system to these new communities.  We're just talking about a different form of transportation.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Those costs weren't included in the Table 10 that we looked at a moment ago?

MR. AHMAD:  No.  They were.

MR. MCGILL:  Say it louder.

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.  They were included.

MR. MILLAR:  In the $123 million?


MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That includes the incremental cost of LNG?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I hadn't understood that to be the case, but thank you.

Okay.  I want to keep this moving, keep things light.  Let's talk about ROE, speaking of something to ease us into the discussion today.

It is fair to say part of the cost of the expansions would be your return on equity.  That is part of the -- well, it is not part of the capital cost, but it is the return you earn on your invested capital; is that fair?


MR. MCGILL:  That is one of our costs, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So you will benefit from this expansion.  I don't think that is a controversial statement?

MR. MCGILL:  We will earn return on the investment, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And part of the subsidy being paid by existing ratepayers, part of that would go to your ROE as one of your costs; is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Other parties may ask you about this, because it is in their evidence, but did you consider looking at taking, for example, a lower ROE for expansion projects as a way to get more over the hurdle?

MR. MCGILL:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  And why not?

MR. MCGILL:  Because the return on investment is part of our cost of service.  It represents the opportunity cost to the investor in the business of investing in the assets of the gas utility.

MR. MILLAR:  You are asking existing ratepayers to pay $123 million?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But -- well, I will leave it at that.  I have your answer.  Thank you.

Customer forecasts, just to go over the basics here, obviously you calculated your PI on the various projects using a projection of the number of customers that would convert to gas.  That's one of the inputs?


MR. MCGILL:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  And obviously, to the extent the actual numbers that convert are different from what you predict, that would impact the PI?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  What we have is a forecast.  What actually happens will probably be somewhat different than the forecast.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  It could be higher.  It could be lower?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If the customer forecast comes out lower, then the PI will go lower and vice versa.

MR. MCGILL:  Potentially, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, not potentially.  That would --


MR. MCGILL:  Well, it could go up --


MR. MILLAR:  -- all else being equal.


MR. MCGILL:  -- it could go down.  It could depend on the number of customers, the timing of the customers, the size of the customers.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fair.  All else being equal, though, that is how it would work directionally?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could I ask you to turn to Energy Probe interrogatory number 7?  And, you know, I don't even know if we need to look at it, but in this interrogatory response, you indicated that your proposal forecast of penetration rate of 75 percent in the new communities over the first ten years?


MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand Union only uses 50 percent as their penetration rate.  Are you familiar with that?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, I am aware of that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And can you speak to that at all?  Is there any particular reason your number is different than Union's?

MR. MCGILL:  I can speak to it in one respect, and that is that we filed a market study that was undertaken on our behalf by Ipsos-Reid in the fall of 2015.  You can find that at S3.EGDI.SEC.6.  And, based on that, it indicated that the 75 percent capture over the first ten years would be a reasonable assumption.

MR. MILLAR:  That was for Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon?

MR. MCGILL:  It was for Fenelon Falls, Kinburn, Fitzroy Harbour, and Eganville, Ontario were the three towns that were surveyed, and then --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. MCGILL:  -- I think Mr. Ahmad can comment on this further.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. AHMAD:  So we also considered in addition to the survey, so the past communities that we connected.  So the penetration rate used for those communities was about 60 to 65 percent over a five-year period.  So -- and since we are connecting attachment horizon we have used for these communities is ten years, so we believe that we have added another 15 percent in our projections.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I think one of the BOMA IRs got to that.  Could I ask you to turn to BOMA IR 26?  Thank you.


BOMA asked you about similar projects you have done, and I guess there has only been one in the last ten years or so, which is the community of Alfred and Plantagenet, and there you forecast attachments of 2,376.  But as of the date of this IR, which I think would be about eight years after the project went into service, 1,382 had actually connected.  Is that right?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  That is about 60 percent?  Maybe that is the number you were referring to?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So what -- what is different about this situation?

MR. AHMAD:  So Alfred and Plantagenet, I think this was -- the way the question was asked, that during last ten years, which projects which we connected in the community expansion, so that was the only one.

We actually did a lot of community expansion in the past, like between 1995 to 2000 time frame.  So if we look at that old record, so the conversion rate or the forecast error was not as bad as it looks for Alfred and Plantagenet.  So that was the only project during the last ten years.

MR. MILLAR:  Was it 75 percent penetration typically?


MR. AHMAD:  It is not about penetration.  It is a forecast error.  So this IR is about -- the forecast is 2,376 customers.  And they actually connected 1,382 --


MR. MILLAR:  Did you -- sorry --


MR. AHMAD:  -- so this IR is about the forecast error.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Did you do your forecasting for
Plantagenet -- Alfred and Plantagenet the same way you are doing your forecast for these projects?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, we did.

MR. MCGILL:  I think you need to consider that our reply to BOMA interrogatory number 26 is basically a sample of one.  So I don't think it is fair to look at it as being representative.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, there was -- I believe it was the Canadian Propane Association.  Their evidence spoke to an experience of what I guess is one of your sister companies in New Brunswick.  And I don't know if we have that available -- it is the Canadian Propane Association's pre-filed evidence, pages 8 and 9.  I don't know how familiar you are with this situation, but apparently there they had predicted 70,000 attachments over 15 years and only ended up with 12,000.  Are you familiar with that situation?

MR. MCGILL:  I'm somewhat familiar with it, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there anything we can learn from that?  What have you done differently here that would -- that is only -- a 15 percent penetration rate?

MR. MCGILL:  My first point is we're not in New Brunswick.  My second point is that the market conditions in New Brunswick are entirely different than what they are in Ontario.

MR. MILLAR:  Once the project is built and the assets go into rate base, you will recover your costs.  Is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And to the extent that you have over- forecast the customer attachments, it is ratepayers that bear that risk?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you're not proposing to take forecast risk error one way or the other?

MR. MCGILL:  No, we're not.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me move on.  I am conscious of my time.  Okay.  I think I will leave that one for the propane folks.

There is a proposal for an expansion fund by EPCOR and by others using different names.  I know that Enbridge's view is that this is a bad idea, first, because the Board lacks jurisdiction, and even if the Board didn't
lack jurisdiction, it would be a bad idea.  Is that a fair
summary of your view on the expansion fund?

MR. MCGILL:  That pretty much sums it up.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So let's imagine a scenario where we go forward and your proposals are accepted, and there is no expansion fund.  Would you agree with me that that would make it more or less impossible for new entrants to enter the market to serve new communities, because they wouldn't have an existing customer base with which to subsidize the projects?

MR. MCGILL:  No, I don't.  I think at least one of the
proponents of the -- there is -- the expansion reserve does have an existing customer base.

MR. MILLAR:  In Alberta.

MR. MCGILL:  So what?

MR. MILLAR:  No, no.  That wasn't an accusation, but that's where their customer base is.  Okay.  So you don't see that as an impediment?

MR. MCGILL:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  All right.  I may follow up on that.

Very quickly on franchise agreements, again, I think others will have more on this than I do, but it is Enbridge’s view that there is no problem with the model franchise agreement as it currently exists, and there shouldn't be any changes?

MR. MCGILL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  One of the things I think we heard some of the other parties suggest is that there be a sunset clause or something of that nature, whereby, if you don't build something within whatever the time period is -- two, three, five years -- that the franchise agreement would lapse.   What is the problem with that idea?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I don't think it's required, in that I've been advised by our regulatory people that the certificates of public convenience and necessity are only valid for a year.  So I think anything beyond that would be redundant.

MR. MILLAR:  So you think that would just be a belt-and-suspenders approach?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  With respect to the revenues you get from the surcharge and the incremental tax equivalent, I think Union proposes to put those revenues into a deferral account to be credited back to ratepayers at a later date.  But Enbridge intends to forecast the numbers and not use a deferral account; is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  We intend to simply bring that revenue into general revenues, without flowing it through a deferral account.  I think those are probably -- that's probably the main difference.

MR. MILLAR:  But it would be on a forecast basis.  Is that right?  You wouldn’t true-up -- absent a deferral account, you wouldn't be able to true-up whether you got more or less revenues than you anticipated from those mechanisms?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, we would -- I would anticipate that we would forecast these revenues as part of our annual rate
resetting process under the IRM model.

MR. MILLAR:  And both the approaches can be used.  I'm not sure one is necessarily better than the other, but do you have any comments on why you went with the forecast route instead of a deferral account that would be trued-up for actuals?

MR. MCGILL:  We just thought it would be more
straightforward and easier to administer.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Mr. Rubenstein?
Cross-Examination by Mr.  Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.

Just to follow up on a few questions from Mr. Millar.  He was discussing with you at the beginning the features of your proposal, and one of them was the community expansion portfolio.

My understanding of that portfolio is it will take all
community expansion projects, and the aggregate PI must be 0.5; am I correct?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  The aggregate PI of that portfolio of projects would have to be maintained above 0.5.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is not a rolling aggregate.  So that will be all community expansion projects starting from the first Board approval until some unknown date in the future.  Do I have that correct?

MR. MCGILL:  I would characterize that as a rolling
portfolio.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it's not rolling like the current
portfolio approach, which is a 12-year rolling portfolio?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, the current rolling portfolio is a rolling 12 months.  So a project comes into it at month 1; it drops off at the end of month 12.  The portfolio we are proposing would continue on a rolling basis for the life of these projects.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is it will also take into account not just community expansion projects that fall below the individual PI of 0.8, but will include all individual projects that are below one.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is the only then limit to the amount of projects that would be above -- that would fit into the community expansion project portfolio, that the aggregate will remain above 0.5 is the total cost to existing customers will not be more than $2 a month.  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. MCGILL:  That was another consideration we made in
trying to land on what we believe would be a limit to a
reasonable cross-subsidy.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have a compendium; I am not sure if the panel has it.

MR. MILLAR:  It will be Exhibit K1.1, Mr. Chair, the SEC compendium for Enbridge.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  SEC compendium for Enbridge

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 7,  paragraph 58, bullet point 2, you're talking about the objectives, and you say:

"To limit the rate impacts on existing customers to a maximum of approximately $2 per month ($24 per year) over the multi-year expansion project."

Are you seeking the Board to set that as the ceiling? That is as much as it can go, so even if there is another project and we're at the $2, the Board will not be able to approve that?

MR. MCGILL:  No.  What we were doing here was describing the parameters that we were operating within in developing our proposal.  So one of them was to set a limit on what the average subsidy amount would be per customer, per year.  That is what it was.  So we set that as a guideline, and we worked within that guideline in coming to our proposal.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is the basis of the $2 comes from the amount the Board said was reasonable for DSM funding.  Do I have that correct?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, I think we took guidance from that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me that, with respect to DSM programs, those customers who are paying also may be able to benefit from those programs; correct?  They can participate from those programs; they can save on their total bill.  But here there is actually no benefit for those existing customers at all.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, we spoke earlier about sort of the
broader societal benefits, and they would get some benefit from that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there is no benefit directly, unlike potentially with the DSM program?

MR. MCGILL:  The DSM program is different in that any
customer can elect to participate in it so that those customers that do -- do get a direct benefit.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In my understanding, you have done market surveys with respect to some of the new communities. I think we talked about the Bobcaygeon and Fenelon Falls.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is you have done -- you have not surveyed or asked your current customers, your existing customers, if they would be willing to pay, on average, $2 a month for that.

MR. MCGILL:  No, we haven't.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you why you have not done that?

MR. MCGILL:  There was an interrogatory question along this line, and when I started to answer it, I thought how would I structure a market survey that started out by asking someone if they understood the parameters of EBO 188, and I didn't think that was a reasonable premise upon which to base a market survey on.  So I think for most of the people in this room they have a pretty clear understanding about what we're talking about.

I think if you go out into the public and pose those kind of questions to them, I don't think they get a clear understanding, and I think, given the size of the cross-subsidy we're talking about here, a dollar a month, roughly, the issue is pretty much a red herring.

You know, if I live on a 100-foot lot, you live in a house on a 50-foot lot, you subsidize me.  That's built into our rates.  That's a feature of postage-stamp rates, and there are numerous subsidies of that nature built within them.  We don't try to split out every single one, because it would be administratively burdensome to the point where it wouldn't be worthwhile.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you did not see it fit to ask your existing customers if they would be willing to pay, on average, $1 or $2 a month to allow other members -- other individuals in the province to have natural gas service?

MR. MCGILL:  No, we didn't conduct a survey of that nature.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think there was some discussion with Mr. Millar about the PI.  It's a forecast.  So as there are forecasting errors or -- in either direction, you don't really know until 40 years from the date the project is in service if you've got the PI right or wrong.  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. MCGILL:  That's correct.  And that's exactly the situation we are in today with respect to EBO 188.  It's all based on forecast numbers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So ultimately if there becomes forecasting errors that do start to occur, it's not going to be a long time until we notice it, until the Board is able to notice it and say we need to change what is going on.

MR. MCGILL:  I don't really understand your question.  To the extent there's forecasting errors, we will be aware of them whenever we measure them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But because you are looking over a 40-year life cycle, it's very hard to determine where you are vis-à-vis your initial PI projection until, you know, close to the end.

MR. MCGILL:  In terms of the customer capture and the revenues flowing from the program, yes.  In terms of the capital costs, no.  The example cited in BOMA 26, the project came in $320,000 under budget.  So that would improve the PI roughly by 15 percent.  We know that the day we completed the project.  So it doesn't take 40 years to figure that out.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this is with respect to BOMA 26, page 15 of our compendium?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But one would assume that you had come in under budget if you are connecting a -- 40 percent less customers; correct?

MR. MCGILL:  It depends on the components of the project.  From what I'm aware of that particular project, a significant part of the cost was the cost of the transmission man to get from the existing system to Plantagenet.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 8 of the compendium.  Here we asked you to -- for the total of the community -- the 39 community expansion projects you listed, to break it down to how much you are going to collect from the system expansion surcharge, the incremental tax equivalent, and those that will be recovered from existing ratepayers.

Am I correct that existing ratepayers will pay for the majority of the costs over the life cycle; Correct?

MR. MCGILL:  They will pay slightly more than half based on these figures.  The combined SES and ITE revenues come in at about 427 million versus 439 million from existing customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that the existing customers actually will be -- over the life of the 40 years will be paying more than the actual initial costs of the capital construction of all of the projects?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, under the current rules, EBO 188, as I understand it, if a customer is below the 0.8 and they want to attach, they pay a construction -- contribution in aid of construction for the difference?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And how Enbridge treats that for regulatory purposes is not as a revenue per se, but as an offset to the rate base?  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. MCGILL:  It is a credit to the capital cost of the project.  So it is reducing the amount that is recorded in rate base.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that has an effect of ratepayers are paying a lower cost of capital?

MR. MCGILL:  It reduces the depreciation and return components of our revenue requirement, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is your proposal is -- for the ITE and SES is not in the same manner, they're not going to be an offset to rate base.  But simply added to the general revenue.

MR. MCGILL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We asked about this SEC 20.  This is on page 9 of our compendium --

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- and your position as I read this  -- and I am going to ask you to clarify, because I don't fully understand it -- is that existing ratepayers seem to be better off?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  That's the effect of our proposal is that, by treating the SES and ITE revenues as revenues or credits to the revenue requirement, that results in a lower ratepayer impact on existing ratepayers as compared to applying that money as a capital contribution to reduce the capital cost of the project over the life of those assets.  So it is a better deal for existing customers than crediting those revenues to the capital cost of the project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain that in a broad sense why that would be the case --

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think the --

MR. AHMAD:  -- because when we treat it as a --

MR. MCGILL:  Go ahead.

MR. AHMAD:  When we treat it as a revenue surcharge, so it actually -- it actually offsets the revenue requirement, and the revenue deficiency will be lower compared with if we treat it as a CIAC.  So treating it as a revenue gives a bigger offset.

MR. MCGILL:  To the revenue requirement --

MR. AHMAD:  To the revenue requirement, yes.

MR. MCGILL:  -- compared to reducing the capital amount upfront and having a lower depreciation cost and return impacting the revenue requirement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.


I want to ask you about potential customers.  Mr. Millar went through with you in detail how you came to those numbers.  But I would ask you to turn to page 12 and 13 of our compendium.  We asked you to provide a breakdown of the potential and forecast customers into residential, commercial, and industrial.

And am I correct that, besides the Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon project, not a single other project will actually benefit or will not convert from whatever heating source they're using to natural gas, anything but residential customers?

MR. MCGILL:  So the analysis that underlies our proposal is based on the best information we have at this point in time with respect to these communities.

So with respect to Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon, we've done a significant amount of field work.  We've had people talking to potential commercial industrial customers.  We have had people driving the streets, counting houses, doing things of that nature.  So we have a much better level of detail or much more detailed knowledge with respect to those two communities.

The other communities on the list, we have not undertaken that kind of detailed assessment.  So, for the time being, we're just characterizing all the customer potential there as residential for the purposes of this analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it that your best estimate at this time is that it will all be residential, and there is a chance that it could be commercial --

MR. MCGILL:  No.  There will be commercial customers added in these communities.  At this point in time, we don't know how many potential commercial customers there are there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you haven't done a similar -- take a ratio of the amount of potential customers and convert it to a forecast customer for commercial or industrial?

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah.  Basically for Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon, so it was not that we took some sort of ratio.  It was actually based on the field visit in those towns.  So that is the actual information through a field visit.  So we have not done the similar exercise for other towns.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And from your past experience, do you have a sense of what percentage of potential commercial or industrial customers?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, if we just take a look at our total customer base, it is probably on the order of 5 to 10 percent of our customers are commercial or industrial customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you accept this is different; right?  This is conversions versus looking at your whole customer base?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I am just looking at our whole customer base as a population -- a fairly big population to sample from, so over 2.2 million, as we speak.

So if roughly 5 percent of them are commercial, I would expect 5 percent of the potential customers elsewhere would be commercial or industrial.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I'm looking at this chart, and it has potential customers on one side and forecast customers on the other side.  I understand what you're saying about the forecast customers, but you haven't even included potential commercial or industrial.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  And as I tried to indicate earlier, we just have not undertaken the detailed analysis in order to break that out, the other 38 community projects on the list.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what is the detailed analysis you do for determining potential customers?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, our customer connections group, they will basically review municipal records, whatever information is available publicly, in order to assess the number of housing units and potential buildings, really, that can be connected in a community.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you didn't do the same thing for
commercial and industrial?

MR. MCGILL:  As I said, we haven't gone to the point where we've tried to break these numbers down into commercial and industrial for those 38 communities.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the expectations is there will be some?

MR. MCGILL:  The expectation is that there will be some, and the expectation is that, assuming we can move forward with our proposal, we will be bringing Leave to Construct Applications before the Board that will break this information down in more detail by the community as we progress through the projects.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And sort of directionally at least, if there are commercial -- let's just talk about commercial customers, because that's more likely that will have an effect of raising the PI.

MR. MCGILL:  It may or may not, depending on the revenues from those customers versus the cost of attaching those customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about the incremental tax equivalent.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is it acts as essentially a municipal rebate for the first ten years of the project, of the pipes being put in the ground.  And whatever taxes Enbridge would be payable to the municipality, they're essentially paid back to
Enbridge.

MR. MCGILL:  That's the effect of it, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for the new revenue source the
municipality gets back for the first ten years, it just gives it back to you.

MR. MCGILL:  I think a better way to characterize it is that the municipality would forego the municipal tax revenue on those assets for a period of ten years.

When we started down this path -- and it's a common element of both our proposal and Union's -- that was the notion, that we would just basically request that the municipality forego the tax revenue on our plant associated with the project for a period of ten years, or equivalent to the TES in Union's case, the time period equivalent to the TES.  Then I think it changed to ten years at some point.

And then as we did more development of the proposal, we found that it wasn't possible for municipalities to simply determine, "Well, we're not going to charge taxes to a specific entity," that that was not within their purview or mandate to do.

So in order to make this thing work, we have to pay the municipal tax to the municipality, and then they would essentially refund it to us through the ITE.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is the mechanism is you will enter into an agreement with the municipality --

MR. MCGILL:  Pardon me?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You will enter into an agreement with the municipality to do that?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand with respect to single-tier municipalities how that would work.  But if it's a municipality with a lower-tier and upper-tier municipality, do you have to enter into two agreements?

MR. MCGILL:  We haven't developed the detail of this
sufficiently at this point in time for me to answer that
question.  I'm not sure if we would be able to deal solely with the upper-tier municipality or whether we would have to deal with both of them with respect to this.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But is it the idea to collect -- if you have to pay some taxes to the lower municipality and some to the higher municipality, the idea would be you would collect both?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MR. MCGILL:  It's a tax equivalent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, ultimately, the municipality is in no worse situation than it was before you brought natural gas service; correct?

MR. MCGILL:  That's the idea, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I want to understand why -- and I will take you to CCC 14.  This is page 16.  And you were asked essentially why this proposal -- why only ten years.  nd summarizing your response is you think it is reasonable.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to understand that for a second.  Did you ask municipalities why -- if they're no worse off, why only ten years?  Why not 40 years or some amount in between?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I have been involved in discussions with a number of municipalities with respect to what we're proposing and with respect to the ITE.  When it is put to them that we would be asking them to forego the tax revenue on our plant for the first ten years, we don't get what I would call a real warm reception when we put that to them.  I think they see that as a reasonable compromise in order to help extend gas service to their communities.

I know we've had one presentation to one municipality where actually they took real offence to it and indicated that they wouldn't be prepared to participate on this basis.

So, you know, again, we haven't gone out and done a survey of all of the municipalities that would be involved here.  But I can tell you I've been involved with discussions with a number of them, and I think that what we are proposing here is something that they would see as reasonable and a reasonable compromise in order to help facilitate extending service to their communities.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  During the examination-in-chief, it was discussed municipalities come to you all the time asking for natural gas service.  You run a feasibility analysis; you tell them they have to pay a large contribution, and that sort of ends the discussion.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, sometimes it is the municipality.
Sometimes it's a group of customers.  I've got petitions from people that live in clusters that are off our system, and, in many cases, those people have gone to their municipal councillor to get support, and it is the municipal councillor we hear from who is advocating on behalf of his constituents -- his or her constituents.

So, yes, we respond to all of those requests whether they come from a group of people, an individual, or they're brought to us on behalf of a group by a councillor.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me just ask you about when
municipalities come to you.  From your experience, is the reason that they're not willing to provide a contribution in aid in capital, is it just too much money?  They can't raise the money?  They don't think they should pay anything?  I just want to understand what you're hearing from the municipalities with respect to why contribution in aid is not feasible for them.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think the common theme is that all of these municipalities are really not in a position where they have extra money sitting around that they can throw at these kinds of projects.  They would have to recover the money from taxes that would go back to their constituents.  So, you know, that has to be brought into play here.


I've attended a number of Municipality panel council meetings over the past year.  I don't get the impression from any of them that they have surplus funds available to apply to this kind of project.  I think they struggle as it is, and asking them to come forward with these kind of contributions would just make matters worse for them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Millar discussed with you about your position on, call it, province-wide subsidies or inter-cross utility subsidies, and I understand your position on that.

You did reference, though -- he raised with you the issue of how this would potentially be a block to new entrants, because they don't have customers that they can draw on to subsidize these expansion projects, and you mentioned one did, and it had customers in Alberta.

Did I hear that correctly?

MR. MCGILL:  As far as I know, they have customers in Alberta, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you think it is appropriate for them to seek -- to ask their customers in Alberta to subsidize customers in Ontario?

MR. MCGILL:  Maybe they should provide their customers with a survey and ask them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you think it would be appropriate, say, for Enbridge to ask Ontario customers to subsidize expansion in New Brunswick, where Enbridge has an affiliate?


MR. MCGILL:  No, I wouldn't.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.


Now, putting aside the issue of your disagreement about any cross-utility subsidy and putting aside the legal question for a moment which will be dealt with in argument, I want to ask you about two specific proposals that are in individual's evidence.  The first I want to ask you is about Dr. Yatchew's proposal for a community reserve.

And on page 20 of my compendium, part (c) -- this is from EPCOR staff 8, which I -- your counsel will be asking about it.  And I just want to -- there is a detailed implementation plan for Dr. Yatchew's community reserve proposal, and I want to understand your specific -- what are some practical issues or problems that this proposal may lead for Enbridge to implement?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, it wouldn't be us implementing the proposal, so I don't think there would be any practical problems for us.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, some of your projects would be eligible like for this as well.  Is there any -- can you help me understand some issues Enbridge would have with this proposal if the Board determined it wants -- it believes it is appropriate to have some sort of province-wide levy or province-wide subsidy regime.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, we were asked a couple of interrogatory questions along the same line, basically:  Despite the fact that you don't believe in these proposals, please tell us what you think of them and how you could make them work.  And we declined to answer those questions, and I don't think it is appropriate that I'm asked to ask questions about somebody else's evidence in this proceeding.  I think you can ask them those questions; we will ask them some questions; and the Board can decide whether or not these proposals are worthy or not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, with all due respect, if the Board determines it wants to go forward with such a proposal, I think it would be beneficial to the Board and all parties to understand where Enbridge's view is of a specific proposal so we can understand -- so it is not too late in the game to understand that there are some fundamental issues you have with the implementation that is being proposed.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  And I think we've communicated those fundamental concerns in our pre-filed evidence in this matter.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I think you had some broad ones not specific to the proposal.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think some of them were quite specific.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubenstein, if I could assist, perhaps.

Mr. McGill, you're talking about the Enbridge views on this and from a philosophical perhaps basis.  Are there any mechanical issues if this funding system was put in place?  Do you see an actual issue with the collection?  Transfer of funds?  Allocation?  Are there any actual mechanical transactional level issues that Enbridge has?

MR. MCGILL:  I think a business process could be designed in order to facilitate a mechanism like this.  It would require, you know, the effort and related costs associated with administering a program like that.

In terms of some of our specific concerns, as I said, we've relayed those in our pre-filed evidence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do I take it you'll have the same response to the proposal that Mr. Bacon provided -- and I provided the interrogatory response here on page 23 -- where -- this is the implementation of a similar rural-rate assistance methodology that exists for electricity to the gas system.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, that's a pretty good assumption.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to ask you about franchise agreements.  My understanding from your evidence is you do not believe the Board should require any competitive process for the service of new expansion communities.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think the way we would characterize this is I don't think there is the need for the Board to mandate a competitive process around franchises.  There is nothing today to prevent a municipality from issuing an RFP or an RFI, go through some kind of tendering process to try and solicit interest in servicing their community, and then using that process as the basis to land upon a preferred service provider.

I think there is a number of things that would need to be taken into account in the evaluation of proposals that would be provided in response to an RFP of that nature.  And most of those things are things that I think the Board would be considering through the leave to construct process, when those projects actually do come closer to being executed.

So in terms of the Board requiring some kind of competition, I don't think that is necessary.  I think municipalities can go out and look for service providers as they see fit today.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So the Board shouldn't, in this process at least, set guidelines to say, "Municipalities, you should or should not do it, a competitive process"?

MR. MCGILL:  I think where the Board gets to test that is in the leave to construct process.  That is where -- I hesitate to call them final estimates, but, you know, that's where the proponent of the project brings forward their estimates of what the project is going to cost, what their customer capture's going to be, what their revenues are going to be, what the profitability of the project is, what the rates are going to be that are going to support that project.  That is really where the true test comes.  I think -- I don't know that a municipality is really in a position to do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Finally, let me ask you about cap and trade.  My understanding from the presentation that was provided at the Natural Gas Forum -- and this is on page 27 of my compendium under number 4, the first bullet -- residential, commercial, institutional natural gas consumption could need to decline by 40 percent by 2030.  Do I -- and this is the analysis, I believe, that ICF did.  I think that is from an interrogatory that -- there is a potential that there would need to be that big of a reduction?  Do I understand that bullet correctly?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think the way to characterize that, if no other action was taken, that it may be necessary to reduce natural gas consumption by 40 percent by 2030.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding on page 28 is you provided residential -- we asked you to present, by consumption, average consumption forecasts.  My understanding is this was done in February 2015.  So that doesn't include the impacts of cap and trade; am I correct?

MR. MCGILL:  I'm not sure what the inputs into this forecast were.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to undertake to let us know if that includes any impacts of cap and trade or not?


MR. MCGILL:  Yes, we can undertake to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THE INPUTS INTO THE FORECAST INCLUDED ANY IMPACTS OF CAP AND TRADE

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So can you help me square this circle?  If we're ultimately going to need to use less natural gas in the future under cap and trade, why should the Board approve projects that have existing customers subsidize essentially uneconomic projects under the current proposals when we should be using less natural gas?  How is that not setting up ratepayers for significant stranded assets down the line?


MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think, you know, you have to go beyond the one page out of the presentation on cap and trade that was provided in the market review.  And you have to look at some of the other things that were presented as part of that presentation in terms of natural gas.  I think there's significant discussion right now about renewable natural gas.  The studies indicate that that can provide somewhere up to about 18 percent of the -- satisfy about 18 percent of the province's natural gas demand.  So that almost cuts the 40 percent in half.

We're looking at hydrogen in terms of power to gas, and extending DSM conservation programs.

So the company is taking many steps and working cooperatively with the Ministry of Environment on climate change with respect to coming to solutions that include natural gas as part of a lower carbon future.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is your expectation, and the company's expectation, in 20, 30, 40 years, we will still be consuming the same amount of natural gas?  It may come from different sources, and we may not call it natural gas, but the same amount we'll be using from those pipes?

MR. MCGILL:  I don't know.  Part of the proposal is to
further DSM programs with respect to conservation.  So that
should tend to reduce consumption.

The company is still adding 35,000 customers a year.  That is going to increase natural gas consumption.

So to ask me where we're going to sit 30 years from now -- renewable natural gas, you know, two-thirds of the name are "natural gas."  But in terms of carbon, it serves to reduce carbon emissions rather than increase them when it is combusted.

So in terms of the overall end state, I can't speculate on that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Lastly, let me ask you this:  I see the benefits of your proposal to new customers; obviously, they're getting natural gas.  I see the benefits to Enbridge.  I see the risks to existing customers.  I see the risks to new customers potentially because they will now be on the system and have to pay rates going forward if there's stranded assets and if their cost increases.
But what are the risks to Enbridge?  I don't see any risks to Enbridge by this proposal.

MR. MCGILL:  No.  There are no incremental risks to the company with respect to this, as long as we conduct our business in a prudent and reasonable manner.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Rubenstein.


As I said at the outset, we will do a bit of a switch and thank this panel for their cooperation in doing so.
So, over the break, I wonder, Ms. DeMarco, if you could have your clients assemble their witness panel, and we will begin at twenty after eleven with your witnesses.  Okay?

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:24 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Ms. DeMarco, you have your witnesses.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I'm also going to thank you for the Board's indulgence.  I think we're going to make a little history today in having the Board's first ever traditional smudging ceremony, and I am going to call upon the former grand chief of the Iroquois and Allied Nations and the former chief of the Mississaugas of the New Credit, Chief Larry Sault, to do that, and he will explain the process for all in the room.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  And thank you for doing this.

MR. SAULT:  [Speaking briefly in Native language]


My traditional name is Strong Eagle in English.  My English name is Larry Sault, former chief of Mississaugas of the New Credit.  I officially -- this is -- I'm honoured here today to be able to do this.  This is history in the making, and I'm honoured to the Board for allowing us to take a couple of minutes to do this, as well on behalf of Mississaugas of the New Credit to welcome you to our traditional homelands.

If you don't know that the City of Toronto, it is the Mississaugas of the New Credit homelands, you do today.  So, officially, we try to follow protocol everywhere across this country when it comes to First Nations and their involvement in the traditional homelands.  Whether it's Vancouver, Halifax, or here in Toronto, we recognize those sacred lands we are on.

And as our elders have consistently told us, two pillars in our culture is our spiritual connection to the Creator and our spiritual connection to the land, the water, and the air.  And we view ourselves -- even more so now with the evolution of climate change, we view ourselves as stewardship warriors, and we believe we play a major role in terms of being of those stewardship warriors in our nations, in our provinces across the country.

So with that, I'm going to explain.  I'm going to ask Don if he will light.  And just to explain what it is for those of you that don't know, I'm sure that some of you have been involved in a smudging ceremony.  I'm not going to go around with everyone.  I think what I will do is just pass down and come back just for the sake of time.  And basically the smudging ceremony is a way to cleanse our eyes so that we can see, cleanse our ears so that we can hear, and cleanse our heart and our mind and our words that our words would be gentle, our words would be true, and our words would be heart driven in terms of what it is we're trying to accomplish.

That is obviously only what it is.  So I will just quickly go down.  And, again, I want to thank the participants.  I want to thank the Board for being able to do this today.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

[Smudging ceremony takes place]

MR. SAULT:  Again, it is just a symbolism of clear minds, clear sights, words, our words will be spoken gently, and our hearts are focused on what the issues are.  It is just a purification type of a process on our behalf of the First Nation.

So meegwetch.  We wish to thank you for allowing us to do that.  Thank you, Lisa.

MS. DeMARCO:  And thank you to the Board.

MR. SAULT:  Thank you to the Board.

MS. DeMARCO:  With that, let me take care of -- there we go.  With that, let me take care of a few initial administrative matters.  We have circulated the two curriculum vitae or bios of both former Chief Sault and Dr. Richardson.  We have also circulated yesterday a map showing the Anwaatin First Nations and the MoCreebec First Nation in relation to the TransCanada pipeline.  I wonder if I could have that marked as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you.  I guess just for convenience we will mark them separately.  K1.2 will be the slide presentation.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  SLIDE PRESENTATION

MR. MILLAR:  K1.3, the bios.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  CURRICULUM VITAE OR BIOS OF BOTH FORMER CHIEF SAULT AND DR. RICHARDSON.

MR. MILLAR:  And K1.4 the maps -- the map.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  MAP SHOWING THE ANWAATIN FIRST NATIONS AND THE MOCREEBEC FIRST NATION IN RELATION TO THE TRANSCANADA PIPELINE.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  You have saved me the trouble of marking the slide presentation.
ANWAATIN - Panel 1
Larry Sault,
Don Richardson; Affirmed

Examination-in-Chief by Ms. DeMarco:


MS. DeMARCO:  With that, if I can ask both former Chief Sault and Dr. Richardson to please introduce yourself and provide the Panel with the highlights of your experience.

MR. SAULT:  [Speaking in Native language]


Again, my traditional name is Strong Eagle.  My given name is Larry Sault.  I'm president of Anwaatin.  I'm former chief of the Mississaugas of the New Credit First Nation.  I spent a number of years on my council at the community level both in council capacity as well as chief.  I have also been deputy grand chief of the Association of Iroquois and Allied Indians here in southern Ontario as well as grand chief.

I interacted over the years since 1987.  I have interacted with the Assembly of First Nations.  I ran for national chief in 1997, have been pretty active nationally in the country since the time that I started in this road of politics in the First Nation community.

In terms of some of the things I've done, I'm -- just so that you don't think that I just fell off the turnip truck, I have been involved with a number of dignitaries.  I have travelled with the Prime Minister of Canada on some issues with respect to the International Olympics.  I have interacted with Premiers across the country, here specifically in Ontario, a progression of Premiers dating back to the '80s.

I have been involved and interacted with Canadian ambassadors in several different countries around the world and co-hosted Queen Elizabeth in Brantford with the City of Brantford, obviously Joseph Brant, Chief Joseph Brant, and our chief -- former chief in the 1800s was Revered Peter Jones.  So Queen Elizabeth -- both chiefs co-hosted her in Brantford in the '90s.

In terms of my involvement in energy issues, over the last couple of years, as an elected council member, I have been portfolio holder for the business development side of the community, and one of the parts and parcels of that business development side is we have a number of -- we have a numbered company, energy, solar energy and renewable energy projects that we have been involved in and consistently moving forward on consultation and accommodation issues.

Most recently, I suppose, getting involved with climate change, I was a keynote speaker with the Premier at the Summit of the Americas last summer.  Our First Nation was the co-host nation of the Pan American Games and the Parapan Games, and I was directly involved in the Parapan and Pan Am and involved with the Premier and the dignitaries that were involved with the Summit of the Americas.

I was also, just lastly, national chairman.  I chaired a national task force on access to capital with all the big five banks, all Industry Canada, First Nations on behalf of the federal government, the Assembly of First Nations.  For two and a half years, I criss-crossed the nation talking about financial access to capital in First Nation rural communities and remote communities.

So I have got a long history of working with the First Nations.  Chi Meegwetch.  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Dr. Richardson, please.


DR. RICHARDSON:  My name is Don Richardson.  I'm a managing partner with the consultancy called Shared Value Solutions.  We're a consultancy that focuses primarily on the environment, energy, infrastructure projects, and the
bulk of our clients are First Nations, Métis, or Inuit communities across Canada.

My background on the energy side and one of the things that actually brought me to this table is I've worked very closely with the former Ontario Power Authority developing the Aboriginal community energy plan and have since been involved in working with communities on Aboriginal community energy plan projects; currently also working with the Nipigon communities and Aroland First Nation on a major transmission line initiative across their traditional territories, working with Aroland First Nation on a significant natural gas-fired energy generation project.  I also advised the Matawa First Nations that are involved in the ring of fire and their lead negotiator, Bob Rae, on energy matters related to serving both road-connected communities and remote communities among the Matawa First Nations.

I have also had a career that's brought me in contact with universal service approaches to rural remote and First Nation and indigenous infrastructure services.  I have worked overseas, worked on projects with the World Bank, the International Financial Corporation, the UN Food and Agriculture Organization, the International Fund for Agricultural Development, and other agencies like that, looking at primarily telecommunication, universal service access in places like Uganda, Haiti, Chile, the southern Philippines, India, Nepal, and a few other countries.
So I have a fair familiarity with how the universal service fund mechanisms and approaches work.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  I'm going to ask you now to
briefly summarize your evidence for the Panel, please.
I understand that you will be referring to what is now Exhibit 1.2.  Have I got that right?  The slides, thank you.

DR. RICHARDSON:  How do we move the slides here?

MS. DeMARCO:  Just give a signal, and they will do it for you.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Next slide, please.  I will start with this, these two maps that provide some location details on the communities that we're representing here.

For brevity, we will talk about the Nipigon communities, which are in this area here, and separately Aroland, which is not one of the Nipigon communities.  It is part of the Matawa First Nations.

And this other map is a map that shows you where the
MoCreebec community is based, which is a combination of Moose Factory and Moosonee, population of about 5,000 people, a non-reserve First Nation that is mixed in with the non-Native populations in both of those communities and as part of a group of Mushkegowuk First Nations that includes Attawapiskat and Fort Albany and is ultimately currently connected by railway through the Ontario north land system down to the Kapuskasing-Cochrane area.


And these lines on the map are important because what they illustrate -- and we’ll talk about briefly in our evidence -- is that these communities and Matawa communities and other communities across northern Ontario are very focused on getting all-season community roads built, and this is a map that illustrates the potential roads that this set of communities are looking at.
If these roads are available, it opens up a number of different energy opportunities, including shipping natural gases, liquid natural gas, which we will talk about in more detail.

Next slide.  We have done the introduction.  Next slide.  And I will pass over to Larry.

MR. SAULT:  So in terms of Anwaatin, obviously -- I'm sorry.  I'm sorry.  There we are.

So in terms of Anwaatin, Anwaatin is probably over 25 years in the making.  In another life, I spent fifteen years in the Canadian Arctic.  I was a missionary doing missionary work, building churches, putting on leadership conferences in the 27 communities in the eastern Arctic, east of Hudson's Bay.  I have hunted with a dog team.  I have been out on the land in igloos; I have been out on the land with the Crees in the bush.  So my passion for leadership expertise and my passion for being able to help those First Nations being able to develop what they need to develop has certainly been 25 years in the making plus.

And with respect to First Nations, I must say that almost in everything that we do, we're out of sight, out of mind.  It is always a challenge for our First Nation leaders to be able to get on the map in terms of these types of discussions that we have and the challenge to our regional bodies and national bodies as well, because we appear to be out of sight, out of mind or last thought when it comes to the initiatives that happen in the First
Nation communities.

One of the things that I wanted to highlight was the fact of cost of living in the north.  If you haven't been there, I've had -- over those 15 years, I've had to sleep on the floor in some of what they call matchbox houses.  So we enjoy the niceties here in the south, but when you go into the north, it is a totally different scenario.

I've -- as a minister, ordained minister, I have had to bury young people.  I have had to marry young people.  And so it is really a tragedy for me to be able to see the state of affairs in our First Nation communities.

So in terms of First Nations in Ontario, the cost of living obviously is astronomical.  And with respect to the lack of access to quality supply of carbon energy, all of those issues are now coming to the forefront with respect to the agenda items that we have here before us.

We are suggesting -- at least I am suggesting that Ontario Energy Board should, of its own accord, examine the state of First Nation energy poverty in Ontario and report on its progress on a regular basis.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Next slide.  Next slide, please.

MR. SAULT:  So in the access to natural gas to help transcend energy poverty, to transcend that to First Nations, everyone must have access to safe, sustainable
modern energy that enables productive economic activity for
business and industry, for public services, schools, health facilities, et cetera.

And, again, when it comes to accessibility on initiatives, one of the things we looked at in access to capital was to be able to look at -- rather than have a handout, to have a hand-up.  We were looking at trying to find ways to be creative in how we develop our communities in the rural and remote areas.  And, again, Anwaatin is here to now help them with that hand-up to be able to access the services that we're talking about in this energy poverty world that our First Nations are in.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Playing with lights here.


The school you saw in the last slide is the community school at Aroland.  I was flipping through some of the data we have from a community energy plan study in that community, and for the last two months of 2014, the electricity bill at that school for two months was about $17,000.  And you can imagine what that is like in a First Nation where, you know, funds for education are hard to come by.  And Aroland, as one of the clients that we're representing here, is really, really keen to see those kind of numbers change both for the institutions in the community and for the families that live in the community.  We will get into some details in the next slide, please.

So the diagram on the right, I will talk to in a little bit more detail.  But the graph is really important;  that really tells the story of why we are here.  It is a very simple graph, but it tells a big story.

Across Canada, we still have 10 percent of First Nations on-reserve households with no electricity or existing electrical problems.  They can't get electrical power in some way, shape, or form.  Thirty-one percent of First Nation households overall have unsatisfactory heating systems, and 37 percent in mid and northern reserves.  You know, almost 40 percent, when you think about it; right?

Without gas -- without natural gas, the December to February electrical bills typically range as high as $700 to $900 per month, and typically families have to supplement electricity, given the cost, with wood.  Sometimes they supplement it with fuel oil.  But a cord of wood is about $300 for dry hardwood, and that will last maybe two weeks up to four weeks.  And so we're looking at monthly home heating costs during the winter months of $700 to $1,500 per month.

If we look at -- like, if I look at two Mataawa First Nation communities, Aroland compared to Constance Lake First Nation, they're very similar culturally, linguistically; their heritage is very similar; the housing situation is very similar.  In one community, there is natural gas.  Constance Lake has access to natural gas through the Union Gas system, and the average annual cost for natural gas in that community is $750 per year.
So if you do the equal billing, a family is paying about 75 bucks a month for heating their home, averaged out across the year.  You go to Aroland First Nation, you've got these people that are paying $700 to $1,500 a month for winter heating.


And what the graph shows is the differences between, in the green at the bottom, somebody on equal billing paying 75 bucks a month -- so in December, January, February, a cheque for 75 bucks -- and the same household, in essence, in a different community without natural gas paying, you know, an incredibly high amount for heat energy to keep the family alive and healthy.

And the picture on the right is a picture that was sent to me from people at MoCreebec, just to illustrate.  I said, "Take a picture that illustrates what your heating life is like."  And so there is a picture of a baseboard heater.  There is a picture of a gas-fired -- not natural gas, a petroleum-fired generator and a chainsaw for cutting wood.  And that is the heating reality that most First Nations in the north experience if they don't have access to natural gas.

Next slide.  There is a challenge that people face, and we hear this a lot in our work:  Eat or heat?  The costs are so high that families -- you know, many families living in poverty have to make these kind of decisions, and many homes have a combination of wood and electric furnaces or simply woodstoves with baseboard.  And they have to rely on expensive electric heat, and many of them are facing problems with indoor air quality because of the quality of the wood that they're burning or the quality of the heating appliances for burning wood.  They've got significant indoor air quality issues.

And often they will shut off the wood heat simply because they've got children with asthma problems or other people in the household with respiratory problems, and so they have to rely on electricity, because they don't have any other fuel sources to work with.

Households have difficulty paying their winter electricity bills.  They get late-payment charged.  They get threatened with cut-off.  Often band councils have to make decisions about finding ways to pay for people's electricity costs if they're really struggling financially.

And this is -- I mean, this is a really serious problem for families.  Hard to imagine sitting here in Toronto what that must be like, but this is the reality in many First Nations and not just in the north.

There was a recent show on TV Ontario looking at energy poverty, and there was a gentleman there from Walpole Island First Nation, which is one of the more southernmost First Nations in Ontario.  They still don't have access to natural gas.  And the gentleman on the show was talking about how their water treatment plant was going to save $200,000 a year by being able to switch to natural gas from propane heat for their utility.

The photo here is a picture of the -- on the bottom, a picture of the Aroland First Nation water treatment plant and a picture that you see commonly, you know, in the fall and winter of stacks of wood piled up through the community to provide that extra heat.

Another challenge that we've seen by doing these Aboriginal community energy plans that many homes are equipped or should be equipped with heat recovery ventilation systems, but they require electricity.  And people are so sensitive to their heating bill costs, their electric bill costs, they unplug the HRV.  It sucks electricity.  And they end up with a whole variety of indoor air quality issues, mould issues, and moisture issues.  You get moisture accumulating on windows, freezing, accumulating around doors and freezing, and they have to break doors open to get in and out of houses, because they're worried about the cost of the HRV appliance in their house, which is a -- should be a fundamental health and safety feature, but it requires electricity, and people are really sensitive, so they will unplug them.  The problems from that are ubiquitous across Canada with HRVs.


Next slide.  So the First Nations that we're representing are very interested in finding a way to get access to low-cost, low-carbon energy solutions, and many of the First Nations -- all of them are looking at renewable energy options.

But one of the problems that they have with renewable energy -- and this is not just for First Nations, but many rural communities across Ontario -- is that the local grid gets maxed out.  If there is no natural gas to cover the heat load, in the wintertime, the grid is getting maxed out with the heat load required to send electricity through the lines to power those baseboard heaters; right?


And if natural gas was there as a service, it could remove that heat load off the local power grid and enable people to get involved in things like rooftop solar or wind generation and other renewable technologies.  But because the grid is maxed out, they can't get access to these things because they can't attach them to the local grid.  They might be able to attach them to a household, but they can't have a grid-based renewable system.

I mentioned health outcomes.  If natural gas is available as a replacement for these combinations of wood and electricity, it would significantly reduce the indoor air-quality issues and the related health issues that come with that.  And if you look at First Nations that have natural gas, there is far less use of wood as a heat energy source in winter versus communities that are served with electricity.

So you can see a dramatic difference in the indoor air-quality conditions in homes that are heated primarily with natural gas, and they're more inclined to use their HRV systems, because it is a small incremental cost on their electricity bill, and they understand that.  And they're not constantly trying to figure out how to reduce their electricity bill.

Natural gas would also provide opportunities for business and industry in and around First Nations, especially where there might be heat users.  And there are lots of examples of First Nations that are developing economic development plans, and they get caught.  They hit the wall of the high energy cost in the region, which thwarts some of the initiatives that they might want to get involved with.

One of the things that we looked at in providing evidence was who -- where are the incumbent operators that actually understand First Nation issues and have programs and activities that are working to try and get First Nations connected?  Union Gas stands out.  This hearing actually started with a Union Gas filing that included the desire to see several First Nations in southern Ontario served with natural gas.

We looked more closely at Union Gas's history.  Larry is well aware of it.  One of the things Union Gas did back in the late '80s was help to start Six Nations Natural Gas, which is a First-Nation-owned natural gas utility that services the Six Nations community as well as the Mississaugas of the New Credit.  And, more recently, the Board has approved Union Gas's demand-side management Aboriginal program.  And if natural gas is available to more First Nations in the territory that Union Gas served, that program, which includes energy efficiency options and retrofits and so forth, would also be available to those additional First Nations that they could serve.

So there are some benefits there in terms of extending those kind of demand-side management programs that are currently available to additional First Nations through those kinds of programs.

Next slide.  I'm going to talk briefly about universal service funds as a concept.  The First Nations that we're representing are supportive of this kind of initiative.  We've had some recent discussions.  And where do you rank, you know, universal service fund in terms of how fast access can happen?  And the key factor is the communities want to see natural gas availability as soon as possible, however that can happen, with whatever type of universal service mechanism might be appropriate.

And the principles that universal service funds typically work by are availability, affordability, and accessibility.  Our opinion is that universal service fund mechanisms are consistent with the spirit and intent of EBO 188, which is to get natural gas out there.

And we've looked at some of the history and experiences around the world with universal service funds and, as I mentioned earlier, been involved in a lot of telecommunication universal service initiatives, and this diagram represents some of the better thinking on universal service funds from the International Telecommunications Union.

With the concept of what they call a smart subsidy, which is a temporary subsidy targeted at CAPEX, not at operational costs, targeted to support expenditures where there is a market gap, and the market gap can't be served by existing technologies economically.  There is really no commercial business that will be profitable.  So the smart subsidy is available to bridge that gap and provide that additional capital cost.

And at the far end of the spectrum are what they call the true access gap, where, even with a subsidy, a community might be very difficult to serve.  And our thinking around this -- we imagined that what we call the road-connected First Nations are probably well within the smart subsidy zone, that you can actually, you know, transport gas either by pipeline or through LNG transport fairly efficiently where there is a road.

And as we go back to that map, more and more First Nations get connected to roads; there will be more viability for low-cost service to get the natural gas to them.

Next slide.  There is just the map I showed earlier, illustrating where some of these roads are coming in.  And there are roads also being proposed for all of the remote Mataawa First Nations and roads being proposed for other First Nations in northwestern Ontario.  And we expect that the majority of First Nations are going to get -- in the north that aren't connected by road are going to get connected probably in the next decade or so, making it very viable for natural gas to get out there, certainly as liquid natural gas.

Next slide.  I will pass to you, Larry.

MR. SAULT:  So our traditional homeland, City of Toronto.  So the City of Toronto, our traditional homeland, I look at that, and, you know, without access to natural gas for a few days in February, where would the heat energy come from here in the city?

And sometimes I look at -- I drive down through the city, and I wonder what would happen in a real disaster, if we had a real disaster in the city and looking at these types of initiatives, because it is 2016.

All First Nations, as I said earlier, need access to the same low-carbon, low-cost natural gas that communities and families rely on across Ontario.  And, again, sometimes I think we're out of sight; First Nations are out of sight and out of mind.  Unless you hear of a disaster in a First Nations remote community specifically here in Ontario or if you hear something on the news, that's the only sort of time we give thought to the First Nation issue.

But for us that are First Nation and for us that live in the territory and for us that have worked for a number of years, this is real stuff that we live every day.  And unfortunately, we're born into politics, and whether I am a politician or not, I am born into it.

But there is a number of issues that I think is relevant for the discussion that we have here, including affordable, reliable, sustainable, and modern energy, as per the 2030 agenda for sustainable development and global sustainable development goals.

There is simply no reason, in our view, for energy poverty to exist among our First Nations here in Ontario, and we have an abundance of natural gas available, as Don said earlier.  The Mississauga of New Credit is very clear and very understanding of natural gas.  Because Six Nations has their own natural gas company that was formed in 1989, we enjoy natural gas.
I certainly enjoy it.  I grew up in the bush.  I grew up cutting wood, and I hate every minute, every thought of cutting wood.  We grew up in an outhouse, and I hate every thought of going out in the wintertime in the outhouses.  But, unfortunately, in our remote communities, they still do that, and they still have -- some of them still have the same things, having to cut wood and be able
to keep fires going all night.  That was one of my tasks when I was a young boy, to keep the fires going for my -- we grew up with 16 children in our family, and the boys had a role, and the girls had a role.

Our role was to make sure that fire was in the house at all times, heating.  And, boy, I will tell you, I just told my wife the other day it's so good just to go to the thermostat and click the button.

So, anyways, it is 2016.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Next slide.

MR. SAULT:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  That concludes our evidence-in-chief.

Thank you, former Chief, and thank you, Dr. Richardson.  We are now into cross-examination.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  We have
Environmental Defence up first, I believe.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr.  Elson:
MR. ELSON:  My name is Kent Elson, and I represent Environmental Defence, and I will start by also
acknowledging your traditional territory that we are sitting on today.

I would like to start by asking a few questions about the universal service fund that you've proposed.  The idea is that customers would contribute to this fund, and that could be used to pay for natural gas expansion projects to First Nations communities; is that right?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's correct.  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And the motivation behind this is obviously that energy costs are very, very, very high in many First Nations communities?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And so, in essence, that is a justification for a subsidy?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And, you know, as you've said, the $17,000 bill for a school or the decision to heat or eat, that is why a subsidy is fair in this situation?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  So I would like to ask you about a scenario.  Let's say, for a certain community, that energy bills could be lowered as much or more through renewable energy such as geothermal as compared to natural gas expansion.
In that scenario, would it be appropriate for the universal service fund to pay for the costs of the renewable energy project in lieu of natural gas expansion?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, this hearing is focused on natural gas expansion to rural, remote, and First Nations, and that is what we're here to speak to.

There are challenges with many different energy platforms with capital costs.  You mentioned geothermal; several of our clients are very interested in geothermal.  Just like natural gas, there are very high capital costs.

If there were a mechanism out there to cover capital costs for geothermal, fantastic.  The communities are looking for options, and natural gas is a very viable option.  The pipelines, as you can see, you know, the mainline is very close to these communities.  It is there.  How do they get it out there?  How do they reduce the capital costs to make sure they can get it out there?

MR. ELSON:  And I guess what I'm getting at is, if the goal is cheaper energy and you can get that energy at a cheap rate through renewables or conservation or other means, then that is an option that would be favoured?

DR. RICHARDSON:  As I said earlier, in the discussions we've had recently, the imperative is now.  It is now.  What forms of low-carbon, low-cost energy can get to these communities as soon as possible?

I understand it is a topic of this proceeding in terms of natural gas as soon as possible.  And so this hearing is focused on a mechanism that may get natural gas out to the communities relatively quickly, and that's the imperative.

MR. ELSON:  And there will have to be another proceeding that would look at potential expansions, and you would get into details such as how fast that might take and that it may not be as fast as we would hope.  But at the moment, we're just looking at general generic issues.

I guess what I am trying to ask is, you know, it seems to me that there is nothing special about natural gas.  What you want is cheap energy and energy that is
happening as quickly as possible.  And so, if there is other means to do that, that meet those goals, then that would be just as good?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Provided that the basic heat load issue is dealt with; right?  I mean, people are paying enormous costs for heat energy.  Natural gas is very close by to many of these communities.  It could be accessible fairly quickly.

So there really is -- I mean, the reason that these communities wanted to have some representation at this hearing is to push that agenda.  They also have other interests in other technologies, but we're here because they're focused on how do we get natural gas to our communities.

MR. ELSON:  So let's say a universal service fund was
created.  You wouldn't object to being able to use that for a renewable project or conservation if that was cheaper and faster, would you?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Wait and see what happens.

MR. ELSON:  And that's kind of what we need to do is wait and see.  We can't decide today which is cheaper and faster.  But if it was cheaper and faster, I take it you would be in support of that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  We'll have to see what happens with this hearing and what the Board decides.

MR. ELSON:  Are you able to say -- I'm going to move on, and I'm only going to have a minute or two more of questions.  I will move on from the specifics of a universal service fund.

Are you able to say whether -- and perhaps, Mr. Sault, I can direct this to you.  Are you able to say whether the First Nations you represent support Ontario's GHG emission reduction targets for 2020, 2030, and 2050?

MS. DeMARCO:  Can I object to that question?  I don't think that is in evidence, nor are the targets in the parties' evidence or this proceeding.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry, Ms. DeMarco, I'm just reading the question.


Mr. Elson, the reason for your question or what you require that information for or...


MR. ELSON:  The reason I'm asking that question is because it is a potential factor in the decision-making between various types of projects, and, I mean, if Mr. Sault doesn't know the answer, then that's fine.  I don't mean, of course, to put you in a difficult position.  But if you are able to indicate to us whether that is something that you can speak to, that would at least be helpful.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. DeMarco?

MS. DeMARCO:  Perhaps if my friend can actually provide some background on the specific targets he's talking about and provide some particulars so the panel can consider with the appropriate amount of particulars.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Any additional context you can provide, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  You know, I can just leave it at a broad level to say that the Government of Ontario is proposing targets in 2020, in 2030, and 2050 to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.  The goal of doing so is to play our role in keeping global temperatures at below 2 percent -- 2 degrees increase.

I don't think that the witness needs to get into the details of what those numbers are.  You know, all I am asking -- and if the witness says they don't know anything about this and can't speak to it, then that's fine.  But I would just like to know whether this is, you know, a factor that is part of their decision-making.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. DeMarco, would you have your witness attempt to answer, given that context?

MS. DeMARCO:  Just so I'm certain, the question that is being answered is:  In terms of Ontario's current greenhouse gas goals, is that a consideration in the evidence?  Is that the question that is being asked?

MR. ELSON:  My question is whether they support those, whether they feel those are important.

MS. DeMARCO:  So what I understand the question to be is the 2030 -- 2020, 2030, 2050 goals or targets, which are not in evidence, whether or not the witnesses support them?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I take it that is the question, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  I would think it is at least appropriate for that to be done by way of potential undertaking with the appropriate targets put before the witness panel, so not just some nebulous 2020, 2030, 2050 reference, but the actual targets and the goals that Mr. Elson is referring to.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Are you prepared to take that with some context, additional context, Mr. Elson, as an undertaking?

MR. ELSON:  I'm fine to have the answer provided by way of an undertaking.  You know, I will say that the evidence is on the record in a number of places what the specific targets are.  But, you know, perhaps I can ask a more generalized question, then, and one that can be answered today.  But for the sake of the record, I guess we need an undertaking number for that.

MR. MILLAR:  So that is J1.2, and it is to provide the position on the Ontario government's targets for GHG reductions.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And I am not trying to be a pain here.  I'm just trying to set up a simple question.

So let me ask something broader, without relating to specific numbers.


Mr. Sault, are greenhouse gas reductions a consideration for what the communities that you represent, the kinds of projects they want to do with respect to energy?


  MR. SAULT:  I guess I'll just respond by saying that First Nations obviously do not have enough information on the issue.  So specifically to the question I'm going to say that we do not have enough information on the issue.

The other thing is that Ontario needs to have meaningful consultations with the First Nations, particularly in the remote communities, on these types of initiatives.  That hasn't happened to any specific degree.  So I will leave it at that as my response, sir.

MR. ELSON:  I take it, though, that the primary goal as we discussed earlier is to lower energy bills?

MR. SAULT:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And aside from the universal service fund, Mr. Sault, would you have an objection to receiving subsidies for energy conservation and/or renewable investments in order to achieve those goals of lowering energy bills, particularly if they were to also lower GHG emissions?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SAULT:  So I think that my colleague already answered the question earlier.  I believe he has already answered that question in his earlier commentaries.


MR. ELSON:  So my understanding is that the answer is that, no, you would not object to receiving subsidies for those other alternatives as long as they provide the same kind of bill savings and can be implemented as quickly; is that fair to say?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SAULT:  So, again, I would just like to reiterate what Don had said earlier, and it's about getting gas out there now.  That is what it is about.

MR. ELSON:  Sorry, I'm going around in circles here, and I apologize.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Elson, I think the -- I mentioned earlier that I think we are drifting into argument here.  This question has been answered.  It has been answered the same way about three times.  And I think it is about the focus of this hearing, and this is -- the views of the -- this witness is that that is what we're here about at this hearing right now.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I will leave my questions there.  But I believe that my friend has a comment to make.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman.  I have questions along a similar line for these witnesses.  It seems to me that what we saw was a refusal to answer the question, not an answer.  They said, "We won't answer any questions about anything other than natural gas."

MR. QUESNELLE:  I didn't hear that, Mr. Shepherd.  I think Mr. Richardson's earlier comments on the matter didn't seem to be that, I suppose, placed in the negative in that fashion.  It's what the focus was here, and I don't think that there was an out-and-out objection to receiving those or a statement of an objection to receiving subsidies on that line.

I can go back and play the transcript, but that is my
recollection of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The implication of the approach of the witnesses to this is that this hearing is binary.  It is about gas or no gas and cannot consider anything else.  And I did not see that in the Board's letter or in any of the Board's rulings.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No.  I agree with you.  You know, I think that is appropriate.  But, Ms. DeMarco, jump in, but the -- I think what I heard -- and I would ask Dr. Richardson to restate it -- was that the focus is about -- their focus, their views, is to get natural gas.  That is their motivation for being here.  It wasn't a reference to the scope of this hearing.  It was their focus.  And that is what I heard as the answer coming back three times.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MS. DeMARCO:  With respect, Mr. Chair, if I can jump in here, I heard three times Mr. Richardson state that he was interested in low-cost energy, but his focus here specifically was any subsidies relating to natural gas, and so --


MR. QUESNELLE:  And I take it --


MS. DeMARCO:  -- I don't know if you want to play back the transcript on that point.  I'm very happy to have it played back, particularly in relation to the direct evidence and his responses.


MR. QUESNELLE:  But I didn't take his -- and I don't consider the response that he provided to be one of scoping this hearing.  It is the focus that they have as your client.  Is that correct?

MS. DeMARCO:  Absolutely, and what is and is not in their evidence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I just ask a question?  Just so we're
clear, are we, then, embarking also on an inquiry as to whether the relative merits of different type of fuel sources and heating sources?  Or are we focused on the generic approach to how remote communities are going to be served with respect to existing fuel sources?  I'm not sure -- just to be clear.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think, Mr. Keizer, as the Board has said, we're interested in what information would be provided to allow us to create a framework.  I think it would be impossible to create a framework of how you would allow expansion of natural gas without some understanding directionally, without the specifics of granularity of the options, without an understanding of what the spectrum of options may be, which would then allow you to create a framework that could possibly further analyze these in actual further proceedings.  But I think we need to have a breadth of understanding of what the potential technologies and the direction on these technologies are going.  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, all I can add is that is my understanding of the evidence was as Ms. DeMarco summarized it right now.  So I will have no further questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.

All right.  Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Cross-Examination by Mr.  Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  I will follow the -- gentlemen, my name is Ian Mondrow, and I'm counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association.  The acronym for that is IGUA, and I will follow my colleague's lead and -- I didn't make a note -- I should have -- but acknowledge your ancestral interest in these lands, and thank you for welcoming us, and I believe the word is meegwetch, which is thank you, as I roughly understand it.  So I thought I should do that.  And thank you to Mr. Elson for instructing me on that.

I also thank you, gentlemen, for bringing your communities and your people's communities into our sight and our mind.  I understood that to be your message earlier, Chief Sault, so I appreciate that.
I'm just going to ask you a few questions to try to understand your views on the role of this Board in respect of the very important issues that you have brought to our attention.  I want to look at your evidence to do that, and that is the evidence that was written and submitted in advance of today.

So the first thing that I want to understand -- and I think, Dr. Richardson, you made the point today as well about the proximity of the TransCanada Mainline to many of the communities that you are interested in.  I'm not sure what the point of underscoring that proximity is precisely.  Could you help me with that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, TransCanada Mainline, in conjunction with the Nipigon First Nations and Aroland, if I understand correctly, was built in 1958 to transport natural gas from Alberta through Ontario, into Ontario, and on to Quebec.

The gas line has been in their territory for several
decades.  Their communities are very close to that main
line, one of the largest natural gas pipelines systems in North America, and yet they don't have access to natural gas.

The communities are being asked to engage in
consultation with the Ontario Energy Board, with TransCanada, with the National Energy Board about the Energy East project, but they have been living with a natural gas pipeline and not seeing any benefits from that for decades.  So it is there, and I think there is a renewed awareness of the proximity of their communities to the gas pipeline, given the context of the Energy East proposal.

MR. MONDROW:  Dr. Richardson, are you suggesting that Union or Enbridge or EPCOR or someone should tap into that line to supply the communities with gas?  Is that the point?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No.  What I'm suggesting is that the
communities are very much aware that they're very close to a source of natural gas, but they don't have it.

MR. MONDROW:  Why is that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Why don't they have it?

MR. MONDROW:  Why don't they have gas from that line?  Do you know?

DR. RICHARDSON:  You know, if I knew that answer, I wouldn't be here probably.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So that is a question that you think the Board should investigate?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, we did state in our evidence, in the context of Energy East, the Board is playing a role in consulting with First Nations on the Energy East project.  To my knowledge, there was no direct consultation with First Nations around the existing TransCanada Mainline, or, for example, the proposed eastern mainline, which also passes by a number of First Nation communities in southern Ontario that don't currently have access to natural gas.

MR. MONDROW:  So I asked you whether you think the Board should investigate that.

DR. RICHARDSON:  I think the Board has a process in place.  I'm not sure where the Board's at, because the TransCanada Energy filing is incomplete, but the Board was going through a review of the Energy East project, and there have been more recent filings, and I'm not sure where the Board is at with its -- if they've finalized that review or not.  But if they haven't, the opportunity to look at the natural gas question with First Nations, I think, would be very appropriate.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Dr. Richardson.  It's a very specific question.  Are you suggesting that this Board should investigate the possibility of drawing gas off the TransCanada Mainline or the Energy East project for the communities that you have addressed in your evidence?  Yes or no?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No.  What I'm suggesting is there is an existing OEB process.  I don't know what stage it is at.  I'm not aware of what stage it is at.  But if that process could look at these issues, that would be appropriate given the context of the Energy East proposal and the eastern mainline natural gas line proposal.

MR. MONDROW:  When you say "these issues," do you mean the issues you talked about today, or do you mean the issue of taking gas from the mainline to serve the communities?

DR. RICHARDSON:  The issue of First Nation access to natural gas in Ontario.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you.  Which is what we're looking at today.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

I'm looking -- the evidence is somewhat overlapping, but I am looking at the Anwaatin -- if I am pronouncing that correctly, Chief Sault -- March 21, 2016 letter to the Board, which actually constitutes the written evidence, as I understand it.

I'm looking at page 4 of that written evidence, and
  I think this is repeated in the MoCreebec, if I'm pronouncing that right, piece as well.  At the bottom of page 4 of the Anwaatin evidence, there is a statement that says:

"There is a systemic bias that prevents indigenous peoples from having equitable access to natural gas."
What does that mean?  What is that systemic access?

DR. RICHARDSON:  We're not saying we know for sure there is a systemic bias, but it would appear to be one.
    If you look at the reality of where the mainline is, if you look at the reality of where other natural gas pipelines are across southern Ontario, you do tend to see that they can be placed in close proximity to First Nations, but the First Nations don't have access to natural gas, and that's been that situation for years, if
not decades.

You have to ask the question:  Why is that the case?  I don't have an answer to that.  But there would appear to be a systemic bias to not serve First Nations.

MR. MONDROW:  Should this Board investigate why that is?

DR. RICHARDSON:  We've -- in our evidence today, we've suggested the Board should really look at the context of energy poverty with First Nations -- that would include looking at disparities in terms of access -- and report back on what they find and what some of the opportunities might be to resolve energy poverty.

Especially around the fact that Canada has signed on to the global sustainable development goals.  The sustainable development goal number 7 focuses on access to modern energy services, and it would make sense for the Board to reflect on that as part of -- as part of its work that it could do around looking at energy poverty with First Nations in Ontario.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Could I take you for a minute to page 5 of the Anwaatin evidence?

In the second paragraph, under the topic heading 4, so the topic heading 4 is "Revenue Recovery, Universal Service Fund."  In the second paragraph under that topic near the end of that paragraph, the evidence characterizes the government's -- I take it to be characterizing the government's policy on expansion of natural gas.  So it says:

"The government of Ontario's commitments to expand natural gas distribution systems to communities that do not have access to natural gas as soon as possible."


And then, in the following sentence, you talk about a
universal service fund, and you say that's in the public interest to maximize the extension -- and I underscore the word maximize -- the extension of natural gas services.

So the "as soon as possible" part and the maximize part, is it your understanding, Chief Sault or Dr. Richardson, that that's part of the government's policy on gas expansion as soon as possible and maximizing access?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, I will take this, Larry.  When this hearing was first announced and there were e-mails that went out to all of the chiefs across Ontario; there were newspaper ads, this was a hearing about rural, remote service.  It wasn't about First Nations.

There was a staff member at MoCreebec, which is one of the communities we're representing, that said they ought to change the name of the hearing.  And so MoCreebec put in a submission early on in the process to ask the Board to change the name of the hearing to rural, remote, and First Nation access to natural gas, and the Board agreed with that.

So, you know, given that, there doesn't appear to be a policy in place in Ontario focused on access to natural gas for First Nations.

MR. MONDROW:  Maybe I didn't ask the question clearly
enough.  I apologize.  I emphasized the characterization as "as soon as possible."

The first sentence I read to you said:
"The government of Ontario's commitments --"


This is from your evidence.

"-- to expand natural gas distribution systems to communities --"

Not First Nations, communities.

"-- that do not have access to natural gas as soon as possible."
Is that the Government of Ontario's policy, Dr. Richardson, as soon as possible?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That is our understanding of the policy, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And you also used, in the following sentence, the word "maximize the extension of natural gas services."  Is that the government's policy, to maximize the extension of natural gas services?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I don't know.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Should it be this Board's policy to do this as soon as possible and to maximize extension?  Is that what you are advocating?


DR. RICHARDSON:  We're advocating that the Board, through this process, this hearing process, find a way -- whatever mechanisms make sense, and we're suggesting the universal service fund as a way to get the gas out there as soon as possible to First Nations and, to the extent possible, to maximize the extension of natural gas.  And that's why we're here at this hearing.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you.


And in making those recommendations to this Board, you're considering many more communities than Union or Enbridge have identified in their lists; is that correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  We're representing the communities that we're on the record to represent.  We can't speak for those other communities, but we do know, through our extensive experience, especially Larry's experience with these communities, that this is a desire that is likely shared by many other First Nations.

MR. MONDROW:  Could we just quickly look at page 10 of your presentation from this morning, please?  You provided a map, which was very helpful, and you highlighted in colours what I take your evidence to say would be all-season or permanent access roads for various communities.  And I see little black dots along those lines.  Are each of those dots a community?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No.  These are -- these are simply proposed all-season roads, and these communities are going through an internal process as well as technical work to determine which would be the most appropriate all-season roads.  The communities themselves are marked out (indicating).


MR. MONDROW:  So what are the little black dots on the lines?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I don't know.  I didn't produce this map, so I am not sure what those are.  All I know is that the -- the blue and purple and red lines demarcate potential all-season road.  They may be access points, but I'm not really sure.  But they're not communities.

MR. MONDROW:  They're not communities?  Okay.  Thank you.

But you agreed with me a minute ago that there are communities -- you're representing specific communities, and your view is there are other communities that would also be interested in access to gas, and they're not communities that Enbridge and Union have on their lists in this proceeding?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  But I think you have also been clear in your evidence.  You haven't done any cost analysis about the implications of committing to connect all of the additional communities beyond those on the list?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's correct.  That would be an enormous undertaking, and, you know, just getting into the existing available information on how First Nations are served or not served, it is actually very difficult to find out which communities don't have gas or could have gas.  It is a very significant undertaking.

MR. MONDROW:  The Board should undertake that, in your view?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, what we're suggesting is the Board look at energy poverty in the context of First Nations and provide a report to the people of Ontario and what it finds and what solutions there might be.

MR. MONDROW:  Last area, and then I have a quick question.  So the last area I just want to ask you about, I think your evidence also, in fairness, makes clear that you recognize a balance between providing access and reasonable cost to existing customers.  I'm not sure you used the word "reasonable," but I did certainly see that concept.  Am I reading that correctly?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And I think the evidence also says that it is your intention to leave it to the Board to determine what is reasonable?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  That's the Board's job?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Is there any guidance that you can -- or wish to provide to the Board in striking that balance?


DR. RICHARDSON:  I'm not aware of any guidance I can point to for natural gas and access, no.

MR. MONDROW:  Chief Sault, are there any criteria or factors that the Board should use in striking that balance, in your view?

MR. SAULT:  I mentioned earlier about consultations, meaningful consultations.  The only thing that I can say is that we have not had adequate meaningful consultations on that specific issue.  So if we are going to go down that road, then meaningful consultations with the Chiefs of Ontario or individual Chiefs in the remote communities will need to, in my view, take place.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


The evidence does talk about -- and, Dr. Richardson, you highlighted this morning -- a fuel cost, a heating cost, for unconnected communities of 10 or 20 times what a connected community would experience.  Should that be a benchmark for the Board to consider, you think, in respect of impact on existing customers?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Again, going back to the reason we're here, these communities are suffering from really high fuel costs, especially in the wintertime.  Whatever the Board can do to accelerate a process to provide low-cost, low-carbon energy to these communities -- as we said earlier, natural gas is why we're here.  Whatever can happen quickly is really what the communities that we're representing are looking for.

MR. MONDROW:  I understand, thank you.

The quick question I have just to close, Dr. Richardson, you mentioned a couple of times your experience with universal service funds, and you used the phrase "mainly in telecom."  Are there examples other than telecom that you have been involved with?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I have to think.  Outside of Canada, I was involved in a project in Egypt where it was access to farm-based irrigation systems.  Kind of a similar context, but not energy.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


Mr. Chairman, thank you.  Thank you, gentlemen.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.

NOACC would be up next.  Would you come forward to a microphone?  We have got seating over here, I believe.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Melchiorre:


MR. MELCHIORRE:  Good afternoon.  I just have got a couple of questions.  My name is Nick Melchiorre.  I'm external counsel for NOMA, NOACC, and Common Voice Northwest.  Essentially those are the municipalities and Chambers of Commerce in northwestern Ontario.

My first question kind of talks about the universal service fund.  I wanted to ask you if your client has a position on who would administer that fund.

DR. RICHARDSON:  There is no position on who as long as it happens quickly and efficiently and cost-effectively.

MR. MELCHIORRE:  Okay.  I don't know if you had an opportunity to review any of the NOACC's position, but NOACC proposes that a consumer group that would be made up of industry, municipalities, First Nations, the ones that are not involved or currently have natural gas, that they would be the one who administer it.  Would your client have a position on that, against or for that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No position.  But back to the criteria, quickly, efficiently, you know, paying attention to the economics of operating such an entity.

MR. MELCHIORRE:  Okay.  Thank you.


I will move to the next question I have.  With respect to your presentation so far today, you went over in detail some of the residential benefits or the individual benefits of your community if natural gas were to come.  Can you provide us today some detail with regards to your communities on what the impact would be for the economy, being industry and commercial businesses in your communities?

DR. RICHARDSON:  You know, significant.  I mean, take an individual family, right, paying close to one-third of their household income for energy costs.  What else could they do with that money?  What else could they invest it in?  Even if they were to invest it into a home-based business; right?  Outside the energy world, that money can be available to drive other things in those communities, whether it is entrepreneurial activities, social services, education, health, and so forth.  It is a significant amount of money that is leaving the community.  They're never going to use it for anything other than heat costs; right?  If they could apply that wealth to other activities, that would be amazing.  And it is a lot of wealth.

The example I gave you earlier of Walpole Island First Nation, a southern community, being able to save $200,000 from switching from propane to natural gas for their water treatment plant, what can they do with that $200,000 as a community to service their members?  That is a lot of money.

MR. MELCHIORRE:  Just take my question one step further, and it's my last point.  Do you have any specific examples in the communities that, from a commercial or industrial point of view, that, if gas were to come, that a specific project or idea would come to fruition or more likely to come to fruition?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I'm aware of one in the context of
Aroland First Nation.  There is a local mill that the community -- that community and other communities are interested in resurrecting, if you will.

Whatever capital and operating costs could be reduced to enable that resurrection of that mill would be beneficial, and, you know, the capital costs of getting natural gas to that mill and the operating costs of using other forms of energy to keep the mill heated and operating would be substantial with anything other than natural gas.

So, you know, that is a specific case, I think, where access to natural gas would be very beneficial in developing the feasibility study to move such a project forward.

MR. MELCHIORRE:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Melchiorre.


Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I just have a
couple of questions.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you put the map K1.4 back up, please?

My name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm counsel for the Ontario Geothermal Association.  I just have a couple of questions about this.

The seven communities that you represent, are they seven First Nations or seven communities and a smaller number of First Nations?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Seven First Nations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Seven First Nations.  I just want to get my terminology correct.

So, for these communities, can you tell us how far are they from the mainline, each of them, and how far are they currently from the distribution system?  I'm going to ask you to do this by undertaking.  And, in each case, can you also tell us how are they served by electricity?  Are they served from the grid, or are they off-grid?  And is it reliable?  Is the electric service reliable?  Can you do that by way of undertaking?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I can answer the last part of the question fairly easily.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. RICHARDSON:  All of these communities are
grid-connected.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, excellent.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Is it reliable?  No.  Typical power
outages, you know, every month or two, two to three days, a power outage.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is the reason for the electrical power
outages primarily the peakiness of the load?  Is that typically what the problem is?

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm just a little curious as to where this is going.  There is nothing regarding the electricity reliability in the evidence, and so I wonder if we could just ascertain where this is going.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think counsel's question is relevant.  We've presented an option that relies on electricity, low-carbon electricity.  Electricity is clearly relevant.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. DeMarco?

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm certainly not objecting to the relevance to this proceeding, but to this panel's evidence. They don't have any evidence on, I believe, what Mr. Shepherd is asking, unless I mischaracterized the question, which --

MR. SHEPHERD:  My cross-examination, Mr. Chairman, is not limited to their evidence.  It is limited only to the issues in this proceeding and their views on them.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If they don't have a view, or if they can't answer it, Ms. DeMarco, they can certainly let us know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the grid reliability is primarily because it is peaky; right?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I do know something about this.  The grid in at that area was built decades ago and hasn't been upgraded since, and demand has increased.  The system reliability overall is really poor.

The First Nations around Lake Nipigon, as I mentioned earlier, they're all involved in an initiative to try and bring a new 230 kV transmission line to the region.

If you look at photographs of the transmission line from about 60 years ago and you stand in front of that same transmission line today, nothing has changed.

So is it --

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is sort of falling down a little bit; right?

DR. RICHARDSON:  It needs an upgrade.  And if you talk to, you know, anybody from the municipalities up there, the non-Native communities, they will tell you that this is a transmission system that is, you know, one of the -- one of the oldest and least effective in Ontario.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And are the reliability problems primarily in the wintertime, or are they all year round?

DR. RICHARDSON:  All year round.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I would have thought, in the winter, you would have a more weather-related answer, and you would also have a higher peak because of heating.  Is that right?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I spent a lot of time in these communities, and I have experienced power outages every month of the year.  I don't have any data on which months are worse than other months, but I have been there July and August and experienced, you know, power outages that last over a day.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're at the end of the line; right?  So do they have diesel backup typically?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Some of the communities have diesel backup, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And some of them are also putting in
renewable energy, solar and wind?

DR. RICHARDSON:  They're trying where they can, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I get an undertaking for the distance from the mainline and the distribution system for each of the communities?

MS. DeMARCO:  Can I just inquire as to whether or not that knowledge is fully within the --


DR. RICHARDSON:  That would take some considerable
resources, which we don't have.  If the Board is prepared to help, fine.  It might be easier to ask Union Gas if they -- they will have that data at their fingertips.  We don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm a little confused here.  Your evidence is that you can't get gas into these communities right now.  But you don't know how far away you are from the grid?  I don't get that.

DR. RICHARDSON:  I can give you approximate numbers, but I can't give you precise numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you do the best you can and --

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yeah, sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- by way of undertaking and then we can see?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I can tell you right now what I know, if that helps.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Bracket MoCreebec, if you will, and focus on the Nipigon communities.  Aroland is probably, give or take, 50 kilometres away from the TransCanada Mainline and the nearest Union Gas system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So both are at the same place?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Pardon me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Both the Union Gas system and the mainline are in the same place, or they happen to be the same distance?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No.  They're close, but they're not  -- in the Geraldton area, the TransCanada Mainline runs several kilometres north of the town of Geraldton, and the natural gas service that Union Gas provides, I believe, is connected to that, to the mainline.  But the network of pipes in the community is in the town of Gerladton, which is a fair distance away from Aroland.

With the other -- with the Nipigon communities, they're fairly close to the TransCanada Mainline.  I'm not sure how far they are away from Union Gas service, but as you can see by the map, most of them are fairly close except for White Sand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I'm still going to ask for the undertaking and do the best you can in providing us with distances.  I just want to get a sense of how big a problem this is to get natural gas to your communities, how big the cost might be.

And then you said park MoCreebec.  Why?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, MoCreebec is about 250 kilometres north of the TransCanada highway and the mainline.  There is no natural gas service anywhere close to MoCreebec.
One of the things that we're suggesting is that, if you look at alternative technologies other than pipeline, there are examples in other jurisdictions where people are finding fairly effective ways to move natural gas in a liquefied form through truck, rail, shipping.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

DR. RICHARDSON:  So I would suggest that the best
information you're going to get about proximity to existing LDCs for natural gas is to go to the closest LDC and get that information from the LDC.  And they can tell you more about the costs, the geographic considerations.  I don't have that information at hand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I'm still asking you to
undertake -- you have said you want gas in the communities, and I'm asking you to undertake how far away you are from the gas system.  I don't think that is an unreasonable question.

MS. DeMARCO:  I understood the undertaking to be on a best efforts basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is, hmm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  To undertake the distance from the mainline and the distribution system for each of the communities

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In the communities that you are talking about, is there currently commercial and industrial gas loads, currently?  I mean, if gas went there now, are there commercial industrial customers that would use the gas?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And only for space and water heating or other things as well?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Primarily for space and water heating.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And you are anticipating, though, that, at least in some cases, there might be non-heating loads arise, if you like, high-pressure steam, for example, in some communities as a result of new industry.  Is that right?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's entirely possible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, do you know of examples where that would be true?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?  Okay.

You have proposed a universal service fund.  And as of right now, you are proposing a universal service fund within the Board's jurisdiction for gas distribution; right?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are not proposing that it be available for other technologies even if they're better?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, if the Board were to say, "Well, we would like to have a universal service fund, but we think it should be used for conservation as well to insulate the homes so that they use less," would you object to that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  If the Board were to consult with the First Nations and it made sense after that consultation, perhaps.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  You can assume that any of my questions start with the premise, of course, the Board would have to consult with the First Nations.  You don't just do it.  But assuming that, conceptually that makes sense; right?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Honestly, I don't have enough information to say yes or no until we look at -- there could be other -- other issues that come up that I'm not aware of.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I will give you an example.  Suppose the Board said, look -- MoCreebec, for example, Moose Factory Island, very expensive to get gas there.  So suppose the Board said, "We would like a universal service fund, but we want you to be able to super-insulate all your buildings in Moose Factory Island first to reduce your electric load and see how far we get the problem solved.  And we're willing to provide money for that," is that a sensible solution?  Just conceptually, is that a sensible solution?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I can't speculate on that.  I don't have enough information available.  You know, the communities would have to take a good hard look at that to see if it makes sense from their perspective.  There could be all sort of unanticipated consequences of those kinds of initiatives.  I can't speculate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Chief Sault, is conservation a big problem on these communities?  Things like insulation and stuff like that?

MR. SAULT:  Well, if you have been in the communities, you know that it is.  You know that there's problems there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why I asked.

MR. SAULT:  And we want to try and mitigate those as best we possibly can.  And, again, we take our cues from the political bodies in terms of what they want to do.  Politically, they have assemblies to ask those kind of questions as well up in Nishnawbe Aski Nation territory or Treaty 3, wherever the regions are.  So the Chiefs specifically have to speak to those particular issues.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Generally speaking, you started your presentation by talking about the importance to First Nations of your responsibility for the land and the water and the air; right?

MR. SAULT:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is really central to First Nations' culture and ethos, everything; right?

MR. SAULT:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it reasonable to conclude that, all other things being equal, if you can get inexpensive energy, if you can reduce the energy poverty problem, and one way is better for the environment than another way, you would prefer the way that is better for the environment.  All other things being equal?

MR. SAULT:  Again, I keep going back to the whole issue of consultation.  That is an obvious yes to your question, but it's consultation.  Meaningful consultation has to happen with the First Nations here in the province of Ontario.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  The devil is in the details; right?

MR. SAULT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I mean, you can't just say, "Yes, it'll be fine.  Conservation will be fine."  You have to figure out what it really means.

MR. SAULT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's a good direction; right?

MR. SAULT:  Sure, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And my last question is:  It appeared -- you were answering questions from Mr. Elson, and it appeared that you were refusing to say whether you support the government policy on GHG emissions.  And I don't think that is the impression you wanted to leave, so I'm going to ask the question again.


Am I correct that, generally speaking, the First Nations support and you support the direction the government is going to reduce GHG emissions; is that correct?

MS. DeMARCO:  Can I just clarify?  The question, as I understood, that was put to the panel was:  Do they support the specific 2020, 2030, and 2050 targets?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think we went around that, and I think Mr. Shepherd is asking a different question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SAULT:  So for clarity, again, can you restate the question, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  Is it fair to say that, generally, the First Nations and you support the direction of the government in reducing GHG emissions?

MR. SAULT:  What has happened over the last year is that the Government of Ontario has signed a protocol agreement with the Chiefs of Ontario, political protocol agreement with the Chiefs of Ontario, in terms of the direction of whether it is this initiative we're talking about here today or other political initiatives.

So in terms of the question, I can't speak for the Chiefs.  I am not speaking for the Chiefs whatsoever.  So I want to make that very, very clear that I have no voice to speak for the Chiefs in this province.  But specific to your question, yes, they have a protocol agreement with the Province of Ontario working out any details with GHG, low carbon, everything that we're talking about here.  They do have that protocol in place to be able to deal government to government.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was my understanding that, in fact, some of the impetus for the government's direction on GHG came from the First Nations.  The First Nations were pushing for a more environmentally-sensitive approach to emissions.  Am I wrong?  Is that --


MR. SAULT:  Not only the approach, but inclusiveness.  So inclusiveness was the big issue from the Elders and from the First Nations in our traditional territories.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.

MR. SAULT:  And it appears that we're not included in a lot of the processes again, so meaningful consultation needs to happen with whatever direction we take with the government-to-government relationship.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Chief Sault.

And, Mr. Chairman, those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


I believe that is --

MS. BRAZIL:  Chair, we also have a couple of questions, very brief --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MS. BRAZIL:  -- it's the Canadian Propane Association --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, yes.

MS. BRAZIL:  -- and my name is Laura Brazil, counsel.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Brazil::


MS. BRAZIL:  If we could just have the Anwaatin slide deck.  I think it is Exhibit K1.2 and, in particular, page 6.  And my questions will be for Dr. Richardson.


So, Dr. Richardson, I would just like to draw your attention to the graph that is on the right-hand side of the page.  I see that the title is "Winter Energy Bill, Gas or No Gas."  Do you see that there?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MS. BRAZIL:  Okay.  And the green bar, am I correct that it purports to show the monthly costs of natural gas?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.  Based on regular evened-out billing for a typical First Nation household in northern Ontario.

MS. BRAZIL:  Okay.  Now -- and when you say "evened out," do you mean evened out throughout the entire year?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Correct.

MS. BRAZIL:  Okay.  So that would include not just the winter energy bills, but also it is an average that includes summer energy bills?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Correct.  It is depicting the cash-flow impact on a family in the winter months.

MS. BRAZIL:  But then the red line, that shows the energy costs just for the more expensive winter months?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's correct.

MS. BRAZIL:  Now, going back to the green bar that's on the far left, does that include any customer surcharge that would have to be paid?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.  That is all-in cost.

MS. BRAZIL:  By "customer surcharge," I mean, you know, under the proposals that are before the Board, some of them contemplate that there would be an additional charge paid for new customers.

DR. RICHARDSON:  No.  This is the costs people are paying today.

MS. BRAZIL:  Okay.  So that wouldn't include any surcharge or conversion costs?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No.

MS. BRAZIL:  Okay.  But the red line, that purports to show the costs of existing heat sources?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.  At the high end, yes.

MS. BRAZIL:  So, you know, for example, that could be diesel for electricity generation?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No.  Primarily this is electricity, wood fuel, and heating oil.

MS. BRAZIL:  Okay.  But -- so the red line would include the cost of diesel, for example.  It may also include other types of energy sources?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I'm not sure I understand your question.

MS. BRAZIL:  Well, what I'm trying to get at is just to understand what costs have been included in the red line.  So we understand that the green line, it doesn't include things like a surcharge or conversion costs, and so that means it doesn't really include any infrastructure costs for natural gas.  So I'm just trying to understand what's been included in the red bar.

So, for example, would that include something like the cost of flying in diesel?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Okay.  So back to the green bar.  The green bar represents the actual bill that people are paying, which includes whatever costs the Board has approved in there, including the delivery costs from the LDC; right?  This is an all-in cost for whoever receives the bill.

These communities that we represent are not fly-in
communities.  So they're not having diesel flown in for a diesel-powered generator.  These are grid-connected communities that are on the Hydro One network and are paying for their electricity direct from Hydro One, wherever Hydro One generates that electricity.

MS. BRAZIL:  Okay.  So for the electricity example, that is -- the red bar would then show the total cost that is paid by the consumer?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MS. BRAZIL:  Now, can you tell us how much the gas costs would be if it did include some kind of surcharge or take into account infrastructure costs in any way?

DR. RICHARDSON:  You mean in the context of where this
hearing is going?

MS. BRAZIL:  I'm just wondering, if we did include proposed infrastructure costs in the green bar, presumably it would be higher than is shown on this graph.  Is that correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Depends what the Board decides in terms of a mechanism to move access forward.  I'm not sure what the Board may decide.

MS. BRAZIL:  But, directionally, it would have to be higher than is shown in this graph?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Typically, if there was a universal service fund type mechanism, there would be a surcharge.  I'm not sure what that would be.

MS. BRAZIL:  Thank you.  Those are all of our questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Quinn?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Chair, thank you for your indulgence.  This slide came back up again, and when I saw it the first time, I want the record to be clear.

I am just trying to clarify the last part.  The annual gas charges are 750 per year, but you are comparing
them to December to February on a per-month basis.  Would you agree with me that the -- if you are comparing apples to apples in December and February, that $75 per month would not be an appropriate comparison?

DR. RICHARDSON:  This is from the perspective of what a household experiences when they pay their bills, and they look at the cash they've got coming in and the cash that has to go out.  And for the communities that we work with, that's the reality.  They're focused on a cash flow, month-to-month family income reality.  And everybody that I have talked to in the communities that have natural gas use the equalized billing payment process, because they want to manage the cash flow.

And so their experience -- if you ask them, "What did you pay for gas last month?" they will say 70 bucks or $75, because that is what they experience.

The overall cost is $750 per year; right?  If you were not paying that on a regular basis, yes, you are going to see peaks in the winter months.  But the peaks are not going to come close to the peaks that you are seeing with the other forms of heat energy.

MR. QUINN:  So I will ask a different question, then, and leave it at that.  Your graph doesn't compare apples to apples; is that correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  The graph shows what the monthly cash
outflow from a family is in these winter months.  That is what this graph is showing.

MR. QUINN:  Just the winter months?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  I will leave it at that.  Thank you, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.


Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, if I could just note for the record that I don't think we require an answer to undertaking J1.2.  The witness's views on GHG policies have been sufficiently put on the record, so we can retract that undertaking.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I appreciate that, Mr. Elson.  Thank you.

With that, I would rather obviously do the switch at this hour; we will break for lunch.  Why don't we return at ten to two?  We want to keep things moving.

So if 1:50 is a good time to return for everybody, please do.  Thank you very much, witness panel.  Thank you.

MR. SAULT:  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:55 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:53 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Welcome back, witness panel.  Thank you.
ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1 (resumed)
Ian MacPherson,

Steve McGill,

Faheem Ahmad; Previously Affirmed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just a couple of things that I have.  Maybe others may have some preliminary matters, but just the -- there was a question of availability that was raised at the pre-hearing conference from Northeast as to availability of a witness.

And I think, if I understand Mr. Rosenfeld -- Mr. Rosenfeld, I'm just chatting about you here -- things have been worked out to be able to have any questions on the evidence done in writing.  Is that what I understand?

MR. ROSENFELD:  I believe that to be the case.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Thank you very much.

MR. ROSENFELD:  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And just a reminder, it was in the schedule, but just a note that we will be starting at 9:00 a.m. tomorrow morning.  It is a half-day, so what we will have is a break around eleven, and we'll go until one o'clock, with a one o'clock stop.  All right?  Good.

With that, I believe it is Mr. Janigan that will be starting this afternoon.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  I have a compendium that I believe both the witness panel and the Board panel have, and I wonder if I could have that marked as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  COMPENDIUM

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks very much.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:


MR. JANIGAN:  I would like to start in the compendium with page 5 of the compendium, which sets out your evidence, which is also on page 5, where you have provided a response to the idea of a subsidy fund which would be available to any qualified party wishing to expand natural gas service in these gas-challenged communities.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Janigan, I'm sorry to interrupt.  We don't seem to have an electronic version.  Was that circulated --

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  I sent an earlier version that wasn't paginated, and I sent another version that was.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  When was that circulated?

MR. JANIGAN:  Last night.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We will try to find it.  But the panel does have a copy; is that right?  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  That's of the main evidence that is 2016-0004, page 5.

You haven't located it, I guess?  I will push ahead.  Does the witness panel have it?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, we do.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes, we do.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if I could look at paragraph 15.  You raise here a number of questions on how such a fund would work.  I would like to deal with some of the questions that you dealt with.

First, one of the questions you ask is:  What is the basis for any application for funding?  Why wouldn't the basis be identical to whatever modified EBO 188 community expansion policy is arrived at by the Board, if it arrives at a modified policy?

MR. MCGILL:  You're referring to paragraph 15?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  One of the questions you ask:  On what basis would application for funding be considered?  I guess the question is:  Why wouldn't it be the same as the -- any modified rules associated with EBO 188?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think the thing we're trying to drive at there is how could one ensure consistency across applications.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Wouldn't that be up to the rules of the fund?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think there could be rules with respect to the fund.  But, again, how do you test those applications?

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Let me move on with respect to your Table 5, which is set out on page 8 of my compendium.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And here -- let's say, if we took an example of Scugog Island, which is number 2 on that list, and, from that table, it looks like you would require a contribution in aid of construction of $6,189,863 in order to provide service.  Is that correct?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  Under the current EBO 188 guideline, to achieve a project PI of 0.8, we would require the 6.189 million.

MR. JANIGAN:  Let's say another utility -- let's say it was EPCOR -- came to the Board and said, "We can provide service to Scugog at Enbridge's rates, but we need a contribution in aid of construction of $5 million," and the Board administered a fund for that purpose.  Why should the Board not prefer EPCOR's proposal to yours?

MR. MCGILL:  Just one moment.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MCGILL:  Just to clarify something here, the $6.189 million is the contribution required to increase the PI from the 0.58 shown in column 13 for Scugog Island up to the 0.8.  So that's only the incremental portion of the contribution.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But if they increased that, if they came up with that CIAC, you would connect them?

MR. MCGILL:  The 6.189 million?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But let's say, if EPCOR came along and says, "Hey, we can do this for 5 million," why wouldn't the Board take that?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, if EPCOR could achieve a project PI of 0.8, under the EBO 188 guidelines, they wouldn't need any incremental funding from a reserve fund.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But let's assume that they do need a contribution in aid of construction and they need 5 million.  Why wouldn't they prefer EPCOR to you?

MR. MCGILL:  They probably would.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, you also note in the paragraph 15 that -- or actually on paragraph 16 that -- you note some difficulties that you foresee with respect to a third party administering this cost.

Can you tell me what it will cost you to administer a similar program that you implement?  I mean, this won't be cost free for you, presumably.

MR. MCGILL:  Presumably not.  But I'm not anticipating any significant costs with respect to doing what we're proposing to do.  We're not proposing to operate the kind of program that has been proposed -- I hesitate to even call it a proposal by others -- suggested by others in this proceeding.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, I guess we have -- we don't have really any empirical data as to what would it cost for others to administer a third-party program or a program from a competitor and what it is going to cost you to go into these communities, set up accounting processes, monitoring the attachments, all those things that are going to incur costs.

MR. MCGILL:  Those are all things we do today.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But they have a cost to them.  It's not something that's free on board for -- for these communities.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  There would be effort involved, and there would be some costs.  But what we're talking about in paragraph 15 of our evidence is the cost of administering a province-wide expansion reserve, which is something completely different than what it may cost the company in order to operate under the proposal that we have before the Board in this proceeding.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Might it not be more economical for one party -- let's say the OEB -- to administer any loans and grants and assistance of anything that the Board decides that should be done with respect to expansion of service?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, it's difficult for me to answer that question because I have nothing to compare it to.  If the Board were to administer an expansion reserve, as has been suggested, there would be some costs associated with that.

I don't know what other party might administer such a fund; perhaps a branch of the Ministry of Energy.  I have no idea.

MR. JANIGAN:  We don't really have enough information to know whether a utility-administered program or a Board- administered program would be more effective?

MR. MCGILL:  We don't have any dollar amounts on record with respect to either.

MR. JANIGAN:  No.  And you're aware, of course, that the Ontario Energy Board already administers support programs like the Ontario Electricity Support Program, and it already establishes the amounts and the rules for the collection of funds for electricity rural and remote assistance.

Is there any reason that you would think the Board would not be capable in this matter?

MR. MCGILL:  I think the Board would be capable of doing this, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I want to take a look at the
contribution in aid of construction versus your revenue approach.  And once again I want to look at Table 5 on page 8 of my compendium and 27 in your original evidence.

And, once again, as I understand it, if we look at the top item, the community of Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon, my
understanding is that, if they were -- if the community was to come up with the sum of about $11 million for a contribution in aid of construction, that you would be willing to connect them to the distribution system.

MR. MCGILL:  Under the current rules, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Is there somewhere in your evidence where you provide the contribution in aid of construction that would be required to bring all of your projects up to a PI of 1?

MR. MCGILL:  Just give me a moment.

(Witness panel confers)


MR. AHMAD:  In our evidence, we provided the contribution in aid of construction up until a PI of 0.8, not 1.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is it possible to come up with that figure?

(Witness panel confers)

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is possible.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Could I have an undertaking on that, please?

MR. MILLAR:  J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  To undertake to provide the amount of contribution in aid of construction that would be required to bring all projects up to a PI of 1


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.


Now, under your proposal, you would collect about $428 million in SES and ITE charges from the community expansion customers; is that correct?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, it is.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I take it that would be over 40 years for the SES and 10 years for the ITE?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And with that, you would build a total of 410 million in assets?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, that's what we have in the proposal.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, taking again the example of Fenelon Falls, if I were to take, let's say, the 600 -- the 242 potential customers, or the 5,485 forecast customers, and divide that by the CIAC that is required, I would get a figure for your potential customers of about $1,750 and, for the forecast customers, of about $2,000 in order to meet the CIAC.  Is that correct?

MR. MCGILL:  I'm not sure.

MR. AHMAD:  No.  That is not correct, because the CIAC
amount that you see in the table --

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. AHMAD:  -- assumes that we are already given a permission to go over our Enbridge proposal, and this CIAC will be required on top of that for those communities.  So this is not a contribution amount, if we use EBO --
current guidelines of EBO 188.

MR. JANIGAN:  Wait a minute.  I thought -- my understanding was -- and I think what Mr. McGill indicated to me -- that the CIAC required for the current EBO 188 guidelines is 10,000 -- sorry, $10,980,000, so close to $11 million.  Isn't that correct?

MR. AHMAD:  No.  Actually, I think Steve clarified that this amount is based on the -- this amount is in addition to the PI in column number 13.  So it will -- the 10.9 million will bring the proposed PI of 0.7 up to a PI of 0.8.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Then, isn't that the current -- doesn't that reflect the current EBO 188?

MR. AHMAD:  No, it does not reflect the current EBO 188.  Currently, in the EBO 188, the PI number is 0.26, and there will be a higher amount of contribution required.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  What amount of contribution would be required today, per customer, in order to bring it up to the 188 guidelines?

MR. AHMAD:  It depends on the project cost.

MR. JANIGAN:  Let's say for this Fenelon -- this project with respect to Fenelon.

MR. AHMAD:  So I think we have to do calculations.

MR. JANIGAN:  You have to look at --

MR. MCGILL:  We can take an undertaking to do that.

MR. JANIGAN:  What I would like to do is take a look at what the cost today is for the contribution in aid of construction in order to bring this -- bring this project in and the cost per customer in order to bring this project in under the current EBO 188 guidelines.  Okay?

MR. AHMAD:  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  And my understanding is that, under your
proposal, the amount per customer that will be required under that proposal for the period of the program will be close to $27,000 at the end of that program in order to bring connection for these customers plus an additional $440 million that have to be paid by existing customers.

MR. MCGILL:  No, that's not correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MCGILL:  So what we've done here is we've put together 39 community expansion projects based on communities that we had considered in the past.  We've come up with preliminary capital cost estimates that add up to $410 million.  We expect that we would capture approximately 16,000 customers, a little bit more than that.  So if you divide those two numbers out, you're going to come up with a number somewhere around $26,000 ballpark.  We have the exact number in one of the interrogatory responses.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Then if you count the ITE on top of that, it comes out to around $27,000?

MR. MCGILL:  No, no.  You wouldn't count anything on top of that in terms of the capital cost per customer.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, the cost at some point in time per
customer is going to have to be paid.  That is the amount that will have to be paid to bring that project into fruition.

MR. MCGILL:  It will be repaid basically by a number of things: the amounts the customers in the new communities pay under our existing rates. the system expansion surcharge they would pay, and it would be paid partially by the tax relief provided by the ITE, and it would be paid by the subsidy coming from the existing customer base.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Well, let's play in your ballpark and just leave it at the SES and what the individual customer would pay.

What I would like to do is to compare that amount with the amount that would be paid today for the contribution in aid of construction, which is the $111 million divided in the forecast customers, and look at it in terms of what would happen in the event that a fund was available that these customers could borrow a CIAC and how much they would have to pay back at.  Let's say an interest rate that would be equivalent to the Union debt rate.  Do you get where I'm going?  I would like to compare what amount of money it would take to finance a loan for these customers who are going to be paying about $25,000 or $26,000 in order to be connected.

MR. MCGILL:  So I can answer this question at a high level; the numbers won't be exact.  But, today, under EBO 188 --

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. MCGILL:  -- we can afford to spend about $3,800 per customer attachment in terms of capital expenditure.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MCGILL:  Okay?  So we just said the average capital expenditure for one of the customers in these 39 proposed projects would be on the order of $26,000 $27,000, which means you have got a difference there of, let's call it, $22,000 per customer.

So, on average, that's what the capital contribution would be.  So if you do the math, 22 times 16, you're going to come up with the total capital contribution that would be required in order to fulfil this proposal.  And that money would have to come out, I guess, at this suggested fund you are talking about.

MR. JANIGAN:  But let's say -- I mean, what we've done is, when we look at the SES -- or, sorry, when we look at the CIAC cost today that would be required to be paid per customer, it's about $2,000 per customer in order to provide service.

MR. MCGILL:  These customers that we're talking about?

MR. JANIGAN:  LCSA.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. MCGILL:  No.  I just told you it would be about $22,000 per customer.

MR. JANIGAN:  But what you have done is worked that out over that period of 40 years, have you not?

MR. MCGILL:  But everything is taken back to today's dollars through the net present value calculations that's used in the PI calculation.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Well, look, I'm not going to belabour this point, but what I am getting at is that effectively what you have today is a CIAC contribution that is required of about $2,000 per the customers that are forecast, and you're suggesting that, rather than being financed in a way from a loan from a fund, it is better financed by way of your revenue contribution.  And you disagree with that proposition.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I disagree with your numbers, I guess.  Like, I guess this is the third time I've said --

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MCGILL:  -- that, if we were just to try and do this portfolio of customers under EBO 188 today, we would require, on average, because it varies from project to project, but if you were just to look at this as one big project, a capital contribution in aid of construction of about $22,000 per customer.  So you multiply that by 16,000 customers, and that would be the total dollar amount you would have to loan out of this hypothetical fund you're talking about.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MCGILL:  So I don't have a calculator here to do the exact math, but it's a lot more than $2,000 times 16 customers --

MR. JANIGAN:  No, I think we can take those numbers that you have given us and work out the extrapolations I'm seeking.

MR. MCGILL:  Probably in excess of 300 million, you're
looking for.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  In terms of the -- your 39 potential expansion sites, does Enbridge use a cost-estimated classification system with respect to your cost estimates?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, we do.

MR. JANIGAN:  Do you use the AACE cost estimation system?


MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  What class do your estimates fall into?

MR. AHMAD:  Class 4.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And for the Board to approve community expansion projects, what level of detail and certainty should the cost estimates have?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, as I said earlier today, what we would anticipate is, as we vet these projects further and we improve upon the cost estimates and the market forecasts, those figures would be reflected in Leave to Construct Applications that we would bring to the Board for their review and presumably approval, and we would require that leave to construct before we could pursue the projects.

So, you know, that's the propose -- we have indicated that in our evidence that we see that as the process.

So, yes, today we have estimates for these 39 projects.  They're fairly high-level estimates.  Mr. Ahmad just said they were class 4 estimates, and we would be going through the process to make those estimates much more precise before we incorporated them into a leave to construct project.

You have to understand in order to make these estimates better costs a lot of money.  It requires geo-technical surveys.  It requires topographical surveys.  It requires the environmental assessment process to be carried out.  So before we go out and spend hundreds of thousands of dollars to fine-tune these estimates for the other 38 communities on this list, we want to know what regime we're going to be operating under.

MR. JANIGAN:  So you would anticipate that the forecast before it was approved would migrate from class 4 to, let's say, further down the line, from class 3 or class 2?

MR. MCGILL:  I would expect we would try to get it down to class 2 or class 1 before we put numbers into an LTC.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And currently the project definition level, as I understand it, for class 4 is 1 to 15 percent.  Is that correct?

MR. MCGILL:  That, I don't --

MR. AHMAD:  I think it's around 30 percent.

MR. MCGILL:  I think class 4 is higher than that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can you undertake to check that, please?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, we can.

MR. AHMAD:  We have an...


MR. MCGILL:  There may be an interrogatory that speaks to this.

MR. AHMAD:  There is a BOMA -- no, sorry.  It is S3.EGDI.Board Staff.8.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And that gives the figure of 30 percent, does it?

MR. MCGILL:  That's correct.

MR. AHMAD:  No.  It gives the figure of 30 percent.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thirty percent, okay.

Now, earlier in your conversation with Mr. Rubenstein, or it could have been when Mr. Millar -- in any event, you indicated that you did a project for the community of Alfred and Plantagenet in 2008.  I saw in your responses that you did a survey for the Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon community.

MR. MCGILL:  The market survey?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. MCGILL:  I think we filed that in response to a Schools interrogatory.  That survey was conducted -- it was Fenelon Falls, a place called Kinburn, Fitzroy Harbour, which is northeast of Ottawa, and another town called Eganville, which is east of Ottawa, I guess, maybe 50 or 60 miles.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Was this the same survey that you used for Alfred and Plantagenet?

MR. MCGILL:  No.  This was a survey that was -- it was a telephone survey done on our behalf by Ipsos-Reid in the fall of 2015.

MR. JANIGAN:  So you had a new methodology to forecast attachments in this case?

MR. MCGILL:  The survey results informed us with respect to our expectations around customer capture.  So I'm not sure what survey may or may not have been done back in 2006 probably with respect to Alfred and Plantagenet.

MR. JANIGAN:  But it was different than that?  It's the survey that basically constitutes the methodology that you used to forecast customers?

MR. MCGILL:  The survey results inform our estimate of customer capture.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  A little earlier you've indicated that, I believe, in an exchange -- and I can't recall who you had the exchange with -- that the $24 minimum rate for a contribution from existing customers was derived as a result of the $2 charge associated with DSM.  Am I correct on that?

MR. MCGILL:  Again, we were using the $2 per customer per month or $24 per customer per year with respect to a limit on DSM funding as a guideline, again, to inform the development of our proposal.

MR. JANIGAN:  As I understand today, you have indicated that your forecast is $12 rather than $24?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  Based on the analysis of the 39 projects that we have before you now, yes, including the implications of LNG, it works out to be just over $12 a year.

MR. JANIGAN:  How firm is that estimate?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, as I said, it's based on the preliminary cost estimates for these projects and the customer capture estimates that we have used in the analysis.  So it's as firm as those numbers are.

So, you know, we just talked about class 4 capital expenditure estimates that have a 30 percent contingency built into them, so, you know --


MR. JANIGAN:  If that number goes upwards, it will not exceed the maximum, however; is that correct?  The $24 maximum that you have indicated?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, we have designed the program such that we don't believe that we would impinge upon the $24 a year maximum.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  As I understand it, looking at the LNG component of your community expansion, as I understand it, your proposed LNG projects will not be connected in any fashion with existing distribution facilities.  Is that correct?

MR. MCGILL:  No.  The nature of a LNG supply would be that there would not be a pipeline connection to the company's existing gas distribution facilities.

What there would be -- what we're proposing is that we would acquire the LNG from a third party.  That supply would be transported to these communities by truck.  There would be a decanting station located on typically the periphery of the community, and then where the liquefied gas would be re-gasified, odourized, and injected into a distribution system that would carry the gas as a vapourous form to the customers in that community.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, one of the external benefits that usually is available in the expansion of a network system to existing customers is the benefits of being involved in an integrated system that is being expanded.  I take it none of those benefits will be present with respect to your proposal?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, in terms of benefits to being attached to an integrated system, I guess there's some of those benefits associated with our gas storage assets, our ability to contract on upstream pipelines, things like that.
Those benefits, under our proposal, would be conveyed to the people in the new communities, because we are proposing that the incremental cost of the LNG be socialized amongst all of our customers.

MR. JANIGAN:  But existing customers would get no additional benefits?

MR. MCGILL:  Not beyond the type of stage 3 benefits we talked about earlier.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And LNG, I assume, is sold at a premium over natural gas because you have to liquefy it.  Is that correct?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  There are steps in the process to liquefy the gas, and there's costs associated with that process, and the parties that liquefy gas need to recover those costs in the fees they charge for it.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the existing customers will be subsidizing that premium, I take it, under your proposal?

MR. MCGILL:  In our proposal, that's correct, as an
alternative to building a gas transmission main.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now on page 32 of my compendium, it sets out -- in the responses to VECC interrogatory 3, it sets out the differences between Union and Enbridge's proposal.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the principal difference appears to be the length of the expansion surcharge and the lower PI projects Enbridge is proposing to let into its portfolio.  Is that correct?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  Yes, we are proposing that the surcharge run for up to 40 years or until the PI of the portfolio exceeds 1 --

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MCGILL:  -- and that we would entertain projects with an individual project PI of less than 0.4 within that portfolio.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MCGILL:  Again, provided that the overall portfolio PI doesn't fall below 0.5.

MR. JANIGAN:  And as I understood from your earlier
response, that the reason these changes have been proposed,
because none of the 39 proposed projects would fit into -- under Union's policy proposal?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think that is evident from what was set out in Table 5 that we were looking at a little while ago.  If you look at the normal PI, they range from, I guess, 0.26 to 0.11, I think.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  In the end, I assume that that means existing customers of Enbridge will pay more to attach the few thousand customers than the ratepayers of Union Gas?

MR. MCGILL:  That could be the case, depending on the costs of Union's projects and the revenue streams that are derived from them.

MR. JANIGAN:  What would be the response of the Board to one of your customers complaining that they're not just paying for the benefit of other customers and to your shareholder for an increased rate base, but they're also paying more than the other utility?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, like, I think -- as a starting point, I don't know that there is any requirement that the rates of Enbridge and Union Gas or Kitchener Public Utilities or NRG have to be the same across the province.

The second thing, I guess -- and I intimated again with respect to this earlier today -- is that we operate under a postage-stamp rate.  We don't have a custom one-off rate for every customer based on that particular customer's cost of service.

So intended in that is a degree of cross-subsidization across all of the rate classes.

The other thing, there is another interrogatory response we answered.  For the last 15 years, all but one of those years, we have been running the investment portfolio at well above a PI of 1.0 to the accumulated value of about $650 million of net present value that new customers have been subsidizing existing customers to the tune of.

So when you look at this thing overall, what we're trying to do is land on a reasonable compromise that allows us to expand the system, puts a reasonable burden on the customers that we're adding through that process, and doesn't put an undue burden on existing customers.

MR. JANIGAN:  Do you think it's a good idea for regulatory policy in this area to be different between the two main utilities?

MR. MCGILL:  I don't really want to comment on that.  I think that's up to the Board to decide.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MCGILL:  I think we have presented a framework here that could apply across any gas utility in the province.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn up page 36 of my compendium, and here there is a response to a number of utilities.
You provide responses that -- and I’m paraphrasing here, but it implies that there are subsidies to these 39 projects in the early years, and there are benefits to them in later years -- benefits flowing from them in later years.

Are you suggesting that somehow these projects with PIs of 0.5 or less will somehow change to PIs of 1 or more?

MR. MCGILL:  What the PI test does, as we apply it today, using the EBO 188 rules, is that, if a PI -- a project PI of 1 or greater is achieved, it means that, within the 40-year time horizon of that calculation, because you are taking discounted cash flows as your revenue stream over the 40 years, that that sum of -- that net present value sum of revenues is greater than the capital cost to the project.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MCGILL:  Okay.  So when the PI is less than 1, what it means is that that capital cost, on a net present value or present-value basis, isn't being captured within that 40-year time horizon.

But what that calculation doesn't take into account is are there additional customers added beyond the ten-year time horizon that we account for the customer capture in.  It doesn't account for additional load growth in those communities.  And it doesn't account for, to some extent, spreading fixed costs of operating the business out over a larger customer base.

So it is a measure, but it's not an all-encompassing
measure of the impact of these projects.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, in summary, is what you're saying that the effect on rates is higher at the beginning of the period and lower at the end of the period when the asset depreciates?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, yes.  Well, in terms of almost any
project -- so I think there is another question we answered.  The average cost of adding a new construction customer last year was $1,700.  Okay?

In our evidence, we have an annual average gas bill of $949.  So that means that that 17 -- so even for the most profitable customers, we add -- we don't start -- we don't pass break-even on them for about two years.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MCGILL:  Okay.  So the more it costs to add a customer, the longer that break-even period is.  So almost every customer we add is being subsidized for some period of time.

MR. JANIGAN:  But at some point in time, they cross over and become a net benefit to Enbridge.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, that's right.  And even in the case of this set of 39 projects -- I'm trying to remember which table it's in the evidence.  I think it is Table 7 or 8 -- we show that, in the ninth year, they cross over and that they -- their net -- or their incremental cost begins to exceed their incremental revenue requirement, and that is when they start to contribute towards profitability as opposed to detract from it.

MR. JANIGAN:  I mean, what happens when the asset needs to be replaced?  Do we start all over again?  Do they have to be replaced in uneconomical circumstances?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, by the time the asset needs to be
Replaced, it should be fully depreciated.  So its cost has been fully absorbed through the charges that the company has charged the customers, the revenues we have collected, and, at that point in time, when that asset has to be replaced, you're basically, in some respects, starting over again.

But you are building -- you are replacing something that already exists.  The customer base to support it already exists.  It is a different proposition.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, is the idea that there is a crossover and that the project becomes a net benefit to Enbridge at some point in time?  Is that already incorporated in your proposal or acknowledged in your proposal?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, I think it is acknowledged there.  I think, you know, under the current project PI calculation that discounts cash flows over 40 years, what it is telling us, if the PI is less than 1, you're not recovering 100 percent of the capital costs in less than 40 years.  It's not to say that you're not going to recover them beyond that 40-year period of time.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn up page 41 of my compendium.  And here, in response to Schools 11, you were asked:  If natural gas is such a winner compared to the alternatives, what is going on in New Brunswick?  And I believe your response says there are differences, and then you give the prices on your last QRAM.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  What is the big difference between the price of natural gas in Ontario and New Brunswick and the alternative fuels that makes Ontario different from New Brunswick?

MR. MCGILL:  My friend Mr. MacPherson will help me out with that.

MR. MACPHERSON:  Okay.  Subject to check, there's some different mechanisms that work in the province of New Brunswick.  And I think some of them are even changing now.  But one of them that was important is there is a rate-setting methodology that tied the price of natural gas in the province to the price of oil.  That was one part of it.  So there is a difference in how the energy prices are set.  Where we have a quarterly adjustment mechanism that actually reflects real costs or forecasted costs in our franchise, theirs is set artificially.

The other part is there is a difference in how the distribution rates are set, and there is a much more complex and -- a way of doing it.  They have -- and there is different application of commercial industrial customers, which are not included in the composition of the entire franchise, where we have a -- we include all classes of customer:  power, residential, industrial.  They don't have the same kind of method.

So I think it would be quite challenging to try to compare and differentiate between the two things.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can you do a comparison table similar to what you've set out in this SEC 11 for New Brunswick?

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I'm really not sure how that's going to be helpful to the Board in setting a framework in this proceeding.  The situation in New Brunswick is so different from Ontario from the perspective of introduction and acceptance of natural gas that it could almost be seen as a complete opposite from the province of Ontario.  I can't see how any of this comparison to New Brunswick is going to help the Board in this case.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, Mr. Cass, I think the nature of the question is getting at the dependability of the forecasting, and I think the question did come up this morning earlier in evidence that there is a certainty that could be lent to that, and empirical evidence is such that it is, and we're looking at, okay, so what causes the differences in the dependability of forecasting, and I think that --

MR. CASS:  That's fine, Mr. Chair.  If that is what you want, then the undertaking could be provided, and there would have to be an explanation of the differences between New Brunswick and Ontario, because it is simply not a comparable situation.  The forecasting in New Brunswick, which was a GreenField introduction of gas into a province that had not had gas distribution before, compared to Ontario, where gas, as we all know, has a very high acceptance level, it's not really comparable.

So the answer can be given with the caveats, if that is helpful to the Board.

MR. JANIGAN:  I would be happy with the table and whatever editorial comment that Enbridge would like to make.


MR. MACPHERSON:  If I could just add one more comment.  I mean, on an absolute basis, it's fuel competition difference.  All those things I mentioned before add up to very tight and a very competitive market in the province of New Brunswick versus Ontario.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think Mr. Janigan is just trying to get that on the record.

MR. MACPHERSON:  We can do that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE THE TABLE AND ANY EDITORIAL COMMENTS.


MR. MCGILL:  I think another point, if the concern is what ultimate customer capture is today in the areas we serve, if we have a gas main across the system, you know, 97 percent -- over 90 per cent of the potential customers are attached to that system.

So that, if that is what you are worried about forecasting, because of some of the things that have happened in New Brunswick, you know, there's a -- like Mr. Cass said, it's a very different situation here.  We almost have 100 per cent of the market today.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think we have to remember what we're doing here.  I think it is not a matter of us worrying about anything right now.  It is a matter of gathering information that could assist us in building a framework.  It's likely going to be a long-term framework, and we're talking about a lot of -- we're doing a lot of crystal-balling here.

So if something were coming into the Ontario market that is going to resemble something that already exists in New Brunswick, then we would be interested in that.  We would be interested in that.

So I think this isn't a matter of comparing, as we normally would, as, okay, dependability of a forecast for a leave to construct.  We're not there.  We are looking at a framework, and I think these type of high-level comparisons would be informative in building a long-term framework.

So that is where the Board's interest is, where the Board's interests lie.


So if that assists in formulating your answer, that is what we're after.  It's not a -- and, Mr. Janigan, I will accept that you are not looking for a testing of a forecast as though this was a leave to construct.  We're looking at building frameworks here.  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  I believe you gave me an undertaking number, Mr. Millar?

MR. MCGILL:  So just to be clear, I would like to know exactly what it is we're being asked to compare.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  All I would like is to possibly do the same table that you did in this -- in your answer to this interrogatory for New Brunswick.

MR. MCGILL:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Finally, with respect to page 43 of my compendium, with respect to your response to Energy Probe interrogatory 4, with respect to the value of competitive entry for franchises, I take it your response to be that you can't say that it's bad, and you can't say that it's good.  Is that essentially correct?

MR. MCGILL:  I think that's pretty much what we said on the interrogatory.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Microphone, sir.

MR. MCGILL:  Oh, sorry.  Yes, I think that's basically what we said in this interrogatory response.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And what would Enbridge's position be if the Board were to create a fixed subsidy, however that is done, either with government loan or grant money, then put out to tender for a proposal while at the same time mandated transmission main expansion with compensation for the nearest LDC?

MR. MCGILL:  So when you say "put out a proposal," proposal for what exactly?

MR. JANIGAN:  For whoever can supply distribution of natural gas based on that fixed subsidy.

MR. MCGILL:  Again, I think we would have to see the details of that kind of proposal and analyze it in order to come up with some kind of reasonable response.

I think it's -- at this stage, you know, the way the question has been put to me, it's just not defined well enough that we could do that.

MR. JANIGAN:  I understand.  Thank you very much, panel, for your patience.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Janigan, thank you very much.


I believe, Mr. Vellone, you are up next.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much, panel.  I have maybe one line of questioning.  I don't expect I will be longer than five minutes or so.
Cross-Examination by Mr.  Vellone:

MR. VELLONE:  I think the easiest way to branch into this, because Board Staff spoke to it this morning, I think it was an exchange between Mr. Millar and Mr. McGill where Mr. Millar was asking about whether or not Enbridge believed that there was merit to adding off-ramps to franchise agreements.  And I believe the response from the witness panel was no, and I believe, in addition, that there was reference to certificates of Public Convenience and Necessity expiring after a year.  Do you remember that exchange?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, I do.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  I'm representing a few different
municipalities, so I just wanted to explore that response from the perspective of those municipalities.

The municipalities would be party to a franchise agreement with the utility that has a term of 20 years.  Is that fair to say?

MR. MCGILL:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And then the certificate of public convenience and necessity is something the utility would obtain from the Energy Board; correct?

MR. MCGILL:  Correct.

MR. VELLONE:  So the fact that the Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity itself expires doesn't affect that underlying franchise agreement that has a term of 20 years; correct?

MR. MCGILL:  I'm not sure to what extent the term of the two documents would interact with each other.  I think -- my understanding is that nothing really happens without the certificate, and that is what really gives the utility the authority or the permission to actually build assets or connect customers in an area.  So I think the two things are related, but that without having a certificate in place, nothing can happen.  So of the two documents, I would suggest that the certificate probably has, in some respects, more weight, and more weight probably with respect to actually getting service into the community.

I've never experienced a situation where at least our
organization has gone through that process and then not followed through and built the facilities.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  So you're saying -- so my line of
questioning is really about that circumstance where nothing does happen, where a franchise agreement is entered into and then, for one reason or another, the project ends up not being economically viable and nothing happens.

You're saying that is outside of your realm of experience.  I appreciate that.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I'm saying that, in my experience, I don't think we've ever encountered that.

I think the way the process works is that the franchise agreement is entered into, a Leave to Construct Application is made to the Board, and if the applicant for that leave to construct doesn't get leave, then the project can't go forward.

So when you look at the process, the franchise agreement comes first.  You don't really know whether you are going to have leave to construct until after that.

So I think it's almost an open question as to what happens to the franchise agreement if leave to construct is not achieved and a certificate isn't granted.  I think that would be probably open for the parties to come back to the Board and try to determine a way to go forward.  I don't know if that has ever happened before.

MR. VELLONE:  That's helpful.  That's what I was looking for, so thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.


Mr. King, sorry, I don't have your colleague's name.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Mr. Duncanson.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Duncanson.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Good afternoon.  I'm not sure if the witnesses can see me; I'm hiding behind the pillar, not by design.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We can take a minute to relocate you, Mr. Duncanson.  I think you're at a bit of a disadvantage if we can't see each other.

MR. DUNCANSON:  I can see two of the three witnesses.  So that’s good enough for me for now.  The good news is that our time estimate, I think, was one to two hours.  I think Mr. Millar actually covered a lot of the ground I was hoping to, so I expect I will be quite a bit under my time estimate.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Duncanson:

MR. DUNCANSON:  So, witnesses, I would like to pick up on Table 5 in your evidence, and we were there a minute ago.  This is at -- this is at Exhibit R-3, page 27, and it is the PDF page 28.  So it's there on the screen.
You were talking a minute ago about the column 14, the contribution in aid of construction that would be required from each community to get up to the level of 0.8, which is the current threshold in the guidelines.

I’m just curious.  I mean, given the extent of benefits that you are expecting will result from converting over to natural gas, have you actually gone out to meet with each of these communities or talk with them and explain those benefits and see whether that level of contribution is something that they would be willing to
make?

MR. MCGILL:  The capital contributions shown on this table?

MR. DUNCANSON:  Yes, the CIAC in column 14.

MR. MCGILL:  No, we haven't spoken to representatives of the communities with respect to those amounts.

Having said that, there is a number of communities where we have gone through the process of giving them a preliminary assessment, determining what the capital contribution would be, and once that's communicated back, the projects don't go forward.

I had one I was looking at a few weeks ago where the
construction cost estimate came in.  I think it was around 28 -- roughly 25 customers, and the cost estimate came in at around $1 million, or around $900,000.  The capital contribution came in at $800,000.  We communicated that back.  Nothing's transpired since, simply because those contributions are so high.

So that's the reason -- that's the main reason why we
haven't gone to these communities already.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  Fair enough.  I would like to turn now to another topic you were just talking about.  This is at paragraph 11 of your evidence, which is at page 4, PDF page 5.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  So here, in this section of your evidence, you are actually responding to EPCOR's proposal, I believe, and you are discussing the profitability curve that you were just talking about a minute ago, that over time there is a cross over from cost to revenue.  You ultimately start getting a net benefit to Enbridge and the existing customers.  I believe the point you are trying to make here is that that opportunity would be denied to Enbridge's existing customers with EPCOR's proposal.  And I
don't think my client, Parkland, would disagree with that.

But I am interested in the last sentence of this paragraph, which says that:
"At some point in the future, customers of the utility that received the subsidy would need to return these amounts to customers of the utilities that originally paid them in order to be fair to customers that had helped fund the extension of service to them..."


Do you see that?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, I do.

MR. DUNCANSON:  So your evidence is that, in order to be fair, if existing customers are providing a subsidy, that amount should be returned to them through incremental revenues over time?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, that's the point, that once the project -- once the incremental revenues of a project begin to exceed the incremental costs, that at some point, in order to be fair to the customers that originally funded that project, there should be a return of their contribution to them, which is what happens with respect to customers that are all served by the same entity.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Right.  And would it be fair to say that the current EBO 188 guidelines are intended to ensure exactly that, that if existing customers do provide an initial subsidy, that subsidy is eventually returned to them through incremental revenue?

MR. MCGILL:  I don't know if EBO 188 was intended to do that, but I believe that that is the effect of EBO 188 as it works today.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

If we could turn now, panel -- and I am still in your
evidence.  I'm looking at paragraph 46 now, which is at page 15, and that is Adobe or PDF page 16.

MR. MCGILL:  That was paragraph 46?

MR. DUNCANSON:  Forty-six.

MR. MCGILL:  Okay.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Are you with me?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  So here, this is the first paragraph where you are discussing Enbridge's community expansion proposal.  And you discuss that you're estimating cost savings on average of $1,700 per customer per year if they convert over to natural gas and conclude at the end of that paragraph that, based on all of this information, you believe that there are ample opportunities for potential customers in areas where there is no natural gas service available at present to benefit from a conversion to natural gas from alternate fuels.  Is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think the paragraph says exactly what it says, that given the expected average cost of conversion of approximately $3,500, there are ample opportunities for potential customers located in communities where natural gas is currently not available to benefit from the conversion to natural gas from alternate fuels.  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  And then you provide a table, which I think essentially provides the support for that paragraph.  This is Table 1.  And my client, Parkland, is particularly interested in the propane business that it operates in.

So you show there that propane, according to your information, has achieved a penetration rate of on average 43 percent, which is much higher than any of the other alternate fuels.  You show there what you believe the annual bill looks like for propane, which is $2,582.  Is that right?


MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  And we asked you an interrogatory about how you came up with that number.  Took me a little bit of work, to be honest, to figure it out.  But I believe that that comes from your Ipsos-Reid study that you have referred to a few times today.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  And that is attached to your response to SEC interrogatory 6.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DUNCANSON:  So maybe if we could just pull it up.  I'm looking specifically at PDF page 38 of that document.  It's Exhibit S3.EGDI.SEC.6.

MR. MCGILL:  Just give me a moment.  Oh, we have it on the screen, so I will leave the book behind.  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  So you were speaking about this study a minute ago.  Like you said, this was a telephone survey that you had Ipsos-Reid conduct on your behalf in select communities across Ontario.

And at the bottom of this slide, you see the question that was put to these survey participants over the phone, which was:  Approximately how much do you think you spent on heating in 2014?  Is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  And based on the information that you got from the propane customers that you talked to or that Ipsos-Reid talked to, the average is $2,582?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  And that is where the number came from in your evidence?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, it did.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  Now, panel, presumably, being in the natural gas business, you're aware that 2014 was a year that saw unusually high fuel costs for fuels such as natural gas and propane because of unusually cold winter weather.  Are you aware of that?

MR. MCGILL:  I'm aware that the commodity prices increased in 2014, yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  But if we go back to your evidence, that Table 1 --

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  -- and you are comparing that 2,582 that your phone survey participants gave you to what you say is your annual bill for natural gas, the numbers you used for natural gas actually came from your actual rates in October 2015.  Is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  And would it be fair to say that fuel costs were lower then than they were in 2014?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MACPHERSON:  The way the higher costs that were realized in Enbridge in 2014 were cleared was through a deferral account that was modified in the QRAM process with the Board and cleared over a period of 24 months.  So this had the effect of levellizing those rates.  So I think, to some extent, the rates were a little bit lower in 2015, but not materially different than they were in 2014.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

My understanding was Enbridge had to have a rate decrease that came into effect just before October 2015.  Is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  That may be the case, but I think what Mr. MacPherson is trying to get at is that our QRAM process for setting gas costs has a true-up mechanism associated with it.  So the higher gas costs that were indicative in 2014 are still being collected from customers in our rates, and that's reflected in the $949 you see here.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  Panel, I would like to turn now -- I'm still in the same line of questioning, but to the CPA's evidence in this proceeding, if you have access to that.  I believe that's Exhibit R-2.  I'm looking at PDF page 176 of that document.

MR. MCGILL:  Okay.  We've got it.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Yes, right there.  So Figure 1.  So this is providing, in the green line, CPA's consultant showed actual residential propane costs relative to other fuels based on data that was provided from CPA's members, and you can see there that, in 2014, it turns out those phone survey participants were fairly accurate.  The costs were right around $2,500 per year for them in 2014.  But then they dropped off considerably in 2015.

Do you see that?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  And you were actually asked an interrogatory from Schools to take the information from this figure and apply your proposed surcharge and calculate what the cost savings would be.  Sorry.  It wasn't the Schools.  It was FRPO.  It is interrogatory 8.  So Exhibit S3.EGDI.FRPO.8.  It is on PDF page 9 of that document.

So if you scroll down, you can see there in the shaded line that is essentially taking the same information that we were looking at from Table 1 in your evidence, swapping out the information from actual residential propane here, and it shows that, when you take into account your proposed SES surcharge, you are only projecting cost savings of $149 per year.  Is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  Would it be fair to say, panel, that if actual cost savings from switching from propane to natural gas were only about $150 per year you would likely see far lower conversion rates than what you are putting forward in your evidence?

MR. MCGILL:  Possibly.  But a couple of things to consider:  Like, if you go back to your chart that we just looked at, and if you were to average the cost of natural gas and propane over a ten-year period you show on the chart, you would probably see a much bigger differential.

So if you wanted to try and normalize the difference in costs, I think you would find that the gas savings are probably on the order of 1,000 or more dollars a year on average over that period of time.

Another thing to consider is, as well, when one considers the cost of converting from one fuel type to another, they would also be taking into account the age of their equipment.  So given that the life span of a furnace is typically about 20 years, if I'm living in a house and I have a 20-year-old furnace, I know I'm going to have to bear the cost of replacing that sometime within the next year or two anyway.

So, really, when that person is considering converting over to natural gas and the cost of buying that new furnace, the cost is really zero to them, because they have to replace their furnace sooner or later anyway.

Based on the Ipsos-Reid study, the average age of equipment for the survey customers was about ten years.  On average, most of these customers will have to replace their equipment in ten years anyway, and that has a bearing on the conversion -- how the conversion costs should be viewed and how the pay-back periods around the conversion should be viewed.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Thanks for that.  I guess my question is really just more of a conceptual one, which is that, if your actual cost savings between propane or any other alternate fuel and natural gas are lower than what you have put forward in your evidence, you would expect that, directionally, the number of people that would elect to switch over would decrease.  Is that fair?

MR. MCGILL:  If the price differential narrows, that would probably tend to be the case.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  You talked a little bit this morning with Mr. Millar about your assumptions around how many people would actually switch over, and I believe your assumption was 75 percent of potential customers in a particular market would convert over the first ten years; is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  I circulated an aid to cross-examination late yesterday afternoon.  Did you get that, witnesses?  It is just a one-page, very simple spreadsheet.

MR. MCGILL:  I think I recall it now, yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Does the Panel have that as well?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm not so sure that we have it or that we can put it up.  Can we?

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If it's on the screen, we don't need it.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Perfect.

MR. QUESNELLE:  With the caveat we can make it a little bigger.

[Laughter]

MR. DUNCANSON:  So I'm not sure you would really need to get into that fine print, which is just, I think, an image right from Enbridge's evidence.  And I think I can speak to this at a fairly high level, and it could be a very simple clarification.

But when we went through Enbridge's evidence, witnesses, we saw in Table 3 -- I don't think we need to go there, but we can if you'd like -- you provide there for each of the 39 projects the potential customers associated with those projects.

And at the bottom of the aid to cross-examination that I circulated, in somewhat larger font, the number of potential customers from that table adds up to 20,490.

And then -- so it's actually down farther on the page, and if you scroll over to the right.  Yes, it is that 20,490.  And that comes from adding up the potential customers for each of the 39 projects that are represented in column 3 of Table 3 of Enbridge's evidence.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Then we compared that to the small print on this aid, which is just a reproduction of Table 9 from the evidence, and we look at the number of actual connections that are being added in years 1 through 10.  And you will see there we took the fine print and reproduced it in Excel right below the table; that is what those larger numbers are.  It's just the same information that's in the fine print above.

We added all of those up and got 16,246.  And if you divide one by the other, you get to a conversion rate of 79.2 percent.

MR. AHMAD:  Hmm-hmm, yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  So I'm just wondering -- I'm not a math expert by any means, but are we missing something here, or is there a clarification?

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah.  Actually, I will take you to the Enbridge evidence, Table 5, to answer this question.

Basically, the 75 percent penetration rate is for existing homes.  So in two projects at least -- Fenelon Falls, Bobcaygeon, and Skugog Island -- we are also expecting new growth, new subdivision customers.

So for those customers, the penetration rate is expected to be 100 percent.  So that is why you are not getting exactly the 75 percent.  So the 100 percent growth in the new construction market, that is making it a little higher.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  I think I understand that.  You're saying, for existing homes and businesses, 75 percent will convert over.

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, exactly.

MR. DUNCANSON:   And, for new growth, you're expecting in these communities -- you anticipate that 100 percent will convert over.

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, exactly.

MR. MCGILL:  That's correct.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

I think you covered this off this morning, but I just want to be clear.  There was some discussion about risk and who is bearing certain risks associated with these expansion projects.  There was discussion around the risk if your forecasts turn out to be overly optimistic.  There has been some discussion about, you know, cost overruns, what if your projects are actually more expensive than you think they're going to be.  Another risk would be customers do elect to switch over to natural gas, and because of the provincial climate change plan or any other reason, they elect to subsequently switch away from natural gas before the economic life of these projects ends.

And I think, based on what I heard this morning, it's fair to say that that risk is also borne by the existing customers on Enbridge's system, not Enbridge itself or its shareholders.  Is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  Under the current rate-setting regime, that would be correct.

A couple of things to bear in mind, though:  that with
respect to price differentials between heating oil and propane and natural gas, they are expected to widen as a result of the implementation of cap and trade, because both of those fuels have a higher carbon footprint as compared to natural gas.

With respect to electricity, when you consider that electricity generated at peak or at the margin is generated using natural gas as a fuel, there is also a strong argument that natural gas is a more carbon-friendly alternative to electricity when it's viewed on that basis.  So the likelihood of losing market share as a result of cap and trade, certainly compared to propane and oil, is not that likely.

MR. DUNCANSON:  So I take it that that is your position.
Just a quick question, I think, for you with respect to greenhouse gas emissions.  If I could take you to paragraph 38 of your evidence, PDF page 13.  Just in the first sentence in that paragraph, it states:

"In the case of heating oil, diesel fuel for vehicles, and propane, natural gas provides a carbon reduction benefit."
Do you see that?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, I do.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Just to clarify, I think what you're
talking about here is, if you compare the emissions associated with combustion of natural gas to the emissions associated with combustion of these other fuels, there's a carbon benefit if you combust natural gas.  Is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Is it also fair to say that this statement does not take into account potential emissions upstream of combustion, such as venting?

MR. MCGILL:  No, this statement does not take that into account.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  So I'm nearing the end actually, panel.  This has been very helpful.

Two further questions:  First, there was discussion just a minute ago about how additional load growth in a market beyond that ten-year forecast period is not accounted for in EBO 188; is that right?


MR. MCGILL:  It's not accounted for in the PI calculations in EBO 188; that's correct.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Right.  And I think you've made that point before, that that's a potential benefit, if you can call it that, to existing customers, which is that, if you end up connecting additional customers than you are forecasting today, in the future, then that would generate incremental revenue, and that would be beneficial; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  You would have more participants contributing to the cost of the project.

MR. DUNCANSON:  And so essentially what you're saying here is that -- I mean, you're already expecting 75 percent of potential customers are going to switch over to natural gas.  What you're suggesting is that, if, in fact, even more than that switch over, then that would generate incremental revenues.  But just so that we're clear, even if you achieved 100 percent conversion in the markets that you are presenting in your evidence, that still wouldn't take you close to a PI of 1.0; right?

MR. MCGILL:  We would have to go back and do the calculation, but I would be surprised if that, indeed, were -- I would be surprised if we were able to achieve a PI of 0.1 if we had 100 percent capture.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Maybe just to complete the record, could you undertake to do that?  It's just a confirmation that, even if you were to assume 100 percent conversion, you still would not achieve a PI of 1.0 for any of the 39 projects.

MR. MCGILL:  Just give me a moment.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MCGILL:  We will undertake to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO CONFIRM THAT EVEN IF YOU WERE TO ASSUME 100 PERCENT CONVERSION, YOU STILL WOULD NOT ACHIEVE A PI OF 1.0 FOR ANY OF THE 39 PROJECTS.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Thank you.


Just a few final questions, and this is from -- I'm going to go back to CPA's evidence.  If you go to PDF page 77 of that document, yeah, this is a speech from the president of Enbridge Gas Distribution in June 2013 to the Ontario Energy Network; is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  That's what it looks like.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  If you turn to PDF page 81 of the document -- this is page 5 of the speech -- there is a line on the right-hand side of the screen, which is the paragraph I'm interested in.

And the president of the company says:
"To be clear, we're not proposing to extend the gas grid to all rural areas in Ontario.  What I am suggesting is that we look at opportunities where natural gas makes economic sense."


Do you see that?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, I do.

MR. DUNCANSON:  And, in your view, panel, do the 39 projects that you are putting forward today make economic sense?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think I have to go back to the reason we're here to begin with.  The reason we're here, to begin with, is because the province, through the Ontario Energy Board, has asked us to try and find ways to extend gas service to unserved communities.


On a purely economic basis that may not make sense, in terms of the discounted cash flow analysis that we use in EBO 188, or as it is defined in EBO 134, without looking beyond at the more -- at the societal benefits that EBO 134 took into account.

So notwithstanding what Mr. Jarvis said three or four years ago, we're in a different environment today.  We have been asked to try and find ways to extend service to these communities, and that's what we're here to do.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Right.  Even if it does not make economic sense.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I would suggest that economic sense is in the eye of the beholder.  I think it must be making sense to someone in the province if they have asked the Board to conduct this kind of proceeding.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  Just last question:  You see the next paragraph in the same speech, just a very short sentence, it states, "The government should not pick the fuel."  And you see that repeated again on the next page.  I don't think we need to go there.  Why don't we do -- just so that we're complete.

So I'm looking here on PDF page 82, the same speech.  It's the very last paragraph on the page, and Mr. Jarvis states:

"To reiterate, I'm not suggesting that the government pick the fuel.  Natural gas should be considered fairly alongside other options."


Do you see that?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. DUNCANSON:  In your view, panel, is the proposal that you are putting forward consistent with that statement?  That the government not pick a fuel and that natural gas should be considered fairly alongside other options?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think that's what I trust the Board to do:  look at gas fairly versus the other options.  And my other observation is that it seems that the province didn't agree with Mr. Jarvis.

[Laughter]

MR. DUNCANSON:  Okay.  I think I will leave it at that.

Thank you very much witnesses, and thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Duncanson.

We will take our afternoon break to 3:30, and we will talk about the scheduling for the rest of the day when we return.  But I would ask people to take a look -- I'm sure you have already done this as we're going through cross-examination -- at reducing any cross that maybe needs to be -- is redundant now that it has been answered and asked.  If we don't have any reductions, we're going to be in a bit of a pickle at the end of Wednesday next week.  So please make your best effort to reduce whatever cross you feel is no longer necessary.  Thank you.
--- Recess at 3:20 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:36 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please have a seat.

Okay.  Just before we get started, I understand, Mr. Shepherd, there's been agreement you will be going next.  So just before we do that, I just want to check  availability, Mr. Cass, of this panel over the next couple of days.

We've got some time constraints or some availability
constraints that we're facing.  And if we were to go to five today, which I think the Panel intends to, it's not likely we will get through everyone today.  We have another hour and a half.  We will see how we do.

But in the event that we don't, given the availability
constraints that we have, on Friday we would like to go with London Economics and then CPA and then have this panel return on Monday morning, if they're available.

MR. CASS:  Well, what I can say, Mr. Chair, is I recall that Enbridge's letter about availability had said the panel was available on any of the days set aside.  As far as I know, that hasn't changed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Perfect.  Okay.  Thank you very much.  So with that understanding, we will see what we can do and
accomplish today, but with the idea that we will start tomorrow morning with London Economics and CPA, irrespective.

Okay.  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I have a compendium, which I think copies have been provided to Enbridge and to the Board.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, you put them on the dais.  That’s Exhibit K1.6.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Millar, did we give an exhibit number to Mr. Duncanson's aid to cross?

MR. MILLAR:  No.  You're quite correct.  We did not.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Can we do that?

MR. MILLAR:  That single document, the title of which I forget and don't have in front of me, will be -- we will call that 1.6, just to keep everything in order, and then Mr. Shepherd's compendium will be K1.7.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  Duncanson's aid to cross-examination

EXHIBIT no. K1.7:  Shepherd’s compendium


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. DUNCANSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Before I get to my -- I think you all know me.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, I seem to recall you.

[Laughter]

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to ask a couple of questions about the things you've talked about so far before I get into my prepared cross.

The first is that I want to understand this special expansion surcharge.  Is that what it's called, SES?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Basically -- tell me whether this is correct.  Basically, that's sort of paying the contribution in aid of construction over time.  Is that right?  Or a part of it?


MR. MCGILL:  No.  That's not the way I would characterize it.

As our proposal evolved and it became evident that what we had worked on with Union wasn't really going to get us very far in terms of expanding into these communities, the first step back was to go and take more of an incremental approach and say, "Okay.  Well, what if we looked at this as almost like a different company coming in to serve these communities and how that would look?"

And, basically, you could take the cost of service of the utility model and apply that to, say, a start-up kind of situation, and you'd say, "Okay.  So to capture these customers, it would require a certain revenue requirement.  That revenue requirement would be supported by a set of rates, and that would recover the cost of operating that entity and the capital investment associated with it."

So we started with that, and we said, "Okay.  Well, rather than do that, let's group them into a single portfolio, and rather than have a separate rate structure for that portfolio of communities or customers, simply have them pay an extra contribution by way of a rider to our existing rates."

So by doing it that way, it's much simpler and easier from an administrative standpoint than trying to operate under a separate rate structure for a segment of customers that way.  So it was basically that line of thinking that led to, I guess, the evolution of the proposal that we have before the Board today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The SES is 23 cents per cubic metre?

MR. MCGILL:  That's what we're proposing, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For 40 years?

MR. MCGILL:  Up to 40 years, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And these customers, the residential customers, you are assuming that they're going to use an average of 2,200 cubic metres a year?

MR. MCGILL:  2,400.

MR. SHEPHERD:  2,400?  Oh.  So each of these additional residential customers, you're going to ask them to pay an additional $552 a year.

MR. MCGILL:  $552, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And if they pay that over 40 years, they will each pay about $22,000.

MR. MCGILL:  Sounds about right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Am I right that the contribution in aid of construction -- this is not in my materials, but it's in that table you were looking at.  The contribution in aid of construction, the easiest way to look at it is to take the number of customers and multiply it by 3,800.  That's going to be the part that you don't need a contribution, and if the capital cost is more than that, that is roughly the amount of the contribution; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, in Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon, where you have $112 million cost, right, and you've got $21 million from the customers -- $21 million for the customers at $3,800 apiece, you basically need $91 million more in contribution to get to 1.0.

MR. MCGILL:  To get to 1, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Will you accept, subject to check, that those customers in Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon would have to give you $16,600 each in order to get up to 1.0?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  Subject to check, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then we looked at, well, what if they just borrowed that $16,600 and paid it back over 40 years?  Because that's basically what you're doing with the special expansion charge; right?

So what would their payments be?  The payments would be $840 a year.  So isn't it right that what you're saying is, well, the way we're proposing it, you guys in Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon, you're going to have to pay 550 instead of 840 for 40 years, a $290 difference.  Am I in the ballpark?

MR. MCGILL:  That could be one way of looking at it.  But the way we landed on the 23 cents per cubic metre surcharge -- and we probably described that in the evidence somewhere -- was to come up with an amount that would still enable customers to achieve a reasonable payback period on the conversion of their equipment.

So the thinking was that, if we went much beyond the 23 cents per cubic metre, we would impair our ability to attract customers, and then that would undermine the feasibility of the project.  So, again, it's trying to strike a reasonable balance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so here's what I don't understand.  So those customers in Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon, you're going to ask them to pay 23 cents a cubic metre, $550 a year.  You're also going to ask the existing customers to pay approximately the same amount in total; right?


MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that works out to me to be
about $1,100 a customer for the new ones.  And you're also going to ask the municipality to kick in another, what, $10, $12 million --

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- for tax breaks; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that sounds like it's a lot more expensive than just asking to pay a contribution in aid of construction.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, it might sound that way.  But when we've done the analysis in terms of the impact on existing ratepayers, treating the system expansion surcharge revenue as revenue results in a lower impact on existing ratepayers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you said that, I thought that can't be right.  And so I tried to figure out why that would be true, and that's why I did this calculation of the loan that Mr. Janigan was talking about.  And the answer is, isn't it, that what you're basically doing is you're basically lending that $16,600 to the customers at the weighted average cost of capital.  Isn't that the only difference between the two?

MR. MCGILL:  Without going back and going through the details of the analysis, I wouldn't want to speculate either way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So what I'm going to ask you to do, you've said that it's better for the ratepayers to have this system expansion charge treated as revenues rather than as sort of a contribution in aid of construction paid over time.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm going to ask you to show us the calculations that demonstrate that.

MR. MCGILL:  We can do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Good.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  TO SHOW THE CALCULATIONS THAT DEMONSTRATE IT IS BETTER FOR THE RATEPAYERS TO HAVE THIS SYSTEM EXPANSION CHARGE TREATED AS REVENUES RATHER THAN AS A, SORT OF A CONTRIBUTION IN AID OF CONSTRUCTION PAID OVER TIME.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the second sort of preliminary thing that I want to ask about is you said, in response to Mr. Janigan, I think, that when you add new customers that have a PI of more than 1, those new customers are subsidizing existing customers.  That is what you said; right?


MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's only true if you're calculating it on a marginal cost basis; right?  That's assuming that they don't have any responsibility to pay for any of the existing capital assets; right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MCGILL:  Excuse me, Mr. Shepherd.  Could you repeat that, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  The only reason why new customers would be subsidizing existing customers is that you calculate it on a marginal cost basis and you assume that the new customers have no cost responsibility for the existing system; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Give us a moment.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MCGILL:  I don't think that's really correct, in that when we are looking at our investment portfolio and doing the investment portfolio PI calculation, that calculation includes all capital that is being spent in a year.  So that would be customer addition capital.  That would be reinforcement capital.  That would be replacement capital, IT capital, everything.

So I don't think it's fair to characterize that PI cap calculation as an incremental calculation or --

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's only the current year's capital.

MR. MCGILL:  It's the current year's capital, but all
Capital, not just the capital associated with customer additions in that year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't include any of the existing rate base.  When you do the calculation, you don't include any of the existing rate base; right?  You assume that the new customers get that for free?

MR. AHMAD:  No.  For investment portfolio, I think that it captures only capital related to new customer growth.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me move on.


And I want to ask a couple -- I'm actually going to use my compendium.  So starting with the first page of my compendium, page 2, it says -- this is what happens when your office manager goes on vacation.  Quality control goes right down.

And you discuss this a little bit with Schools.  The community expansion portfolio, does that include small main extensions?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, based on the definition, I think there is either one or two of the projects listed in the 39 that would fit the definition of a small main extension.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so it's only the ones that are on the list?

MR. MCGILL:  For the purposes of the analysis that illustrates the proposal, it's the communities on the list.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, here's what I'm trying to understand:  A small main extension could be an extension in Brampton to a new subdivision; right?  That would be -- that would meet the definition; right?

MR. MCGILL:  It would meet the definition we have, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yet the PI on that would be well above 1; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Possibly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So are they included in the portfolio or not?

MR. MCGILL:  That's not the intent, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, similarly, new customers on main, are they included in small main extensions?

MR. MCGILL:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're not at all?

MR. MCGILL:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So where do we see that new subdivisions are not included?

MR. MCGILL:  That may be something we have to clarify in the definition.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  That allows us to skip the next page and go directly to page 6 of your evidence.  And you have talked about this with Mr. Millar.  This is the calculation under EBO 188.

If I understand correctly, it basically -- this concept of PI normal, right, PI normal is the revenue you get from the customer at postage-stamp rates; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Hmm-hmm, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's only distribution revenue, obviously.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And any contribution in aid of

construction, that's on the revenue side, or that buys down the capital cost?

MR. MCGILL:  That takes down the capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And the SES would not be included, right, in a PI normal calculation?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MCGILL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It would be included in the PI that you're proposing in this case.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is simply an adjustment to the revenue line; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the costs are not just the
capital costs; right?  The capital costs plus the operating costs for the entire period; right?

MR. MCGILL:  The operating costs are taken into account in the numerator of the calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As a net revenue, in effect.

MR. MCGILL:  That's right.  So the numerator of the PI
calculation is the forecast net revenues of the project discounted over a 40-year period to calculate a net present value.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, in fact, in the early years, your revenues can be negative; right?  They often are?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is because, as you are attaching customers, you're not -- you still have operating costs, and you are not covering them yet.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, there's -- I think I explained this
Earlier.  There is a crossover point typically where the incremental cost of that one additional customer begins to exceed the incremental cost of adding them or the incremental revenue exceeds the incremental cost --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MCGILL:  -- from the standpoint of revenue requirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, taxes are accounted for in a couple of ways; right?  In the case of income tax, you actually count a tax shield as part of the calculation; right?

MR. MCGILL:  In the numerator of the calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is a savings, a net savings.  In fact, on one of the projects, I think it's all of the projects.  It's a total of $50 million net present value; is that about right?  I think that's what I saw.

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's because you get to deduct the cost -- the CCA is greater than the depreciation.

MR. MCGILL:  The depreciation, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your net tax is actually negative on that.

MR. MCGILL:  For a period of time.

MR. AHMAD:  For some time, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  That is only a timing difference, so I'm not actually saving.  It's a timing difference.

MR. MCGILL:  But it's reflected in the net present value calculation of the revenues.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But it's also true that, at the beginning, when you are saving money on taxes, every one of those dollars is eventually going to be paid back by the customers later; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're not going to have to pay interest on it, but they're going to get it back -- they're going to have to pay it back?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, with municipal taxes, how have you done your calculation?  Because you're proposing an ITE.  Where have you put municipal taxes in your PI calculations?

MR. AHMAD:  In our PI calculation, municipal taxes have basically offset the revenue.  So this is an operating cost --


  MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you calculate PI normal, you include municipal taxes as a cost, and it reduces your net revenue.

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you calculate your proposed PI, you have zero for municipal taxes for the first ten years?

MR. AHMAD:  For ten years, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's because you're assuming that you paid the municipal taxes but get it right back, and so the net is zero, and it's all in the revenue line anyway; is that right?

MR. AHMAD:  That is right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you have this concept of a crossover.  And do we have somewhere in the evidence the crossover for the year for each of these projects?

MR. MCGILL:  No, not individually.  But we do demonstrate that in the ratepayer impact table, which I think is table 8 --

MR. AHMAD:  Table 9.

MR. MCGILL:  Table 9, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is as a portfolio; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, in aggregate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you calculate the -- you said
something like the crossover is in year 9?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  That's when the incremental revenue
requirement begins to be exceeded by the incremental revenues flowing from that portfolio of projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm trying to figure out how you get to a PI of an average of about -- I don't know -- 0.4 if your crossover is in year 9 of 40.  Help me out.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, the crossover is where the incremental revenues begins to exceed the incremental revenue requirement.  It's not when the total revenue crosses over the total cost.  It's when the projects begin to contribute towards profitability rather than detract from it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but assuming that the capital cost is treated as revenue requirement each year, or assuming that the capital cost was already spent?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  The capital is spent, and the depreciation, return, and tax on that capital forms part of the revenue requirement.

So you see, as you build the asset up, the way we've
modelled it, we built the asset up over nine years.  What's been put into rate base in the first year starts to depreciate down --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MCGILL:  -- but we're still adding assets.  But you hit the ninth year when everything is built.  Then you're starting to depreciate the entire capital value of the portfolio downwards, and its revenue requirement starts to decline.  You are still adding customers up to the tenth year, so your revenues are increasing, and you get to the point where the incremental revenue of the portfolio begins to exceed the incremental revenue requirement.

Now, because on a portfolio basis you're not -- you're not hitting a PI of 1.0, what that means is that, even though the differential reverses in year 9, it's still not paying back enough to achieve a PI of 0.1 by the end of the 40th year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, what you're saying is the loss -- the loss -- the unprofitability in the first nine years is so great that, even by year 40, you haven't paid it all back yet?

MR. MCGILL:  You haven't paid back all of the capital, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  In fact, in these projects where you have PIs of -- natural PIs or normal PIs of 0.2, 0.1, you don't actually pay back all of the loss ever, do you?

MR. MCGILL:  Possibly not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These are real subsidies that the existing customers, to the extent the existing customers have to contribute, they're never getting this money back; right?

MR. MCGILL:  They're subsidies that are calculated based on the estimates at the time the projects go forward, presumably.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Sorry.  That was less than 100 percent responsive.  They're never getting their money back; right?

MR. MCGILL:  We don't know that.  We don't know.  Like, you know, everything's based on a forecast.  It's based on a forecast of customer growth.

If something changes so that there's more growth in that area than was expected 10, 20 years, 30 years prior, you might find, at the end of the 40 years, the project has exceeded a PI of 1.0.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me rephrase my question.  You're forecasting they're never going to get their money back?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So that allows me to skip a
couple of pages, and I want to talk a little bit about carbon.  First I have to find it.  Okay.  Here we are.

So, in your evidence -- this is at page 10 of our materials -- you talk about your company's response to cap and trade and how that interaction with community expansion and what your position is on it.  Do you see that?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in your -- in Enbridge's viewpoint, what is included in the carbon emissions for your business?  I want to sort of nail it down a little bit.  Obviously you're burning gas, and so that is emitting carbon; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, our customers are burning gas and that would presumably result in carbon being emitted, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, under the cap-and-trade system that's being proposed, it will be Enbridge's responsibility to buy those emission credits; right?

MR. MCGILL:  My current understanding as to how the system will probably work is that, yes, the company will go out and buy the allowances in respect of the gas combusted by our customers and then recover the cost of those allowances through the bill somehow.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, some of the gas that your customers burn is not actually combusted; right?  It's fugitive; right?  Is that correct?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I just want to understand where you are trying to draw the boundaries here.  So are we talking about gas that can be lost from our system?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no.  I'm getting to that.

MR. MCGILL:  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the home, they don't combust all the gas; right?  They combust 96, 98 percent, something like that.  There is a little bit that isn't, and that's fugitive.

MR. MCGILL:  I think they do combust all the gas.  It's just a question of how efficient that combustion is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me move on, then, to your system.  So you have leakage in your system; right?

MR. MCGILL:  There is -- how do I put this properly?  There's slightly more gas measured entering the system than
leaving the system, and the difference is what is referred to as unbilled and unaccounted for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that amount -- that isn't actually carbon emissions; right?  That is methane emissions?

MR. MCGILL:  That would be methane, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're about 20 times as bad as carbon, roughly?

MR. MCGILL:  That's my understanding, but they don't have as long an effective life in the atmosphere.  So it's a topic of some debate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we will die faster.  Is that the
conclusion?

MR. MCGILL:  Depending on what you believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That was rude.

And then upstream -- you have to buy credits for the
distribution leakage, right, unaccounted for?

MR. MCGILL:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Upstream from you in storage and in
Transportation, there's also leakage; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  I believe there is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it depends on where it's coming from and how long it is stored and delivered, all sort of conditions that affect how much is leaked; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  And there is a number of different
analyses and papers that have been written on that, and there's a range of potential numbers with respect to what escapes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And under the current proposals for cap and trade, you don't have to buy credits for that; right?

MR. MCGILL:  My understanding is, no, we don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, similarly, also upstream from you is exploration and extraction losses, right, also methane?  True?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have to buy credits for that
either?

MR. MCGILL:  That's my understanding, that we would not be buying credits for -- allowances for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, when you look at the carbon impact of your system, you're only looking at the combustion component and the distribution leakage component.  You are not looking at anything upstream from you?

MR. MCGILL:  That's what we believe we'll be responsible for purchasing allowances for under the province's proposed cap-and-trade program.

In terms of upstream of our system, those facilities are located in different jurisdictions, and I don't know what exactly is going to happen in terms of carbon associated with the operation of those facilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, when you are calculating your PI, you don't include any amount for carbon; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, we had done some analysis that's part of the evidence, where we have included estimated costs of carbon allowances in the calculations for the stage 1 and 2 benefits and also in the relative fuel cost differentials.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I understand in the fuel cost
differentials.  But in the PI, you're, in fact, assuming it's going to be a flow-through to your customers; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so whether it's $17 a tonne or $80 a tonne, your customers are going to pay it, and it will make a difference to the fuel cost comparisons; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it won't make a difference in terms of your PI.  PI should be the same?

MR. MCGILL:  The PI would be the same, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  But it will influence market penetration?  It could?

MR. MCGILL:  It could, yes.  Anything that has an impact on burner tip fuel prices would have the potential to impact on market penetration, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if you look at page 15 of our materials, you will see Environmental Defence number 5.  And you talk about a report you got from ICF Consulting.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that in the evidence somewhere, that report?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell me where?

MR. MCGILL:  I believe you should be able to find it at S3.EGDI.OGA.3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that the presentation, or is that the report?

MR. MCGILL:  Sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought that was a PowerPoint.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, it looks like the document is a PowerPoint document.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But there's actually a report that they did for you; right?

MR. MCGILL:  I would have to go back and check that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask you to undertake to find the report, if there is one?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.8. 


UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO FIND THE REPORT from ICF Consulting, IF THERE IS ONE.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm right, am I not, that their forecast, the forecast they did for you, based on their understanding of the western climate initiative, I think it's called, is that they did a low case, a high case, and a forecast case, and the range of carbon price in 2030 was $47, at the low case, to $138, on the high side.  Is that right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MCGILL:  Well, well, let's take that subject to check, then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So have you modelled customer penetration rates depending on carbon price over that range?

MR. MCGILL:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a strategy, though, to deal with the impact of cap and trade on natural gas distribution; right?  The forecast from ICF is that you're going to need to reduce your natural gas distributed by 40 percent by 2030; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Just hold on for a moment.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MACPHERSON:  I'm just going to take a crack at responding to that one comment.  We have done some modelling of the price advantage of natural gas under some different scenarios of cap and trade, not that exact number, $138.  We modelled it up to $200.

The price advantage of natural gas stays pretty wide, even well past that number.  So we would expect that the adoption would continue.

So we don't have studies reflecting the behavioural response of the market, but we can tell you that the response of the market typically is to the lowest price, and that would be sustained even through very high scenarios.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yeah, I wasn't really asking about your price advantage.  I was asking more about how are you going to get your throughput down by 40 percent.

MR. MACPHERSON:  The first question you commented on was the conversion rate.  That's what I am responding to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.

So your strategy to lose 40 percent of your throughput is renewable natural gas and DSM, basically?

MR. MCGILL:  Those are two elements of it, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I missing something?  I thought those are the two biggies.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think conversion and renewable natural gas, those are the two main components.  There's other things that we will be considering as well, things like district energy, combined heat, and power, a number of things, to some extent, perhaps some geothermal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So one of the big components is DSM; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you will agree that, in your current forecast, DSM is not going to get more than in the order of 5 to 8 percent out of that 40; is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  That sounds about right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So that's not really going to get you across that go line.

And I took a look at, if you look at page 18 of our material, a response to my friend Mr. Rubenstein's interrogatory.  These are your forecast average uses; right?


MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Up to 2030.  Now, these include your new DSM programs?  Like, these were done last spring at the time when you already had an idea of what you wanted to do on DSM; right?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, they do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I look at this, and I see that residential goes down about 14 percent and maybe 20 percent for apartments and so on.  So those average uses don't get you across the go line, do they?

MR. MCGILL:  Not by themselves, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, it's worse than that, isn't it, because these are average uses per customer?  What is your customer growth in that time?

MR. MCGILL:  If it continues on as is, somewhere around 35,000 customers per year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I wonder if you can undertake to provide the number of customers in each of these categories, the four categories that are here in SEC 10, for 2030, what your current forecast is.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, we can -- we will undertake to see if we have that forecast.  And, if we have it, we will provide it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Provide --


MR. MILLAR:  J1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  TO SEE IF THEY HAVE THE FORECAST AND, IF SO, TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS IN EACH OF THESE CATEGORIES, THE FOUR CATEGORIES THAT ARE HERE IN SEC 10, FOR 2030, THE CURRENT FORECAST.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Presumably, if you forecast average use, you have also forecast number of customers.  I don't know how you can do it otherwise.

MR. MCGILL:  I didn't do the forecast, so I want to check first.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So is it fair to say that, if you combine the growth in number of customers with the forecast decline in average use, the net is not going to be much of a reduction in your throughput, is it?

MR. MCGILL:  Just based on those things alone, perhaps not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.


Let me move to --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd, can I take an opportunity just to ask Mr. McGill to confirm the record here, just because the term will get confusing later on when we read it if it get parsed out?

Mr. Shepherd asked if there was a -- he mentioned two main elements that may be part of your strategy for reduction:  renewable -- going to renewable natural gas and DSM.  A couple of lines later you said, "Well, I think conversion and renewable natural gas."  Did you mean conservation?

MR. MCGILL:  Conservation, yes.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to move to my final area, which is the concept of subsidies.  And if you go back to page 4 of our materials -- this is page 6 of your pre-filed evidence -- you say that you're asking for an exemption from EBO 188 for these projects, right, these 39 projects?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  We want to exempt these projects from being included in the EBO 188 rolling portfolio, PI calculation and investment portfolio, PI calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and you also want the 0.8 requirement not to apply to them either; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 0.8, the 1 --

MR. MCGILL:  What we're asking for is this community
expansion portfolio to be recognized as being exempt from
portions of EBO 188.  So we're asking for it to be exempted from the project PI requirement of a minimum of 0.8, and we're also asking for the projects included in this portfolio to be excluded from the calculation of the PIs for both the rolling portfolio and the investment portfolio.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So fundamental to EBO 188, which I wasn't here for, surprisingly, but which I read
carefully, fundamental to it is, the Board said very clearly, existing ratepayers should not subsidize new ratepayers.
Isn't that the basic principle in there?  And that is the whole point of the rolling PI of 1; right?

MR. MCGILL:  That is one of the principles, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you're asking in this proceeding is for the Board to throw that out, to repeal that?

MR. MCGILL:  To move off that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, you're not offering a new
principle.  You're just saying that principle shouldn't apply anymore?

MR. MCGILL:  What we're saying is that, in order to achieve the province's objective of extending gas into these communities, it will be necessary to be exempted from some of the EBO 188 requirements, in our view.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So there's a little part of that that I don't understand.  The government has already said, "Well, this is worth $200 million to us, to expand into these new communities."  But what you're saying to the Board is, "We want you to throw some more money at that in addition to the $200 million."  Is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  What we have tried to do is develop a framework that will work with or without the government's proposed $200 million loan and $30 million grant program.

If and when those monies become available, then they could be introduced to this program in order to either, one, bring down the costs of adding the communities that have been identified or potentially expanding the portfolio to include more communities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the government were to announce
Tomorrow, "You know what?  We changed our mind in the cap-and-trade scenario.  In the low-carbon future, we don't think we should be spending $200 million to subsidize natural gas," you think the Board should subsidize it anyway?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, if -- like I said earlier, you know, the reason we're here today is because the province has asked us to find a way to do this.  We've brought a portfolio forward -- or, pardon me, a proposal forward that we believe will help to achieve that objective.

If the province decides that that's no longer its
objective, then I would think that the entire purpose for what we're doing here will largely go away, and we would go back to business as usual.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said somewhere in your evidence that, if customers convert from propane or oil to gas, they have cost savings; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why aren't they converting now, then?

MR. MCGILL:  They are, where gas is available.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So, then, they don't have cost savings unless they have a subsidy; right?  If they don't have to pay for the system expansion, then they have cost savings.  Otherwise, they don't; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, you take the situation of a non-customer on main.  The main is already built.  It's typically on the street in front of their house.  We apply the same feasibility calculation to them.  If the cost is low enough that no contribution is required, then typically the service would go in.  There is no contribution paid.  The customer begins to take service, pay their bills.

Now, when we do that feasibility calculation, we can include an allocation of overhead costs, which are all of the capital costs involved other than customer addition capital that we would be spending in that year.  So those costs, according to EBO 188, they're normalized, and then they're amortized over a 10- or 20-year period of time. So they are factored into the feasibility calculation for every customer addition.

So that's how those customers that are new to the system contribute towards that underlying capital cost of the system as a whole.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually, how they contribute is, if you go to Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon and say, "It's going to cost us $112 million to connect you.  You write us a cheque for $91 million, please, and we will do it," that's how they contribute; right?

MR. MCGILL:  That's how they would contribute under the current arrangement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would make it then fair to everybody; right?

MR. MCGILL:  It would mean that that project could go ahead without any support from existing ratepayers.  I don't know whether it's fair to everybody or not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but if they had to pay $91 million, they wouldn't choose gas, would they?  In fact, they would choose something else.  In fact, they've done that; that's exactly what's happening.


MR. MCGILL:  That's what we're here about today, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I could ask you to turn to BOMA 25, which is at page 21 of our materials, this says the average cost to connect the homes in your proposal is $25,625; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's just the cost of the pipe;

right?

MR. MCGILL:  No.  That's the all-in cost, including an
allocation of overheads for the transmission main and, in the case of the LNG communities, the LNG facilities, the gas distribution mains, the services and the meters.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's up to the customers --

MR. MCGILL:  Up to the wall of the house.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The wall, yes.  And then, after that, they still have to have more money they have to spend; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, typically, it's going to be $30,000 or more to have gas service?

MR. MCGILL:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, $25,600 plus a furnace plus a water heater.

MR. MCGILL:  Okay.  Yes.  If you are including -- yes, the capital cost of the distribution system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, of course, if they already had -- if right now they had resistance heat, duct work too; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Possibly.  There's different solutions that wouldn't require duct work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you went to these customers and said to them, "The bill is $30,000, and you can have gas all in," would any of them choose gas?

MR. MCGILL:  I don't know.  We haven't asked the question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have asked the question; right?  You go to these communities, and you talked to them and you say --

MR. MCGILL:  No one has ever gone to the City of Kawartha Lakes and said, "We can bring gas to Fenelon Falls and Bobcaygeon if you can pay a capital contribution of $91 million."

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you know they would say no; right?

You gave evidence earlier to say you have talked to these communities, and as soon as you bring up the capital contribution, they are less than happy, because they don't have the money; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Most of the time, the projects don't go ahead because of the size of the capital contribution; that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just two other quick questions:  The first is with respect to your analogy to the subsidy and DSM.   I was a little bit confused.  And you talked about this a bit earlier, but am I right that, except for low-income, which is a special case, the utilities are not allowed to spend DSM dollars unless the cost benefit ratio is at least 1; right?

MR. MCGILL:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so how is that similar to this?  You're specifically saying, "We want everything to be below a cost benefit"; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think the $2 a month or $24 dollar a year DSM customer contribution is being misunderstood.  What I tried to say earlier is we were using that as a benchmark to try and give us guidance as to what a reasonable amount would be.  We weren't trying to relate that to the benefits of the DSM program versus the benefits of community expansion.  We were looking at it from the standpoint of what would be a reasonable amount for the customer base to contribute towards these projects that wouldn't constitute an undue burden on them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you saying that the TRC concept should not apply to community expansion, that it's not appropriate?

MR. MCGILL:  I didn't say that, and I would have to go back and consider that before I gave an answer on it.  I have not given -- I haven't considered community expansion in that context.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Last, I want to talk just for 30 seconds about risk.  You talked to Mr. Millar about this earlier, and page 25 of our materials is a response you gave to Parkland in which you talk about what happens if the assets that you are proposing to build for $410 million become stranded.  And the answer is the existing ratepayers pay for them; right?

MR. MCGILL:  I want to see exactly what we said.  Yeah.  So what we did say was that, provided that the Board agreed that the company's costs had been prudently incurred, such costs would be recoverable from all of the company's customers, even if some of the customers may, from time to time, leave the system.  That's what happens today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there's a risk of stranded assets.  If you are expanding into these communities, there is a risk of stranded assets; right?

MR. MCGILL:  There is always a risk of stranded assets.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  There is also a risk that high carbon costs will result in lower levels of new attachments; right?  We have agreed on that.

MR. MCGILL:  No, we didn't agree to that.  What we said was that we had forecasted what the impact on fuel cost differentials would be as a result of carbon prices up to $300 a tonne.  And we -- it still indicates that we would have a substantial price advantage over competing fuels.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's competing fossil fuels, right, only competing fossil fuels?


MR. MCGILL:  Well, it's electricity as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have a price advantage over electricity if carbon is at $300?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's electricity -- electric resistance heating.

MR. MCGILL:  It's all electric resistance heat as far as I know.  The only difference is some people have baseboard heaters and some people have resistant heaters that are in the plenum of a forced air furnace, so...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, geothermal is electric heat; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, it does require electricity if it's an electric heat pump.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The energy input is electric; right?

MR. MCGILL:  There are gas-fired heat pumps as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is one; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Subject to check, I think there is more than one.  I know there is one operating in Tweed in the library there right now that is a Union project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You also -- the ratepayers also have the risk of cost overruns, all the normal risks associated with big capital projects.  They have to bear all the risks; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I guess.  I stand by what we said in the interrogatory response to this Parkland question is that, you know, the company is not proposing that it takes on any risk beyond the risks that it has today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the result is that the existing
ratepayers take on a cost, a subsidy, which they're not going to get paid back, and these risks, which you have not quantified; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Like I said, we're not prepared to take any more risk on than we are taking today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking the shareholder to take the risk.  I'm asking whether the ratepayers are taking these risks.  You haven't quantified those risks, but they are taking them; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, you know, the quid pro quo would be that the ratepayers would be taking the same risks as they are today.  We lose customers probably every day or every week.  So there's a churn there.  We had customers.  We lose customers.  Sometimes they come back.  Sometimes they don't.  Buildings are demolished.  Sometimes they're replaced.  Sometimes they're not.

Those are all part of the risk of operating this business, and there's been an allocation of those risks between the shareholder and the ratepayer, and that's been reflected in return and other elements of our rate schedules.  We're not proposing to change that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I apologize.  I went slightly beyond my time.  I will make it up later.  And that is the end of my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Shepherd.

Ms. Vince, were you going to be going next?  Sorry, we had --


MR. MONDROW:  I think, Mr. Chairman, Ms. Vince asked to follow Mr. Elson, and Mr. Elson didn't change his spot in the order, which means, between SEC and IGUA, there is NOACC.  I'm not sure if Mr. --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, I was just going to ask.  Mr. Melchiorre, will you be prepared to go next?


Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  Although I could go if it's a problem.

MR. MELCHIORRE:  NOACC has no questions for this panel.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  There you go.  It's not a problem.

MR. MONDROW:  Microphone to me.


MR. QUESNELLE:  There you go.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  I often lament not having a brain like Mr. Shepherd's, and I only lament more having to follow him in cross-examination, especially at the end of the day.  But I will do my best.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Good afternoon, almost evening, gentlemen.  I had planned to start with you by parsing some of the materials -- oh, actually, before I get to that, let me go back to my notes.  I have a couple of quick follow-up questions.  Maybe that is the neatest way to do this.

So Mr. McGill, you started off the day by talking about how much municipal interest there has been over the years in getting gas and how you get petitions from consumers and councillors knocking at your door.

I'm assuming that, in the event that your proposal in this proceeding is approved and there is a precedent set for subsidies for community expansion, you are likely to get a renewed interest from communities even beyond those on your list of 39.  Is that a fair assumption?

MR. MCGILL:  I guess there is the potential for that.  Yes, there is the potential for that.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And you also said earlier today, Mr. McGill, in respect of the genesis -- I think this might have been in your direct in respect to the genesis of this proceeding -- that in 2014 -- late 2014, you and Union, I think, together presented a model to the Ministry of Energy.  Did I hear that right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, you did.

MR. MONDROW:  Did you have materials that you used to make that presentation?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, we did.

MR. MONDROW:  Are those on the record in this proceeding?  Do you know?

MR. MCGILL:  I don't believe we've put them on the record.  I'm not sure if Union has or not in EB-2015-0179 or not.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  I did ask Union about that, and I think there was a deck filed.  I'm not sure -- well, I'm not sure I asked them about that particular presentation.

Could I ask you, Mr. McGill, if you would undertake to provide a copy of those materials, unless you or I find that the Union materials on the other record are the same?  I, frankly, don't have them in front of me, and I don't want to take the time now to get them.

MR. MCGILL:  We can check --


MR. MONDROW:  If you wouldn't mind.


MR. MCGILL:  -- what is on the record in the Union proceeding and then go from there.

MR. MONDROW:  I would appreciate that rather than fumbling around.


MR. MILLAR:  J1.10.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE MATERIALS FROM THE PRESENTATION TO THE MINISTRY OF ENERGY.


MR. MONDROW:  And I just want to return briefly to the last point you were talking to Mr. Shepherd about.

And, Mr. McGill, I took you to be saying that the risk of asset stranding and the risk of building demolition has all been rolled up into the return of and on equity, an allocation of risk model that this Board has been operating under, and indeed your distribution company has been operating under for a number of years, and nothing has changed, and this proposal doesn't change any of that.  Isn't that what you said?

MR. MCGILL:  We're not proposing to change that, no.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  Except you are proposing to proceed with what were heretofore uneconomic expansions.  Does that not alter the risk profile?

MR. MCGILL:  The uneconomic expansions as defined within EBO 188, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Which is part of the framework that has -- in which the risk has settled, but you're proposing to change a piece of that framework; right?

MR. MCGILL:  EBO 188 has been part of, call it, the construct we have been operating under over the last, I guess, what, 18 years, I guess, so yes.

MR. MONDROW:  So -- and the point of EBO 188, as Mr. Shepherd reiterated to you and you agreed with, I think, was that the basic principle is no subsidy from existing customers to new customers.  And you're proposing in respect of these customers to change that.

MR. MCGILL:  With respect to these projects, we are
proposing that a subsidy would come from existing customers.  I think the way I answered that question about EBO 188, from my reading of it, I don't know that that was the specific intent.  I think that is the effect of the application of EBO 188.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But the effect of the proposal to have existing customers subsidize new customers is existing customers assume incremental risk relative to the status quo.  Is that not fair?

MR. MCGILL:  All the customers would assume some degree of risk, as they do today.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, no.  Today existing customers don't assume risk in respect of uneconomic expansions.  Your proposal is that they should assume that risk.  Isn't that true?


MR. MCGILL:  Well, customers assume the risk associated with all of the expansion of the business.  So we could have -- add a customer today that is 100 percent feasible based on the current feasibility guidelines that leaves the system four or five years from now, and that risk would be borne by all customers.  So I don't particularly see that there is a significant change in the level of risk or how it is allocated.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So maybe we will come back to that.  Let me move back to my prepared remarks, as it were.

And I was going to start by taking you through the written parameters for the policy that you were responding to.  But you had quite a good discussion with Mr. Millar, so I can do this fairly quickly.

You were taken earlier to the speech by Mr. Jarvis which talked about economic expansion, and, I think, Mr. McGill, your response to those questions essentially is economics are no longer the driving force.  They have been replaced by something else now.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think the economics of expansion is still 100 percent relevant.

The point I was trying to make is that we have asked  -- been asked to try and find a way to extend the system beyond those economic constraints we've been operating under for some time.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So let's just look right at the front end of your evidence.  At page 1, paragraph 2, you cite the provincial objective of expanding natural gas service to currently unserved communities.  And I understood you to tell Mr. Millar this morning that you took that from the Minister's correspondence to the OEB of February 17, 2015.  Is that where you took that from?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  Well, I don't know if I completely
plagiarized the wording from the letter --

MR. MONDROW:  No, you didn't, and I will get to that
actually.  So let me back up.


The provincial objective of expanding natural gas service to currently unserved communities, that is your understanding of the government's policy at this point, expanding natural gas service to currently unserved communities?  I think you said you took that from the Minister's correspondence.  But just to cut some time here, you also acknowledged there were limits to that mandate, that it wasn't all-encompassing.  And Mr. Millar took you to the Minister's letter, which said expending service to more communities and also refers to rational expansion.

You admitted that more communities, rather than all
Communities, and rational expansion were limiters on the
provincial policy.  Do you recall that discussion?  Have I captured that?

MR. MCGILL:  I just want to check something.

MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  While you're checking, I think the point Mr. Millar was making, and which you agreed with, is the government's imperative is not an absolute.  There were -- qualifiers were some expansion and rational expansion.  Maybe you can comment on that.

MR. MCGILL:  If you can give me a moment, please?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, of course.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MCGILL:  So the Minister's letter starts off basically with the statement:

"The government is committed to work with gas distributors and municipalities to pursue options to expand natural gas infrastructure to service more communities in rural and northern Ontario."
    MR. MONDROW:  What is the date of the letter you're looking at?

MR. MCGILL:  February 17, 2015.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  If you look at the last paragraph, addressing the chair of this Board, the Minister says:

"I am writing to you to encourage the Board to continue to move forward on a timely basis on its plans to examine opportunities to facilitate access to natural gas services to more communities and to reiterate the government's commitment to that objective."

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.
And the Minister goes on to write:
"I appreciate your continued support to ensure the rational expansion of the natural gas transmission and distribution system for all Ontarians."

MR. MCGILL:  Yes, that is what the letter says.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  So you agreed with Mr. Millar today that the government's policy is not limitless expansion.  That policy is limited by not -- by the concept of expanding to more communities rather than all communities and by the concept of rationality.  You agreed with that this morning.  I assume you still agree with that.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, what I agree with is that I don't think the government is saying that it's asking the Board to ensure irrational expansion.

And I think the term "rational" is something that probably everyone has a different interpretation of.  That's one of the things that I think the Board is trying to establish through this proceeding:  What is rational?

MR. MONDROW:  The term "rational" in respect of expansion is also used -- indeed the term "facilitate rational expansion" is also used in the OEB's objectives for natural gas in Section 2 of the OEB Act; correct?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And I assume that you're not suggesting that the Minister's letter in any way modifies the mandate reflected in that objective?

MR. MCGILL:  In the OEB Act?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. MCGILL:  I don't think -- by letter, I don't believe the Minister could change the OEB Act, and that's probably more of a legal point.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Then you talked about, again with Mr. Millar, the Board's letter of February 18, 2015, which invited applications, and really that is what you are responding to with the application -- with the information now filed in this proceeding.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And at the first paragraph of the
Board's February 18th letter, the Board states:

"The provincial government has set out a goal of ensuring that Ontario consumers and communities that currently do not have access to natural gas are able to share in affordable supplies of natural gas."

Do you take that statement by the Board to modify in any way the Minister's direction to the Board?  Because it could be read to go further than the Minister went, and I am asking whether you read it that way or you simply see in that statement a reflection of the Minister's direction?

MR. MCGILL:  I think it's a reflection of the Minister's direction.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Chairman, I did provide to the company yesterday by e-mail a copy of this very short news article from the Globe and Mail on April 28th, which I would like to hand up to the dais.  I have copies here for my friends who would like, and I will tell you in a minute why I would like to put that to the witnesses.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, unless there any objections, that will be Exhibit K1.8, which is an article from the Globe & Mail, dated April 28, 2016.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  Globe & Mail article dated April 28, 2016


MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Chair, the reason I sent this article over to Enbridge's folks yesterday is because it reports on a speech given by Glenn Murray, the Environment Minister, recently about a climate change action plan that has yet to be unveiled.  But it does reflect some statements by the Minister that I would like to ask Mr. McGill about.

So, Mr. McGill, if you could look -- and those statements are highlighted.  So if we look at the second paragraph, admitting that this is a report of the Minister's speech rather than the text of the Minister's speech, the reporter says:

"In a wide-ranging speech to business leaders at the Empire Club in Toronto on Thursday, Mr. Murray offered a preview of the climate change action plan which he will unveil later this spring.  He said the plan will contain new programs to help homeowners and landlords do retrofits, switch buildings from natural gas to geothermal heat, make it easier to install solar panels..."


And then it talks about electric vehicles.

And then on the second page, as I printed it, in the fifth paragraph down, the reporter says that:

"Mr. Murray suggested the province can better meet its targets using subsidies.  He said he would soon announce programs to help finance both your new net zero car and your new zero heating and cooling home."

Mr. McGill, have you had any discussions with the Ministry of Energy about -- sorry, the Ministry of Environment about this aspect of their apparently proposed climate change action plan to switch away from natural gas?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, the company has had a dialogue with
representatives of the Ministry of Environment and climate change with respect to the implementation of the cap-and-trade program and some of the longer implications of carbon pricing in the province.

We have made it clear that we want to help the province meet its objectives with respect to reduced emissions of greenhouse gasses and that we're prepared to work with the province in an effort in order to help them achieve those goals.  And we've suggested a number of things that could be done that would further those goals, but would also utilize the gas distribution system.

MR. MONDROW:  Do you think, Mr. McGill, that this reflection of government policy conflicts with the reflection of government policy that your proposal here responds to?  Do you see a conflict between the two?

MR. MCGILL:  I think -- as the carbon pricing regime in the province evolves, I think there is going to be a number of initiatives that are required in order to meet the objectives that have been stated.

We believe that natural gas has a place there.  The gas distribution has a place there.  And we're going to be working with the province in order to help them meet these goals and continue to utilize the gas distribution system.

We have talked a little bit earlier about integrating.  You know, it's my belief that there is not one single solution to reducing CO2 emissions as the government is setting out to do.  It's going to require a lot of different initiatives, and it's going to require -- if we're going to do this in any kind of economic way, we're going to have to make the best use of the assets that we have in place today.

MR. MONDROW:  So along those lines, if you convert homes from electricity to natural gas, the costs of the electricity system don't go away.  They just get paid by other electricity consumers; right?

MR. MCGILL:  No.  But the carbon emissions of the electricity system are reduced.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  That's fine.  Carbon emissions are reduced.  Carbon emissions of gas that wasn't burned before have --


MR. MCGILL:  No, because --


MR. MONDROW:  -- to be added back to the reduction.  Maybe there is a net reduction, but there is a calculus to be done.  I'm not actually talking to you about carbon.

To the extent that the customers that now use electricity that you want to switch to natural gas stop using as much electricity, other electricity customers are just going to pick up the costs that those customers avoid, aren't they?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MCGILL:  Yeah. I think we mentioned this in one of the interrogatory responses, but the province has undertaken a movement to decouple electricity rates from consumption and make them more demand oriented.

And I think that is one of the reasons they've done that is so that, as initiatives come into the market that reduce electricity demand, that those costs of operating the system will still be recoverable in the rates of the electricity distributors and transmission companies.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And so what that means, then, to me is the customers that currently use electricity that you want to put on gas will actually end up paying the same electricity bills as they did before they got gas, because it's all on the fixed charge; right?


MR. MCGILL:  I don't know if it would be the same bill.

MR. MONDROW:  If it's all in the fixed charge, how would it be less?


MR. MACPHERSON:  It's only the distribution portion of the -- of that rate that is going to be fixed and decoupled.  The variable electricity and energy portion, that would still remain.  So they would save on that, to the extent that that's reduced.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And if they save on that, some other electricity customers have to pay it.

MR. MACPHERSON:  No.  The power would not be produced.

MR. MONDROW:  Oh, the commodity portion, the electricity -- the electron portion?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But the global adjustment would be picked up by everybody else; right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Subject to check, I would say yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  It's true that the less gas the new customers use over time, the higher the subsidy from existing customers; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think we expect...


MR. QUESNELLE:  Gentlemen, the one button operates both microphones, so if one of you shuts off, you're shutting off the other microphone.

MR. MCGILL:  Thank you for that.

Ian, could you reiterate that, please?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, of course.  I'm suggesting that, after you attach these new customers, to the extent they decrease their consumption, the customers subsidizing the connection will likely pay more than they otherwise would.

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I don't think there is any reason to believe that.  If average use is going to decline through conservation measures, I think that would cut across all customers, whether they are in these new communities or on the existing system.  So I think that, to the extent that some fixed costs are being collected over a smaller volume, all customers would be impacted by that on an equal basis.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Right.  You said in an interrogatory response -- I think it was to OSEA number 2  -- that DSM programs would be available to these new customers once they have an account with Enbridge.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And existing customers would thus be contributing to DSM incentives that could be used by these new customers?

MR. MCGILL:  And the new customers would be contributing, then, to those DSM initiatives as well on an equivalent basis.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  I know it's complicated.

MR. MCGILL:  Unfortunately, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  I would like to go to page 33 of your evidence to look at Table 10.  You had some discussion this morning with, I think it was, Mr. Rubenstein for Schools on this Table 10.  I will try not to repeat that.

It seems to me, Mr. McGill, that this table illustrates what you referred to in paragraph 99 at the bottom of this page as the public-interest benefit.  And if you include carbon pricing, the public-interest benefit that you have been talking about today is equal to $228 million of savings.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  The net benefit.

MR. MONDROW:  The net benefit.  And that is line 4 on the table adjusted for carbon?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  So the costs here, the 122.7 million, are the net present value of the investment and expansion facilities net of the revenues to Enbridge, without any customer or municipal contributions, I think.  Is that right?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Those are revenues at existing rates?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  So the 122.7 million is, everything else being equal, a loss -- would represent a loss to Enbridge?

MR. AHMAD:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And then the benefits -- the next two lines are benefits to new customers from converting to natural gas, and these are net of their conversion costs.

MR. AHMAD:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And net of the revenues that they pay at existing rates.

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And that is the net gain to new
customers, $357 million?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  So if you net the loss to Enbridge, everything else being equal, and the gain, you end up with an excess of $228 million after carbon pricing.

MR. AHMAD:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And I'm trying to figure out why, then, the need for subsidies.  There is an excess $228 million.  Can you help me with that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. AHMAD:  Basically we need the subsidy for the stage 1 benefits because, as you see, there is approximately $123 million.  So we need a subsidy for that.

So the stage 2 benefits, that accrues to the new customers.  So those are the benefits for the new customers who convert to natural gas.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  But the new-customer benefits exceed Enbridge's otherwise loss by $228 million.  Why wouldn't the new customers pay Enbridge's loss and still have $228 million?

MR. AHMAD:  Because those are the benefits that they will realize over 40 years --

MR. MONDROW:  So it's a timing problem?

MR. AHMAD:  -- it's a timing, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And to address the timing problem, you have proposed a system expansion surcharge and an incremental tax equivalent --

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  -- payment and a subsidy from existing
customers?

MR. AHMAD:  Yes.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And the subsidies, you say, are justified because there's a very small impact on existing customers.  It doesn't really appreciably tilt the cost benefit.

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, that is correct.

MR. MCGILL:  What we believe is that -- what we're proposing in terms of subsidy from the existing customer base is that it's a reasonable amount and not imposing an undue burden on those customers.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And if it came out of Enbridge's ROE, would it be unreasonable == would it be an unreasonable amount and a very --

MR. MCGILL:  Well, we have dealt with a couple of questions about ROE, and the way it's -- and we have communicated it how it has been defined by the Board in the past, which is it's not considered to be a profit.  It's basically the -- recognized as the opportunity cost associated with the monies that the owners of the company have invested in it.  So we don't believe that it would be appropriate to accept a lower rate of return on these investments.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, Mr. McGill.  So the Board in the past has said it would not be appropriate to subsidize expansions by existing customers.  Your response is it is de minimis.  And I'm suggesting to you that taking that out of ROE would also be de minimus.  Do you disagree with that?

MR. MCGILL:  I don't know.  It would depend on the extent to which it was going to be reducing ROE.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, you have the numbers.  It's the extent of the subsidy that you are requesting from existing customers.  Why would it be okay to get that from existing customers, but unfair to take it from the shareholder?

MR. MCGILL:  Because, as I tried to indicate, if the shareholder doesn't invest the money in these assets, the shareholder will invest the money in other assets, and they will earn this return, or probably a greater return.  So like I said before, that's why the return is viewed as part of the cost of service, not as profit to a shareholder.

MR. MONDROW:  So without a subsidy, you won't proceed with these projects?

MR. MCGILL:  I would have to take that back to my senior management.  I can't say one way or another.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can we go to your response to SEC 14, please?

This is another one of the tables from your evidence, and the second-last column -- and you've talked about this already today -- illustrates the payback period for customers converting from various fuel types.  And that payback, as the title suggests, is after the addition of the system expansion surcharge, and the payback ranges from 1.4 to 4.5 years.  You have had a discussion about that.

And the third column adds or recalculates the payback
periods.  But if I understand the third column properly, it is without any subsidy from existing customers.  So -- sorry, the last column, not the third column.

The only difference between the second-last column in your evidence and the new column, which is shaded, is, in the new column, the payback periods are calculated assuming that there are no subsidies, and the new customers instead bear those costs that are otherwise subsidized.  Is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  I don't know that that's the right way to
characterize that response.  What the far right column does do is it indicates the expected payback periods if the SES was set at a level that would achieve a PI of 0.8 for the community expansion portfolio.

So, in order to do that, the surcharge would have to go from 23 cents a cubic metre up to 42 cents a cubic metre, and that if you look at what the surcharge would be with respect to individual projects, I think we calculated that somewhere as well.  But it would be on the range of --


MR. AHMAD:  It will be in the range of, like, 32 to more than $1.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry.  What was the last number?

MR. AHMAD:  So that if we apply the same concept to all individual projects, if we try to calculate the SES amount in order to achieve a profitability index of 0.8, so the SES rate could go up to more than $1.

MR. MONDROW:  For some individual projects.

MR. AHMAD:  For some individual projects.

MR. MONDROW:  This is an average.

MR. AHMAD:  This is an average, yes.

MR. MCGILL:  The other thing to bear in mind is that, with the community expansion portfolio at a PI of 0.8, there would still be some degree of subsidy from existing customers to make up the difference between 0.8 and 1.0.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, I thought the rule was that the 1.0 has to be met within your rolling portfolio.  So it's actually the group of new customers subsidizing each other,  isn't it?

MR. MCGILL:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  You didn't use the portfolio concept to answer this question.  You simply --

MR. MCGILL:  No, we did.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. MCGILL:  And -- but I guess the point I was trying to make is that the payback periods illustrated in this
interrogatory response are based on setting the level of SES such that the community expansion portfolio would achieve a PI of 0.8.  Okay?

So based on that, there would still be subsidy coming
from existing customers, based on the difference between hitting a PI of 0.8 and 1.0.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Mr. McGill.  The question was -- maybe you didn't answer that question; maybe I am misunderstanding it.  It says:

"Please add an additional column to the table that shows the payback period if SES was set at a rate to ensure that each community  expansion project met the PI of 0.8; i.e., there was no subsidy from existing customers."

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  That is what the question answered.

MR. MONDROW:  So without any existing customer subsidy, those are the payback periods.  Is that right?

MR. MCGILL:  Well, I think there is maybe a
cross-communication in the way the question is drafted, in that the question asks us -- what the table represents is what the question asked us to do at the beginning.  Then it goes on to say in brackets there was no subsidy from existing customers.

And I guess that is the part that I am -- I have a little bit of a problem with.

MR. MONDROW:  I see.  So how would those numbers change if you answered the second -- responded to the second question?

MR. MCGILL:  You would have to recalculate the SES to
achieve a PI of 1.0 for the community expansion
portfolio.

MR. MONDROW:  Could you do that?  Not on the spot, but could you do that by way of undertaking?

MR. MCGILL:  I just don't know how much effort is involved in that.

MR. AHMAD:  Yeah, we can do that the same way we created this table on an aggregate basis, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.11:  To undertake to recalculate the SES to achieve a PI of 1.0 for the community expansion portfolio
MR. MCGILL:  And these numbers -- and the numbers you will provide in response to the undertaking request assume that the ITE stays at ten years; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  If you increased the time frame for the ITE, you could reduce the SES and still achieve those same results; right?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  There's a number of inputs into the
overall calculation, and if we start to alter one, that will have an impact on the others.  And there is probably a large number of scenarios that could be put to the test that would drive out different SES values.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  These numbers also are calculated assuming -- and you had some discussion already today of your early contingency assumptions for these projects, that is, the early-stage contingencies which you expect will be reduced as you get closer to specifying actual projects.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  That's our expectation.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  If I can ask two or three more questions, Mr. Chair, and I believe you want to rise at five.  I may have a couple of more in the morning, not very long.  I will review them and advise, with the Board's leave, if that is the case.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't you ask the ones that you know you have to ask and then leave it at that, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, my understanding is it won't be in the morning.  It will be some other time.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I was going to get into that in a minute as to whether or not we want this panel on standby because we're not sure we're going to fill the morning with our other panels.
So I was going to ask, Mr. Cass, if that was a possibility they could be on standby towards the end?  But we will be starting at nine tomorrow and going to one.  If we finish up with the other panels at 11:30, I wouldn't want to mill the opportunity to have this panel sit again.

That is the point, Mr. Mondrow, you would be finishing up, or Monday morning.

MR. MONDROW:  My apologies.  I confused everybody.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, it's all right.

MR. MONDROW:  I can finish in a moment, Mr. Chair.


But while we're on the issue of payback periods, in IGUA number 7, gentlemen -- I will ask if that can be
turned up -- we asked you about the advisability of up-front financial incentives to help defray the costs of converting to natural gas.  You indicated that you didn't think those were necessary, given the significant energy cost saving provided by natural gas.

Would your answer hold even in respect of the longer
payback periods that we have just been talking about?

MR. MCGILL:  I just want to see the question.
I think it would depend on the extent to which the payback periods were extended, as to whether or not reducing the up-front rates to the people in the community expansion areas was going to make a difference or not.  So I think, if the payback periods were extended significantly, this might help in sending people to convert
earlier.  But I think it would have to be -- extend the payback periods to a larger extent than what we have seen demonstrated in any of our evidence that we have presented in this proceeding.

MR. MONDROW:  Including the response to the Schools interrogatory that I just talked to you about?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  You also indicated in your response to IGUA number 7 that conversion costs could be spread over time, given billing and payment options offered by HVAC and water heating contractors.  Those are currently the on-bill --

MR. MCGILL:  Well, with respect to Enbridge, there are -- that option is available, and it is utilized by a large number of HVAC service providers.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  I think in your evidence somewhere you also referenced an expectation that there will be incentives available to defray conversion costs.  Do you recall that evidence?

MR. MCGILL:  That, I do not recall.

MR. MONDROW:  Maybe we will just --

MR. MCGILL:  You will have to help me with that one.

MR. MONDROW:  Page 13, paragraph 41.  I thought that is what you said.

MR. MCGILL:  Just let me see what the reference is.  I just need to see what the reference is.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, of course.  Page 13, paragraph 41.  You were referring to the province's budget document.  And I think, in the first bullet, you stated an expectation of incentives to offset the cost of energy audits and retrofits, such as furnace and water heating system replacement.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Could that apply to these conversion -- customer conversion projects?

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  I assume some of it would.  Perhaps not all, because if -- you know, I think there's been some negotiating going on with respect to how the Green Energy Fund is to be applied, and I'm not certain as to how it would apply with respect to fuel-switching.  But certainly in terms of winter-proofing and weatherization, thermostats, things of that nature, once a customer converted to gas, they would be qualified for any of these programs.

MR. MONDROW:  What about for the conversion?  You're not sure about that step?

MR. MCGILL:  Again, the one thing I know about DSM is that DSM does not fund fuel-switching.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  But this isn't a DSM program.  This is the province's budget.

MR. MCGILL:  And what I'm not sure of, because the two
things are being administered, let's say, in parallel, I'm not sure whether the fuel-switching prohibition applies to the Green Energy Fund amounts or not.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  Okay.  Fair enough.  Uncertainty again.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I will break there, and I will certainly recalibrate for Monday morning and advise you in due course.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  If I do return, Mr. Chairman, it's not much longer, but I may have a few more questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  Understood.  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  And it may be at the end of the morning, depending on where we are.

MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  I will be here.  Thanks.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  With that, Mr. Cass, with the idea of having this panel later in the morning, they need not be here bright and early at nine o'clock, but if you could be ready to take the -- fill in any void that we have at the end of the day -- or at the end of the morning.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And, Mr. Keizer -- sorry, Mr. Elson, you have something?

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, just a quick request.  An undertaking was made that was J1.8 to provide an IFC report, and it would be great if possible if that could be provided either this evening or in the morning so that it could be reviewed, and we may want to ask questions on it, if possible.  It's just a report, and I imagine it can just be sent along, and we would appreciate all of the appendices as well.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Cass?

MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, just so I can clarify, I understood it to be an ICF report, not a IFC report.


MR. ELSON:  Correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  ICF.  Okay.  Mr. Cass?  Best efforts on that?

MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, sir?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is that possible to have that --

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I think the idea was they were going to check to see if the report exists or whether the report is actually the presentation that is in the evidence already, and if there is a report, it was going to be produced.

MR. MCGILL:  Yes.  We will go back and follow up as soon as we are finished here today.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.

Thank you, Mr. Elson.

Mr. Keizer, you have a witness coming in the morning, London Economics?

MR. KEIZER:  We do.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Nine o'clock.

MR. KEIZER:  Nine o'clock, we will be here.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Very good.  Okay.


With that we are adjourned for the day.  Thank you very much.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:10 p.m.
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